

TECHNISCHE UNIVERSITÄT MÜNCHEN

TUM School of Natural Sciences

Synthesis of Bidentate *N*-heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene Ligands and Complexation of Group 14 Elements

Ramona Baierl

Vollständiger Abdruck der von der TUM School of Natural Sciences der Technischen Universität München zur Erlangung des akademischen Grades einer

Doktorin der Naturwissenschaften (Dr. rer. nat.)

genehmigten Dissertation.

Vorsitz:

Priv.-Doz. Dr. Alexander Pöthig

Prüfer der Dissertation: 1. Prof. Dr. Shigeyoshi Inoue

2. Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Bernhard Rieger

Die Dissertation wurde am 13.01.2023 bei der Technischen Universität München eingereicht und durch die TUM School of Natural Sciences am 23.02.2023 angenommen.

Diese Arbeit wurde in der Zeit von November 2018 bis Juli 2022 im Rahmen der Professur für Siliciumchemie der Technischen Universität München unter Betreuung von Herrn Prof. Dr. Shigeyoshi Inoue durchgeführt.

Acknowledgements

Mein besonderer Dank gilt meinem Doktorvater *Prof. Dr. Shigeyoshi Inoue* für die herzliche Aufnahme in seinen Lehrstuhl und die Bereitstellung des Forschungsthemas. Nachdem ich im Masterstudium seine Vorlesung "Moderne Hauptgruppenchemie" gehört hatte, hat seine Begeisterung für diese Chemie auf mich übergeschlagen und konnte mit Freude meine Doktorarbeit in der Hauptgruppenchemie absolvieren. Vielen Dank für das spannende Thema, die durchwegs gute Betreuung und die zahlreichen Ideen.

Weiterhin gilt mein Dank dem gesamten *AK Inoue* für die stets gute Arbeitsatmosphäre, die Hilfsbereitschaft und die gute Zusammenarbeit. Besonders möchte ich mich bei meiner ersten Laborreihennachbarin *Dr. Franziska Hanusch* bedanken. Sie hat nicht nur sämtliche Einkristallmessungen und deren Auswertung für mich durchgeführt, sondern stand mir auch stets hilfsbereit zur Seite. Die vielen Tipps und Diskussionen haben die Einarbeitung in mein Promotionsthema deutlicher erleichtert, danke dafür! Vielen Dank auch für das Korrekturlesen meiner Doktorarbeit. Ein weiterer besonderer Dank gilt meinen Laborkollegen im Siliciuminstitut *Martin Doleschal, Teresa Eisner, Florian Tschernuth, Matthias Nobis, Jinyu Liu* und *Andreas Saurwein.* Durch die tolle Zusammenarbeit und die vielen angeregten chemischen und nicht-chemischen Diskussionen wurde die Laborarbeit sehr bereichert. Ich hätte mir keine besseren Laborkollegen wünschen können! Vielen Dank auch an *Melanie Lorenz* für die engagierte Organisation im Lehrstuhl, sowie *Dr. Arseni Kostenko* für die theoretischen Berechnungen, die er für meine beiden Veröffentlichungen durchgeführt hat.

Weiterhin möchte ich mich bei der WACKER Chemie AG für die gute Zusammenarbeit und die zahlreichen fachlichen Diskussionen im Rahmen des Projektes bedanken. Dieser Dank gilt vor allem *Dr. Thomas Renner, Dr. Richard Weidner, Dr. Wolfram Schindler, Dr. Elke Fritz-Langhals, Dr. Jan Tillmann, Dr. Niklas Wienkenhöver* und *Dr. Maximilian Moxter*, die maßgeblich zum Gelingen beigetragen haben.

Darüber hinaus gilt mein Dank meinen fleißigen und interessierten Bacheloranden, Forschungspraktikanten und Masteranden *Moritz Fink*, *Simone Hirmer*, *Rosalie Baus*, *Laura Koutas* und *Nadine Schmaus*, die maßgeblich zu meinen Forschungsergebnissen beigetragen haben.

Auch Prof. Dr. Dr. h.c. Bernhard Rieger möchte ich danken für das zur Verfügung stellen der Laborausstattung im Siliciuminstitut und Dr. Carsten Troll für die Unterstützung bei

technischen Laborproblemen. Danke an *Maximilian Muhr* für die vielen MS Messungen, sowie *Ulrike Ammari* und *Bircan Dilki* für die Messungen der Elementaranalysen.

Abschließend möchte ich mich herzlichst bei meiner Familie, meinen Freunden und meiner Freundin *Marina* für die emotionale Unterstützung im Studium und in der anschließenden Promotion bedanken. Ein besonderer Dank gilt dabei meinen Eltern *Peter* und *Bianca* die mir durch ihre finanzielle Unterstützung das Studium erst ermöglicht haben und stets hinter meinen Zielen standen.

"Agassiz does recommend authors to eat fish, because the phosphorus in it makes brains. But I cannot help you to a decision about the amount you need to eat. Perhaps a couple of whales would be enough."

Mark Twain

"A scientist in his laboratory is not a mere technician: He is also a child confronting natural phenomena that impress him as though they were fairy tales."

Marie Curie

Publication List and Conference Contributions

Publications included in this thesis:

- V. Nesterov, <u>R. Baierl</u>, F. Hanusch, A. Espinosa Ferao, and S. Inoue Journal of the American Chemical Society 2019, 141, 14576–14580 Title: "N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application" DOI: 10.1021/jacs.9b08741
- <u>R. Baierl</u>, A. Kostenko, F. Hanusch, and S. Inoue Dalton Transactions **2021**, 50, 14842–14848
 Title: "Application of ferrocene-bridged N-heterocyclic carbene stabilized bisphosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation"
 DOI: 10.1039/d1dt03016g
- <u>R. Baierl</u>, A. Kostenko, F. Hanusch, A. D. Beck, and S. Inoue *European Journal of Organic Chemistry* 2022, e202201072
 Title: "Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate *N*–Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes"
 DOI: 10.1002/ejoc.202201072

Publications beyond the scope of this thesis:

 S. V. Hirmer, F. S. Tschernuth, F. Hanusch, <u>R. Baierl</u>, M. Muhr, and S. Inoue *Mendeleev Communications* 2022, *32*, 16–18 Title: "Modification of bidentate bis(*N*-heterocyclic imine) ligands for low-valent main group complexes" DOI: 10.1016/j.mencom.2022.01.004

Conference Contributions:

• R. Baierl and S. Inoue

Poster: "Utilization of Imine and Phosphaalkene Derived Bidentate Ligands for the Isolation of Novel Tetryliumylidenes"

The 19th International Symposium on Silicon Chemistry (ISOS), Toulouse, France, July 2021

• R. Baierl and S. Inoue

Oral Presentation: "Synthesis and Coordination Chemistry of Bidentate N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidene Ligands towards Group 14 Metals" 51st Silicon Symposium, San Diego, USA, March 2022

Abstract

In contrast to the intensely studied *N*–heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs), the research on the related *N*–heterocyclic carbene–phosphinidenes (NHCPs) is still in its infancy. Owning to their σ –donor as well as π –acceptor properties and the availability of two free electron lone pairs at the phosphorus atom, NHCPs qualify as ligands to stabilize electron deficient compounds. Even though this compound class was discovered in 1997 by Arduengo, neutral phosphinidene (NHCP–R) and anionic phosphinidenide (NHCP[–]) ligands have only found scarce applications. In the literature various transition metal complexes (e.g., Cr, Mo, W, Ir, Rh, Hg, Zn, Fe, Cu), as well as a small number of main group complexes (e.g., B, Al, Sn, Ge) can be found. During the course of this project, the first bidentate NHCP ligand (bisNHCP) was published by Hadlington and Driess opening up new possibilities.

The first part of this thesis focuses on the synthesis of heavier nitrile analogues (RE=P with E = Ge, Sn). Making use of NHCs as excellent donor–ligands and a sterically demanding terphenyl ligand, we could isolate an NHC–stabilized tetrylene–phosphinidene. Spectroscopic data as well as theoretical calculations reveal a double bond character of the E=P bond accounting for a heavier nitrile analogue. The isolated germylene– and stannylene– phosphinidenes react with diphenylketene in a [2+2] cycloaddition reaction confirming the E=P double bond character. Additionally, activity of the stannylene–phosphinidene in catalytic hydroboration of carbonyls and reactivity towards tris(pentafluorophenyl)borane has been investigated.

The second part of this thesis concentrates on the synthesis of a bisNHCP ligand and its application in coordination chemistry. The ligand was synthesized from treating 1,1'– bis(dichlorophosphine)ferrocene with a NHC and subsequent dechlorination with sodium naphthalenide. A variety of bisNHCP–stabilized stannyliumylidene cations could be isolated from Sn(II) precursors (SnX₂ with X = Cl, Br, I, OTf) and were successfully characterized. Spectroscopic and theoretical data displayed a double bond character (NHC=P:) in the free ligands, while the double bond character is lost upon coordination (NHC–P \rightarrow). Reactivity studies investigated the Sn(II) transfer to a bidentate *N*–heterocyclic imine (bisNHI) ligand and the transmetallation from a Sn(II) complex to a bisNHCP–CuCI complex.

The last part of this thesis investigates the ability of the previous synthesized bisNHCP ligand to stabilize Si(IV) dications, expanding the NHCP chemistry towards silicon. Treatment of the bisNHCP with bistriflate silanes $R_2Si(OTf)_2$ (R = H, Ph) readily forms the dicationic complexes. Both complexes show expected high Lewis acidity, confirmed *via* Gutmann Beckett method,

and irreversible reduction potentials in the CV. Furthermore, both compounds are highly thermally stable up to 80 °C (for R = H) and 100 °C (for R = Ph) in CD₃CN solution. The $H_2Si(OTf)_2$ complex exhibits reactivity towards diphenylketene at elevated temperature with the CO of the diphenylketene inserting into the Si–P bond.

These investigations expand the chemistry and properties of NHCPs and open ways for further investigations, as the properties of the bisNHCP ligand has not yet been fully analyzed.

Zusammenfassung

Im Gegensatz zu den umfassend untersuchten *N*-heterocyclischen Carbenen (NHCs) steckt die Forschung zu den verwandten *N*-heterocyclischen Carben–Phosphinidenen (NHCPs) noch in den Kinderschuhen. Aufgrund ihrer σ–Donor– sowie π–Akzeptor Eigenschaften und der Verfügbarkeit von zwei freien Elektronenpaaren am Phosphoratom eignen sich NHCPs als Liganden zur Stabilisierung elektronenarmer Verbindungen. Obwohl diese Verbindungsklasse bereits 1997 von Arduengo entdeckt wurde, haben neutrale Phosphiniden– (NHCP–R) und anionische Phosphinidenid– (NHCP⁻) Liganden nur wenig Anwendungen gefunden. In der Literatur lassen sich verschiedene Übergangsmetallkomplexe (z. B. Cr, Mo, W, Ir, Rh, Hg, Zn, Fe, Cu), sowie wenige Hauptgruppenkomplexe (z. B. B, Al, Sn, Ge) finden. Im Laufe dieses Projekts wurde der erste zweizähnige NHCP–Ligand (bisNHCP) von Hadlington und Driess veröffentlicht, der neue Möglichkeiten eröffnet.

Der erste Teil dieser Arbeit konzentriert sich auf die Synthese von schwereren Nitril–Analoga (RE≡P mit E = Ge, Sn). Unter Verwendung von NHCs als exzellente Donor–Liganden und einem sterisch anspruchsvollen Terphenylliganden konnten wir ein NHC–stabilisiertes Tetrylen–Phosphiniden isolieren. Spektroskopische Daten sowie theoretische Berechnungen zeigen einen Doppelbindungscharakter der E=P Bindung, der ein schwereres Nitrilanalogon charakterisiert. Die isolierten Germylen– und Stannylen–Phosphinidene reagieren mit Diphenylketen in einer [2+2]–Cycloadditionsreaktion, was den E=P Doppelbindungscharakter bestätigt. Außerdem wurde die Aktivität des Stannylen–Phosphinidens bei der katalytischen Hydroborierung von Carbonylen und die Reaktivität gegenüber Tris(pentafluorphenyl)boran untersucht.

Der zweite Teil dieser Arbeit konzentriert sich auf die Synthese eines bisNHCP-Liganden und seine Anwendung in der Koordinationschemie. Der Ligand wurde durch Behandlung von 1,1'-Bis(dichlorphosphin)ferrocen mit einem NHC und anschließender Dechlorierung mit Natriumnaphthalenid synthetisiert. Eine Vielzahl von bisNHCP-stabilisierten Stannyliumylidenkationen konnte aus Sn(II)–Vorstufen (SnX₂ mit X = Cl, Br, I, OTf) isoliert und erfolgreich einen charakterisiert werden. Spektroskopische und theoretische Daten zeigten (NHC=P:) Doppelbindungscharakter den in freien Liganden, während der Doppelbindungscharakter bei der Koordination verloren geht (NHC–P→). Reaktivitätsstudien untersuchten den Sn(II)-Transfer auf einen zweizähnigen N-heterocyclischen Imin (bisNHI)-Liganden und die Transmetallierung von einem Sn(II)-Komplex zu einem bisNHCP-CuCI Komplex.

VIII

Der letzte Teil dieser Arbeit untersucht die Fähigkeit des zuvor synthetisierten bisNHCP– Liganden, Si(IV)–Dikationen zu stabilisieren, wodurch die NHCP–Chemie in Richtung Silizium erweitert wird. Die Behandlung des bisNHCP mit Bistriflat–Silanen R₂Si(OTf)₂ (R = H, Ph) bildet die entsprechenden Dikationen. Beide Komplexe zeigen eine erwartet hohe Lewis–Azidität, bestätigt durch die Gutmann–Beckett Methode, und irreversible Reduktionspotentiale im CV. Darüber hinaus sind beide Verbindungen in CD₃CN–Lösung bis 80 °C (für R = H) und 100 °C (für R = Ph) thermisch sehr stabil. Der H₂Si(OTf)₂–Komplex zeigt bei erhöhter Temperatur Reaktivität gegenüber Diphenylketen, wobei das CO des Diphenylketens in die Si–P–Bindung insertiert. Diese Untersuchungen erweitern die Chemie und Eigenschaften von NHCPs und öffnen Wege für weitere Untersuchungen, da die Eigenschaften des BisNHCP–Liganden noch nicht vollständig analysiert wurden.

List of Abbreviations

Ad	Adamantyl
Ar	Aryl
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
Bbt	2,6–Bis[bis(trimethylsilyl)methyl]–4–[tris(trimethylsilyl)methyl]–phenyl
BCF	Tris(pentafluorophenyl)borane
BisNHCP	Bidentate N-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidene
BisNHI	Bidentate N-heterocyclic imine
cAAC	Cyclic alkyl amino carbene
cat	Catalyst
Ch	Chalcogen
Ср	Cyclopentadienyl
Cp*	Pentamethylcyclopentadienyl
DBU	1,8-Diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec-7-ene
ΔE_{ST}	Singlet-triplet gap energy
DABCO	1,4-Diazabicyclo[2.2.2]octane
DBU	1,8-Diazabicyclo(5.4.0)undec-7-ene
DG	Directing group
Dipp	2,6–Di <i>iso</i> propylphenyl
DLA	D-lactide
DMAP	4-Dimethylaminopyridine
DNA	Deoxyribonucleic acid

Do	donor
E	Tetrel (Si, Ge, Sn)
EA	Elemental analysis
Eind	1,1,3,3,5,5,7,7-octaethyl-s-hydrindacen-4-yl
El	Electrophile
eq.	Equivalents
Et	Ethyl
Et ₂ O	Diethyl ether
FT–IR	Fourier-transform infrared spectroscopy
HDF	Hydrodefluorination
IMe ₄	1,3,4,5–Tetramethylimidazol–2–ylidene
IMes	1,3-Dimesitylimidazol-2-ylidene
<i>i</i> Pr	<i>iso</i> –propyl
l <i>t</i> Bu	1,3–Di– <i>tert</i> –butyllimidazol–2–ylidene
L	Neutral ligand
LG	Leaving group
LIFDI-MS	Liquid injection field desorption ionization mass spectrometry
LLA	L-lactide
М	Metal atom
Ме	Methyl
^{Me} IMes	1,3-Dimesityl-4,5-dimethylimidazol-2-ylidene
Mes	Mesityl (2,4,6-trimethylphenyl)

$NaBArF_4$	Sodium tetrakis[3,5-bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]borate
NHC	N-heterocyclic carbene
NHCP	N-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidene
NHI	N-heterocyclic imine
NMR	Nuclear magnetic resonance
PDLA	Poly(D–lactide)
Ph	Phenyl
PLLA	Poly(L-lactide)
ppm	Parts per million
ROP	Ring–opening polymerization
rt	Room temperature
SC-XRD	Single-crystal X-ray diffractometry
<i>t</i> Bu	<i>tert</i> –butyl
THF	Tetrahydrofuran
TMS	Trimethylsilane
UV–Vis	Ultraviolet-visible spectroscopy
WBI	Wiberg bond index
Х	Halogen substituent

Table of Contents

Acknowledgements I
Publication List and Conference ContributionsIV
AbstractVI
ZusammenfassungVIII
List of AbbreviationsX
1. Introduction1
2. N-Heterocyclic Carbene Phosphinidenes
3. Low-coordinate and Low-valent Group 14 Complexes
3.1 Tetrylium Ions
3.2 Tetrylenes14
3.3 Tetryliumylidenes19
3.4 Tetrylones27
4. Scope of this Work
4.1 Synthesis and Reactivity of Heavier Nitrile Analogues
4.2 Synthesis and Application of Bidentate N-heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene
Ligands
 N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application
6. Application of ferrocene-bridged <i>N</i> -heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis- phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation45
7. Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate <i>N</i> –Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dications
8. Summary and Outlook62
8.1 Synthesis of NHC–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles62
8.2 Synthesis of Novel Bidentate NHCP Ligands and Coordination Chemistry64
8.3 Outlook
9. Bibliography72
10. Appendix

10.1	License for Chapter 5	.78
10.2	License for Chapter 6	.79
10.3	License for Chapter 7	.80

1. Introduction

Phosphorus is ubiquitous in nature and everyday life. It makes up about 1 w% of the human body with most of it being in bones and teeth. The bone mineral consists of calcium phosphate being important for the mechanical strength.^[1-2] In addition to that, phosphorus is contained in, for instance, adenosine triphosphate (ATP), which provides energy in cells and in the backbone of our DNA (deoxyribonucleic acid). In more than one aspect, phosphorus is essential for living organisms.

"Life can multiply until all the phosphorus has gone and then there is an inexorable halt which nothing can prevent."

Isaac Asimov 1974

As important phosphorus is in the human body, as important it is in chemistry. Phosphorus is a group 15 element located in the third period as heavier homologue of nitrogen. It was accidentally discovered by the German alchemist Hennig Brand in 1669. In the search for the "philosopher's stone" he distilled urine and received a white substance, which later turned out to be ammonium sodium hydrogen phosphate (NH₄)NaHPO₄.^[3-4]

Elemental phosphorus exists in gas phase as P₂ and in different allotropes. White (P₄), red, black and violet phosphorus can be found, all exhibiting different crystal structures as well as physical properties.^[5] Phosphorus has diverse applications, for instance, in Germany over 80% is used for production of fertilizers. However, in form of phosphorus–based ligands it additionally plays a key role in catalysis. Phosphine ligands (R₃P:) have the advantage to easily associate and dissociate, thus bearing an essential feature for most catalytic cycles. To name just a few, the Grubb's catalyst, catalyzing olefin metathesis, the Suzuki–Miyaura crosscoupling, the Wilkinson's catalyst, used for asymmetric hydrogenation.^[6-9]

However, all these catalysts are based on transition metals, bearing high costs, low accessibility, and often even high toxicity. Therefore, one of the main targets in modern main group chemistry is the synthesis of new catalysts based on abundant, non-toxic, and economic main group elements like silicon. This research field is still in its infancy and different methods to successfully isolate catalytically active main group catalysts are developed. Recently, *N*-heterocyclic carbene–phosphinidene ligands received increasing attention and are yet to be further investigated.

2. *N*–Heterocyclic Carbene Phosphinidenes

For a long time, phosphines and phosphanes dominated as ligands in transition metal coordination chemistry. However, with the first isolation of *N*-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) and their superior properties in comparison to electron–rich organophosphanes being discovered, the NHCs replaced the phosphorus ligands to yield next–generation organometallic catalysts.^[10-11] The first "bottleable" NHC has been isolated by Arduengo and coworkers in 1991.^[12] This ground–breaking isolation led to the synthesis of a plethora of new NHCs and their application in transition metal, as well as in main group chemistry being the subject of various publications and reviews.^[13-21] Like organophosphanes, NHC ligands demonstrate strong σ -donor as well as weak π -acceptor properties.

Structure

With the discovery of *N*-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidenes (NHCPs) by Arduengo in 1997, a combination of NHCs and phosphine ligands has evolved.^[22-24] NHCPs are the heavier analogues of N-heterocyclic imines (NHIs) and are considered as inversely polarized phosphaalkenes, which show a partial negative charge on the phosphorus instead of at the carbene carbon atom in classical phosphaalkenes. In the classical phosphaalkenes the difference in electronegativity in the Pauling scale of phosphorus (2.1) and carbon (2.5) results in polarization and the mesomeric structures 1 and 1' (Scheme 1). However, depending on the substituents, the electron distribution can be changed to yield an inversely polarized phosphaalkene. For instance, the introduction of an NHC substituent bearing electron donating nitrogen atoms, results in the formation of an NHCP being an inversely polarized phosphaalkene. NHCPs feature strong σ -donor and weak π -acceptor properties (Figure 1).^[25] The in plane occupied carbenic sp² hybrid orbital interacts with the empty σ -type orbital (p_x) orbital) of the phosphinidene in a σ -donation interaction. Additionally, there is a π backdonation from the occupied π -type orbital of the phosphorus (p_v orbital) towards the empty p-orbital of the carbene.^[26-27] These effects contribute to a pronounced polarization of the P-C bond, which can be visualized in resonance structures 2-2".[23, 28-30] Depending on the phosphorus substituent and the nature of the carbene, resonance structure 2 with a P=C double bond, zwitterion 2' with a P–C single bond, or 2'' with a dative $C \rightarrow P$ donor-acceptor interaction is predominant.^[25]



Scheme 1 Canonical forms of phosphaalkenes and *N*-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidenes.



Figure 1 Schematic orbital representation of a singlet phosphinidene and C–P bond orbital interactions in NHCPs.

Due to the availability of two lone pairs at the phosphorus, NHCPs qualify as ligands to stabilize electron deficient compounds. The two phosphorus lone pairs in resonance structure **3** could be confirmed the first time by treatment of IMesP–Ph with two equivalents of BH₃·THF isolating the P–bonded bis(borane) adduct **4** (Scheme 2, left).^[24] Later various bis(group 11 metal) complexes **5** could additionally verify the ability of NHCPs to have two available lone pairs at the phosphorus and the potential to coordinate metal halides (Scheme 2, right).^[31]



Scheme 2 Reactivity of IMesP–Ph towards BH₃·THF and group 11 metal halides.

Synthesis

To synthesize NHCPs, several pathways have been explored. In general, the combination of a suitable carbene **6** or carbene precursor **13** and a phosphorus source is needed. As phosphorus source, amongst others, cyclopolyphosphines (e.g., $(PPh)_5)$,^[23] diphosphenes (e.g., Ar-P=P-Ar),^[32] chlorophosphines (e.g., $PhPCl_2$),^[23, 30] phosphines (e.g., $PhPH_2$),^[33]

polyphosphorus (e.g., Na_3P_7),^[34] or phosphides (e.g., NaOCP)^[35] compounds are utilized and treated with a carbene or imidazolium salt (Scheme 3).^[25] With these different synthetic approaches a variety of NHCPs (**7**, **9–11**, **14**, **15**) are accessible. The substituents on the carbene as well as on the phosphorus can be exchanged to yield different steric as well as electronic properties.



Scheme 3 Synthesis pathways to isolate a NHCP.

Reactivity

Despite the coordination of BH₃ and different group 11 metal halides, NHCPs proved to be suitable neutral (NHC–phosphinidene) or monoanionic (NHC–phosphinidenide) ligands in a plethora of transition metal and main group compounds. Figure 2 shows selected examples of transition metal complexes **16-19**.^[36-39] The group of Tamm isolated the tungsten and

molybdenum pentacarbonyl complexes **16** from treatment of the respective NHCP with the photochemically prepared THF adduct [(thf)W(CO)₅] or the trimethylamine complex [(Me₃N)W(CO)₅] and with thermally generated [(thf)Mo(CO)₅]. Characterization of the complexes with IR revealed the strong electron–donating properties of the NHCP, observed in a lower CO stretching frequency.^[36] The NHC–phosphinidene and analogue NHC– phosphinidenide rhenium and iridium complexes **17** and **18** are synthesized from NHCP–H and NHCP–TMS with the respective dichloro–rhenium and dichloro–iridium precursor complex. Grützmacher presented the Hg(II) complex **19** from treatment of NHCP–H with HgCl₂ in the presence of 1,8–diazabicyclo[5.4.0]undec–7–ene (DBU).^[38]



Figure 2 Selected examples of NHC–phosphinidene and –phosphinidenide transition metal complexes.

Recently, Tamm and coworkers isolated the NHC–phosphinidene iridium complexes **20** and **21** from NHCP–H and [Ir(cod)Cl₂] followed by chloride abstraction using sodium tetrakis[3,5– bis(trifluoromethyl)phenyl]borate (NaBAr^F₄) (Scheme 4). Both complexes present application in *ortho*–directed hydrogen isotope exchange reactions, expanding the scope of possible reactivities of NHCP complexes. Substrates with different directing groups were tested, all showing a high degree of deuteration of above 90%.^[40]



Scheme 4 Catalytic H/D exchange reaction.

NHCPs have not only been used in transition metal coordination chemistry, recently they have grown into the field of main of main group coordination chemistry. The formation of a bis(borane) adduct has already been shown, however, in 2021 the group of Tamm followed this direction of group 13 chemistry with the isolation of the respective aluminum complexes **23** and **24** (Scheme 5). Treatment of NHCPs **22a** with equimolar amounts of trimethylaluminum yielded formation of the 1:1 adduct **23**. Interestingly, the methylated backbone NHCP **22b** has a higher tendency to form the 1:2 adduct **24**, therefore the monoadduct could not be isolated.^[41] The mono– and the bisadducts show similar ³¹P NMR shifts of –137.9 ppm, –147.4 ppm, and –142.9 ppm. Comparison of the P–C_{Carbene} bond lengths of free NHCP and the adducts shows significant elongation upon coordination of one and two equivalents trimethylaluminum.



Scheme 5 Synthesis of NHCP trimethylaluminum complexes.

These NHCP aluminum adducts were tested for application as initiators in ring–opening polymerization (ROP) of *rac*–lactide (Scheme 6). At 60 °C in toluene with a monomer to catalyst ratio of 100–500, conversions of 82–97% could be achieved within 12 h, yielding isoselective polymerization.^[41]



Scheme 6 Ring-opening polymerization of rac-lactide.

Until 2021 only monodentate NHCP ligands have been known. Hadlington and Driess published the first example of a bidentate, xanthene bridged NHCP ligand **25** (Scheme 7). The bisNHCP ligand **25** is able to stabilize transition metal halides as well as Ge(II) and Sn(II) halides to form cationic complexes **26** and **27**.^[42]



Scheme 7 Reactivity of xanthene-bridged bisNHCP 25.

In recent years, NHCPs proved to exhibit great potential in the stabilization of low-valent as well as low oxidation state main group compounds and their full potential has not yet been fully discovered.

3. Low-coordinate and Low-valent Group 14 Complexes

3.1 Tetrylium lons

Structure

Tetrylium ions display the heavier analogues of the comprehensively studied carbenium ions R_3C^+ . The three–coordinate tetrylium ions **28** of the form R_3E^+ possess six valence electrons, one vacant p–orbital, and a positive charge at the central atom (Figure 3, left), making them highly electrophilic and therefore extremely Lewis acidic. Since tetrylium ions tend to react with most σ – and π –electron donors (e.g., solvent molecules, nucleophiles), isolation in the condensed phase is difficult. For stabilization highly sterically demanding substituents and/or donor stabilization is necessary to protect the reactive tetrylium ion center sterically from nucleophilic attack, as well as electronically by quenching the electrophilicity.^[43] Additionally, non–coordinating solvents and counter anions need to be used in all the reactions. For instance, perfluorinated, weakly coordinating anions, like tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate, proofed to be successful.^[44] To stabilize the positive charge, electronic stabilization can be introduced with inter– or intramolecular σ – or π –donors yielding the stabilized tetrylim ions **29** and **30** (Figure 3, middle and right).^[45]



Figure 3 Classification of tetrylium ions (with E = Si, Ge, Sn, Pb) (counter anions are omitted).

In 1993 Lambert and Reed independently isolated the first examples of silvlium ions **31** and **32** (Figure 4).^[46-47] Both silicon centers adopt a pyramidal geometry and an upfield shifted ²⁹Si NMR signal (92.3 ppm and 105.0 ppm) compared to the calculated shift of Et₃Si⁺ in the gas phase (354.6 ppm)^[48], accounting for σ - or π -donor stabilization. Since silvlium ion **31** shows coordination to the solvent toluene and **32** coordination to the counter anion, both are not considered to be free silvlium cations. Only in 2002, finally the first three–coordinated tetrylium ion **33** has successfully been isolated by the groups of Reed and Lambert.^[49] This mesityl–substituted silvlium ion shows a trigonal planar structure with well separated ion pairs and

solvent molecules. In 2003, these results are followed by the isolation of the first germylium ion **34** reported by Sekiguchi and the first stannylium ions **35** by Lambert and Müller.^[50-51]



Figure 4 Selected examples of tetrylium cations.

Synthesis

Until now, numerous synthetic strategies have been evolved to isolate tetrylium ions. Predominantly, the abstraction of a leaving group (X, H, benzyl, allyl, CR_3 , ER_3) with an electrophile is applied (Scheme 8 (I)–(VI)). Furthermore, the oxidative addition of an electrophile R⁺ to a silylene (VII) or a one–electron oxidation of a silyl radical (VIII) can be applied.^[45, 52-53]



Scheme 8 Selected synthetic routes for preparation of tetrylium ions (E = Si, Ge, Sn).

In order to minimize interaction of the cationic E(IV) center with the counter anion, the application of weakly coordinating anions is necessary. Especially fluorinated tetracoordinated boranes emerged successful, such as $[B(C_6F_5)_4]^-$ and $[B(3,5-(CF_3)_2C_6H_3)_4]^-$, or halogenated *closo*-carborates and perhalogenated *closo*-borates, like $[HCB_{11}H_5Br_6]^-$ and $[B_{12}X_{12}]^-$ (X = CI, Br).^[53]

Reactivity and Catalytic Application

Amongst others, tetrylium ions have found application as Lewis acid catalysts, due to their high electrophilic character. One of the many catalytic applications of silylium ions is the hydrodefluorination (HDF) of fluorinated and perfluorinated alky groups. In HDF reactions selectively $C(sp^3)$ –F bonds are transformed to C–H bonds commonly using triethylsilane.^[54] In 2005, Ozerov reported the first room–temperature HDF of aliphatic C–F bonds applying a silylium ion catalyst.^[55] However, the used tetrakis(pentafluorophenyl)borate anion [B(C₆F₅)₄]⁻ limited the substrate scope as well as the turnover numbers. After change of the counter anion to monocarboranes, the longevity of the catalysis improved and it was even possible to activate perfluoroalkyl groups, presenting high selectivity for aliphatic C–F bonds. Scheme 9 shows the selective HDF of perfluorotoluene (**36**) using a silylium ion catalyst, selectively producing **37**.^[56]



Scheme 9 Hydrodefluorination of perfluorotoluene.

In Scheme 10 the proposed mechanism is reported. The catalytic process requires the generation of a carbo cation and a silylium cation. Both cations are highly Lewis acidic and therefore the counter anion needs to be chosen carefully. A suitable counter anion should be weakly coordinating but also stable towards decomposition *via* transfer of an anionic group. Ozerov discovered monocarboranes (e.g., $[HCB_{11}H_5CI_6]^-$, $[HCB_{11}CI_{11}]^-$, $[HCB_{11}H_5Br_6]^-$) to be potent counter anions. In the catalytic cycle, the carbenium ion R'₃C⁺ is formed *via* fluoride abstraction by the electrophilic silylium ion forming R₃Si–F. This step is followed by reaction of the carbenium ion R'₃C⁺ with stoichiometrically added silane R₃Si–H, acting as hydride source. R'₃C–H and R₃Si⁺ are formed regenerating the silylium cation.^[54-56]



Scheme 10 Proposed mechanism for silylium-catalyzed hydrodefluorination.

Silyl Dications

All in all, suitable methods in stabilizing silyl cations have been developed and these species emerged to be valuable catalysts. The in general even more Lewis acidic silyl dications, however, are less investigated. In 2014, Filippou and coworkers presented the first example of a tetracoordinated Si(IV) dication **38** using NHCs for stabilization (Figure 5).^[57] These results were followed by the groups of Driess and Inoue isolating further examples of NHC–stabilized

Si(IV) dications **39** and **40** ^[58-59]. Driess additionally presented various penta–coordinated dications **41**, stabilized by a terpyridine ligand. ^[60]



Figure 5 Selected examples of Si(IV) dications.

Different synthetic approaches were used to isolate mononuclear silyl dications **45–47**. Three possible pathways are **(I)** addition of NHC to a diiodosilane **42**, **(II)** use of a neutral bidentate ligand **43** to complex a bistriflatesilane, and **(III)** the addition of triflic acid to a silyliumylidene ion **44** (Scheme 11).^[57-60]



Scheme 11 Synthetic strategies to yield Si(IV) dications.

All mononuclear silyl dications show different reactivity. For instance, dications **41** are able to catalyze hydrodefluorination of 1–fluoroadamantane, which is attributed to their high Lewis acidity (Lewis superacidity), quantified by the Gutmann–Beckett method.^[60] In the Gutmann–Beckett method triethylphosphine oxide is added to the substrate in a non–coordination solvent (commonly dichloromethane is used). Triethylphosphine oxide coordinates to the Lewis acidic substrate *via* the oxygen atom shifting the ³¹P NMR signal. According to this NMR shift, the Lewis acidity of a substrate can be quantified. The higher the downfield shift, the higher the Lewis acidity.^[61-62] Dication **40** shows reactivity towards CO₂ resulting in the single or double insertion product. The CO₂ inserts into the Si–C^{NHC} bond. At elevated temperatures, the second CO₂ insertion is reversible resulting in a 1:1 equilibrium of single and double insertion product.^[59]

Mononuclear Si(IV) dications proved to offer great potential in small molecule activation as well as catalytic application. However, this research is still in its infancy and needs further investigations.

3.2 Tetrylenes

Structure and properties

Tetrylenes are the heavier analogues of carbenes bearing one electron lone pair, however, possessing different properties. Unlike carbon, the heavier group 14 elements do not have a high tendency to form hybrid orbitals. This results in a singlet ground state in tetrylenes in contrast to the triplet ground state in carbenes (Figure 6). For comparison, the singlet–triplet gap ΔE_{ST} for the simplest carbene H₂C: is -14.0 kcal mol⁻¹, while the ΔE_{ST} for the heavier tetrylenes is much higher (H₂Si: 16.7 kcal mol⁻¹, H₂Ge: 21.8 kcal mol⁻¹, H₂Sn: 24.8 kcal mol⁻¹, H₂Pb: 34.8 kcal mol⁻¹). Therefore, tetrylenes predominantly exhibit a singlet ground state.^[63-64]

Tetrylenes are not only reactive towards other molecules, however, also to themselves. To yield stabilization, dimerization often occurs. The stability of the monomer over the dimer ascends down the group 14 elements (C < Si < Ge < Sn < Pb). To enhance the monomer stability, sterically demanding substituents are introduced hindering oligomerization. Additionally, the sterically demanding substituents hinder nucleophilic attack at the highly reactive vacant p–orbital, yielding kinetic stabilization of the tetrylene. Further stabilization can be realized either *via* intra– or intermolecular π –donors and σ –acceptors (thermodynamic

stabilization) (Figure 6, right). For thermodynamic stabilization for instance Cp* ligands or heteroatoms like N, O, and P are introduced.^[63]



Figure 6 Molecular orbitals or carbenes and tetrylenes.

While Ge(II), Sn(II), and Pb(II) substrates have already been accessible, the stabilization of Si(II) compounds in condensed phase turned out to be more challenging.^[65-66] For a long time silylenes were considered to be too reactive to be able to isolate them at room temperature. Nevertheless, in 1986 Jutzi and coworkers isolated the first formal Si(II) compound **48** (Figure 7) opening a new research field.^[67] Jutzi's Si(II) compound is thermodynamically stabilized by two Cp* ligands. Due to the hyper coordination (η^{10}), however, it does not meet the definition of a silylene. Therefore, the *N*-heterocyclic silylene **51** published by Denk in 1994 is considered to be the first (dicoordinate) silylene.^[68] These results inspired the research generating a variety of new cyclic and acyclic tetrylenes **49–53** with a variety of stabilizing substituents (Figure 7).^[67-77]



Figure 7 Selected examples of acyclic and cyclic tetrylenes.

Besides these tetrylenes, the dihalogen–substituted tetrylenes exhibit versatile employable starting materials, amongst others for the synthesis of different substituted tetrylenes or for the synthesis of tetryliumylidenes, which will be discussed in detail in chapter 3.3. While all PbX₂, SnX₂ (with X = Cl, Br, I), and GeX₂ (with X = Br, I) compounds are stable without further stabilization, GeCl₂ and SiX₂ (with X = Cl, Br, I) need stabilization *via* electron donation. Commonly, dichlorogermylene is stabilized with 1,4–dioxane and SiX₂ (with X = Cl, Br, I) with IDipp.^[78-81]

Synthesis

Tetrylenes have been investigated intensely over the last few decades and therefore, a plethora of synthetic methods to isolate them has evolved. In Scheme 12 the most important ones are summarized.^[63]

- (I) Halogen exchange in dihalotetrylenes using organolithium reagents.
- (II) Reductive dehalogenation (e.g., with KC₈ or sodium naphthalenide) of a dihalogen– substituted E(IV) substrate.

- (III) Photochemical reductive elimination of Me₃Si–SiMe₃ from a bis(trimethylsilane)– substituted E(IV) substrate.
- (IV) Photochemical or thermal reductive elimination of an alkene or alkyne.
- (V) Photochemical, thermal, or donor-induced splitting of ditetrenes.
- (VI) Photochemical, thermal, or donor-induced splitting of trimers.



Scheme 12 Various synthetic methods to isolate tetrylenes.

Reactivity

Owning to their high reactivity, silylenes are prone to react intramolecularly to decompose at higher temperature, as demonstrated for the DMAP–stabilized silylenes **58a–c**. Depending on the silyl substituent, silylenes **58a–c** undergo C–H activation of one *tert*–butyl group to form the disiletane **59**, insertion into the pyridine ring of DMAP forming the azasilepin **60**, or isomerization to the cyclic silane **61** (Scheme 13, left). At lower temperature, however, these silylenes are able to activate a variety of small molecules. For instance, activation of dihydrogen, ethylene, as well as trimethylsilyl azide yield the depicted silanes **62–64** (Scheme 13, right).^[72]



Scheme 13 Thermal decomposition of DMAP-stabilized silylenes and reactivity towards small molecules.

As discussed above, silylenes undergo oligomerization in cases where the steric demand of the substituents is not large enough. However, those disilenes are often in equilibrium with the free silylene in solution.^[63] This can for instance be verified by treating the disilene **65** with CO to yield one of the first silicon–carbonyl complexes **66** (Scheme 14). Like transition metal carbonyl complexes, the silicon–carbonyl complex exhibits a strong Si–CO bonding, with Si–CO σ -donation and Si–CO π -backdonation. Thermal or photochemical activation leads to release of CO and formation of the disiletane **67**.^[82]



Scheme 14 Activation of CO forming silicon–carbonyl complex **66** and thermal or photochemical CO release.

Schulz *et al.* simultaneously discovered a similar route to trap the reactive silylene intermediate **69** by forming the stable silicon-carbonyl complex **70** under CO atmosphere (Scheme 15). In argon atmosphere the silylene intermediate immediately undergoes intramolecular C-C bond activation forming a silane.^[83]



Scheme 15 Synthesis of silicon-carbonyl complex via trapping the free silylene with CO.

3.3 Tetryliumylidenes

Structure

Tetryliumylidenes are E(II) (E = Si, Ge, Sn, Pb) species with only four valence electrons, bearing a lone–pair, two vacant p–orbitals and a positive charge at the central atom (Figure 8, left). Due to their electronic properties, tetryliumylidenes are related to tetrylium ions as well as tetrylenes. The two vacant p–orbitals account for the electrophilic (Lewis acidic) part and the lone–pair for the nucleophilic (Lewis basic) one, classifying an ambiphilic character. Due to the high reactivity, stabilization *via* inter– or intramolecular electron donation and the use of a sterically demanding substituent are necessary to be able to isolate tetryliumylidene ions in the condensed phase. Donation of electron density into the vacant LUMO results in the reduction of the localized positive charge and consequently results in kinetic stabilization (Figure 8, middle and right). The use of sterically demanding R group shields the E(II) center from nucleophilic or electrophilic attacks (thermodynamic stabilization). In general, however, germyliumylidenes and stannyliumylidenes are easier to be stabilized as a result of the increasing s–p orbital energy separation.^[84-85]



Figure 8 Molecular orbitals of free and donor-stabilized tetryliumylidenes.

The variety of R substituents and donor ligands were successfully used for tetryliumylidene stabilization. Especially imine and carbene–based donors proved suitable. Figure 9 depicts selected examples of published tetryliumylidenes **71–76**.^[86-101]



Figure 9 Selected examples of tetryliumylidene ions.

Synthesis

Over the years various synthetic pathways have been explored to isolate tetryliumylidenes. Only the most common ones are selected to be discussed in detail in this work.

The landmark synthesis of the first E(II) compounds dates back to 1980 when Jutzi and coworkers isolated the (pentamethylcyclopentadienyl)germanium(II) and –tin(II) cations **78** *via* protonation of the neutral bis(pentamethylcyclopendadienylgermanium and –tin complexes **77** (Scheme 16).^[87] In 2004, Jutzi used the same approach to isolate the silicon(II) derivative, marking the beginning of Si(II) cation chemistry.^[86]


Scheme 16 Synthesis of Cp*E+ via protonation of Cp*E:.

Another way is the treatment of a neutral and bidentate Lewis basic ligand **79** with a NHC– stabilized dihalosilylene, donor–stabilized (e.g., 1,4–dioxane, NHC, or DMAP) germanium(II)– or tin(II)dihalide in a ligand exchange reaction. This approach is for example used for tetryliumylidenes **80**, bearing carbene or imine (NHI, phosphaimine)–based ligands (Scheme 17).^[89-90, 94-95, 102-103]



Scheme 17 Synthesis of tetryliumylidene ions 80 via ligand exchange reaction from E(II) dihalides.

A third synthetic approach is the treatment of an aryl– or silyl–substituted dichlorosilane **81** with 3 eq NHC in a reductive dehydrochlorination (Scheme 18), yielding an aryl–/silyl–substituted, NHC–supported silyliumylidene **82** with the respective imidazolium salt as side product. The analogue germyliumylidenes and stannyliumylidenes **84** are prepared from the chlorotetrylene **83** with the addition of NHC.



Scheme 18 Synthesis of tetryliumylidenes 82 and 84 via dehydrochlorination using NHC.

Tetryliumylidene synthesis is not only possible starting from a E(IV) or E(II) complex but also by treatment of a E(I) dimer **85** or **87** with an additional donor (Scheme 19). As donor for instance NHCs or DMAP are used, as demonstrated for silyliumylidenes **86** and **88**.^[93, 104]



Scheme 19 Synthesis of silyliumylidene from Si(I) dimers 85 and 87.

Reactivity

Since tetryliumylidenes show an ambiphilic character, they can react either as Lewis acids or Lewis bases. A typical Lewis base reactivity is the reactivity towards chalcogens (Ch = S, Se, Te). Indeed, silyliumylidene ion **89** readily forms the heavier silaacylium ions **90** with elemental chalcogens (Scheme 20). The ²⁹Si NMR shifts present an increasing upfield shift going down the heavier chalcogen group (²⁹Si δ [ppm] = -26.7, -31.0, and -59.1).^[94]



Scheme 20 Reactivity of silyliumylidene 89 towards heavy chalcogens.

The NHC–stabilized silyliumylidene published by Inoue in 2014, has been examined thoroughly towards small molecule activation. While silylenes tend to react with alkynes in a cycloaddition reaction, silyliumylidene **91** presented the reaction to silane **95** when treated with phenylacetylene (Scheme 21). The calculated reaction mechanism suggests the C–H activation and oxidative addition of phenylacetylene as first step to form silylene **92** and imidazolium salt. The silylene **92** reacts with two further molecules of phenylacetylene in a second C–H activation followed by acetylene–hydrogenation showing Z–selectivity to form the silane **95**.^[97]



Scheme 21 Reaction of silyliumylidene 91 with phenylacetylene.

Further selected examples of reactivity towards small molecule, transition metal halides, and Lewis acidic $GaCl_3$ are depicted in Scheme 22. Treatment with different transition metal salts resulted in the coordination complexes **96** with the downfield effect in the ²⁹Si NMR shift getting stronger with descending the group from copper to gold.^[105] Furthermore, the silaaldehyde **97**

was achieved with GaCl₃ and water, the thiosilaaldehyde **98** with hydrogen sulfide and the silaacyclium ion **99** *via* reaction with CO_2 .^[106-108]



Scheme 22 Selected reactivity of silyliumylidene 91.

Tetryliumylidenes can furthermore be reduced from E(II) to E(0) yielding a tetrylone, which will be discussed in detail in the following chapter (3.4).

The quest to substitute toxic and expensive transition metal catalysts with economic, non-toxic and earth abundant silicon-based catalysts is one of the main targets in main group silicon chemistry. For instance, the hydrosilylation is commonly catalyzed with platinum catalysts such as Karstedt's catalyst.^[109] To substitute the platinum complex, Fritz-Langhals further investigated the properties of pentamethylcyclopentadienylsilicon(II) cation Cp*Si:⁺ for application in catalysis. Jutzi *et al.* could already proof its catalytic application in specific degradation of oligo(ethyleneglycol) diethers.^[110] Indeed the Si(II) complex additionally offers excellent activity in hydrosilylation of alkenes and alkynes at a catalyst loading of lower than 0.1 mol%. A mechanism similar to the tris(pentafluoro-phenyl)borane (BCF)-catalyzed hydrosilylation is suggested (Scheme 23).^[111-113] In the hydrosilylation of α -methylstyrene with pentamethylsiloxane and 0.0013 mol% catalyst, full conversion was achieved at room temperature. Interestingly, the addition of further starting material again resulted in full conversion, verifying the presence of an active catalyst species.^[111]





Si(II) Dications

The last chapter summarized the properties of monocationic tetryliumylidenes. However, the related dicationic E(II) complexes possess similar properties with an even higher electrophilicity and therefore high reactivity. These E(II) species exhibit a lone–pair and three vacant p–orbitals (Figure 10).^[85]



Figure 10 Molecular orbitals and electronic features of E(II) dications.

Due to the difficult stabilization, only scarce examples are known in the literature. A strategy to trap these species, is the application of three strongly Lewis basic ligands to compensate the strong electrophilicity of the unoccupied p-orbitals. The first one to achieve an isolation in condensed phase was the group of Baines in 2007 isolating the NHC stabilized Ge(II) dication **101** from addition of excess NHC to the NHC–stabilized Gel₂ **100** (Scheme 24). ^[114]



Scheme 24 Synthesis of Ge(II) dication 101.

Only one year later, Baines accomplished the striking isolation of new a compound class, the cryptand–stabilized Ge(II) dication **103**, presenting the first non–metal cryptand complex (Scheme 25).^[115] Four years later, the analogue Sn(II) dication complex was reported by Herber, Huang, and Baines.^[116] The electron rich macrobicyclic cryptand stabilizes the dicationic center not *via* discrete but with multiple weak donor–acceptor interactions.



Scheme 25 Synthesis of cryptand stabilized Ge(II) dication 103.

Before this landmark synthesis, cyclic ethers have already been applied in stabilization of tin and lead dications like **104** and **105** (Figure 11).^[117-118] Inspired by this results, a further example of macrocyclic Ge(II) and Sn(II) dications **106** have been published by Baines and McDonald.^[119-120]



Figure 11 Polyether stabilized E(II) dicationic complexes.

Filippou used NHCs to successfully stabilize the first Si(II) dication 108, generated from the NHC-stabilized diiodosilylene 107 (Scheme 26).[81]



Scheme 26 Synthesis of Si(II) dication 108.

3.4 Tetrylones

Structure

Tetrylones, also called ylidones, are divalent group 14 complexes of the formal oxidation state 0, exhibiting two free electron pairs. Stabilization of the reactive E(0) center is realized using neutral donor ligands (L). Scheme 27 displays the different resonance structures of tetrylones. Depending on the ligand, the complex has a predominant ylidone, ylidene, or bent allene character.^[121-122] Strong π -backbonding to the ligand results in an increasing allene character and therefore increasing stability, yet decreasing reactivity. In Figure 12, selected examples of literature known tetrylones 109-115 are shown and depicted according to the predominant resonance structure.^[102-103, 123-135] For stabilization of the E(0) center, especially carbene, silvlene, germylene, or imine based ligands proved successful due to their strong σ -donor and sufficient π -acceptor properties.



increasing ylidone character, decreasing stability

increasing bent allene character, increasing π -backbonding

Scheme 27 Resonance structures of divalent E(0) compounds (with E = Si, Ge, Sn, Pb).



Figure 12 Selected examples of divalent E(0) compounds (with E = Si, Ge, Sn, Pb).

Theoretical calculations by Frenking investigated the bonding situation in divalent E(0)compounds (with E = C, Si, Ge, Sn) to get an insight into the geometric and electronic properties.^[121, 136] The calculations revealed a best description of the bonding situation as donor-acceptor interaction between the E(0) center in EL_2 (E = Si, Ge, Sn, Pb) and the ligand L, with L being a five-membered cyclic ylidone or NHC. Additionally, silylene and germylenestabilized silvlones and germylones reveal E(0) character as well, showing two free lone pairs in molecular orbital analysis, calculated by the groups of Phukan and Gadre. However, allenes with dialkylsilylene ligands as in 110 are exceptions thereof, revealing two Si=Si and Ge=Ge bonds in their equilibrium geometries.^[137] In Figure 13 the general electronic structure of the two resonance structures of tetrylone and allene are depicted. Tetrylones exhibits two electron lone pairs, one in an s-type orbital, one in a p-type orbital. The vacant p-orbitals are occupied by the σ -donating electron pair of the ligand. Consequently, the L–E–L angle should be close to 90°. Free p-orbitals of the ligand (e.g., in carbenes and silvlenes) are stabilized by the π backdonation from the free p lone pair at the E(0) center. In case of an increasing bulk of the ligands, the L–E–L angle increases and the structure changes towards an allene character. Additionally, the s-character of the lone pair at the E(0) center changes towards an sp-type hybridization, resulting in a more pronounced π -bonding character between E(0) and L.^[122]





To visualize the differences in the E(0) structures, and the impact on the L–E–L bond angle as well as on the ²⁹Si NMR shift, trisilaallene **116**, cAAC–stabilized silylone **117** and NHC–stabilized silylone **118** are compared in Table 1.^[102, 124, 127] As expected, the trisilaallene **119** shows the largest L–Si–L bond angle of 136.49(6)° and a low–field shifted ²⁹Si NMR signal at 157.0 ppm.^[124] Interestingly, the two carbene–stabilized silylones **117** and **118** reveal large differences. According to calculations by Driess and coworkers, the tremendous ²⁹Si NMR upfield shift of the NHC–stabilized silylone compared to the cAAC–stabilized one accounts for stronger σ –donor und weaker π –acceptor properties of the NHC resulting in a more shielded Si(0) center. Additionally, the NHC–stabilized silylone exhibits a smaller L–Si–L bond angle close to 90°.^[102]

	²⁹ Si NMR δ[ppm]	Bond angle L–Si–L [°]
116	157.0	136.49(6)
117	66.7	117.70(8)
118	-83.8	89.1(1)

 Table 1 ²⁹Si NMR shifts and L–Si–L bond angles of selected silylones.

Synthesis

To synthesize tetrylones, various methods have been evaluated. The first E(0) species to be isolated is considered to be the stannylone published by Wiberg *et al.*^[123] in 1999. Either Lappert's stannylene $Sn(NTMS_2)_2^{[138]}$ or $(Sn(OtBu)_2)_2^{[139]}$ (**119**) are treated with sodium tri(*tert*–butyl)silanide to yield the stannylone **120**, which exhibits a half–life time of only 9.8 h (Scheme 28). Due to the high steric demand of the supersilyl substituents, a rearrangement to the isomeric cyclotristannene **121** takes place. Since the central tin atom shows a ¹¹⁹Sn NMR shift of 2233 ppm, which is in the range of reported stannylenes, and additionally the SC–XRD analysis revealed a short Sn–Sn bond length of 2.682 Å, the compound is better described as a stannylene adduct of a distannavinylidene (**120'/120''**).^[123]



Scheme 28 Synthesis of stannylone 120 and rearrangement to cyclotristannene 121 and suggested resonance structures of 120'/120''.

A different, most commonly used strategy to isolate tetrylones is the reductive dehalogenation of E(IV) and E(II) compounds shown in Scheme 29 and Scheme 30.^[124, 127-128] As reducing agents often KC₈ or sodium naphthalenide are used. This strategy was not only used in the isolation of formal Si(0) complex **124**, which is best described as trisilaallene, but also in the isolation of the first so–called silylone **127** by Roesky, Stalke, and Fenking, using carbenes for stabilization and the germylone **129** by Roesky, Zhu, Stalke, and Andrada.^[124, 127-128] The same strategy was used to synthesize the first cyclic silylone and germylone by Driess.^[102-103]



Scheme 29 Synthesis of Si(0) complex via reductive dehalogenation from Si(IV).



Scheme 30 Synthesis of cAAC-stabilized silylone 127 and germylone 129 *via* reductive dehalogenation from diradical 126 or Ge(II).

A third reaction pathway used for stannylone synthesis, is the transamination displayed in Scheme 31. Lappert's stannylene $Sn(NTMS_2)_2$ is used as Sn(II) source and deprotonation reagent to yield the planar tricoordinate formal stannylone **131**.^[131]



Scheme 31 Synthesis of stannylone 131 via transamination.

Reactivity

Tetrylones possess two free electron pairs and therefore are expected to react with Lewis acids and be able to activate small molecules. For instance, Driess and coworkers were able to isolate the mono– and bis–AlBr₃ adduct (**133** and **134**) of germylone **131** (Scheme 32). Interestingly, the formation of the bis–adduct is only possible in non–coordinating solvents such as benzene. The use of coordinating solvents like Et₂O or THF does only result in the formation of the monoadduct even with an 20–fold excess of the Lewis acid, since the coordination ability of the donor solvent towards AlBr₃ is stronger.^[132]



Scheme 32 Reactivity of germylone 132 towards AlBr₃.

Among the small molecule activations, CO₂ activation is an often-targeted goal. Carbon dioxide is one of the main greenhouse gases. Hence, towards the capturing, storage, and utilization of CO₂ considerable research efforts is invested. Additionally, CO₂ presents a non-toxic, abundant, and economical C1 feedstock. However, due to the high thermodynamic stability, activation is necessary. In 2017, Driess and coworkers presented the synthesis of a bisNHC-supported silicon decarbonate complex **138** by activation of carbon dioxide with silylone **135** (Scheme 33). The formation *via* silicon monoxide **136** and the dioxide complex **137** is proposed and verified with quantum chemical calculations.^[140]



Scheme 33 Reactivity of silylone 135 towards CO2.

4. Scope of this Work

4.1 Synthesis and Reactivity of Heavier Nitrile Analogues

The first part of this thesis focuses on the synthesis of a stable tin and germanium heavier nitrile analogues. As suitable phosphorus source, the *N*-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidene were selected, featuring the advantage of the introduction of a NHC as stabilization. Analogue to literature known procedures used to synthesize NHCP-transition metal complexes, there are different methods to functionalize a NHCP. One way is the treatment of a TMS substituted NHCP **139** with a chloro-tetrylene to eliminate TMSCI and form the NHCP-stabilized tetrylene **140** (Scheme 34). A second path is the utilization of a parent NHCP **141** and treatment with a chloro-tetrylene and an amine base (e.g., DABCO, DBU).^[37-38] Depending on the used NHCs and substituents R', the mesomeric structure **140**, **140'**, or **140''** with a P-E single, double, or triple bond character is predominant. The multiple bond character can be confirmed chemically, with theoretical calculations, or with SC-XRD analysis.



Scheme 34 Synthetic methods to isolate a NHC stabilized heavier nitrile and mesomeric structures of heavier nitrile analogue **140**.

4.2 Synthesis and Application of Bidentate N-heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene Ligands

In order to be able to isolate low–valent, low–oxidation state group 14 complexes, a suitable ligand system needs to be evaluated. Previous research on the isolation of tetryliumylidenes and tetrylones has been conducted in the group of Inoue using a bidentate *N*–heterocyclic imine ligand system, resulting in the isolation of a variety of tetryliumylidene ions **142–145** (Figure 14).^[94-96]



Figure 14 BisNHI stabilized tetryliumylidenes (with E = Si, Ge, Sn and X = CI, OTf, SnCl₃, GaCl₃).

However, reduction of the tetryliumylidenes to the corresponding tetrylone was not possible. Supposably, the highly reactive and electron rich E(0) center could not be stabilized by the bisNHI ligand. NHIs are strong σ -donor ligands, however they do not have π -acceptor properties. All literature-known tetrylones are stabilized for example with carbene, silylene, or germylene based ligands, allowing strong π -backdonation to the ligand. This results in a lower electron density at the E(0) center, resulting in higher stability but also lower reactivity. Therefore, a new ligand system based on NHCPs, offering strong σ -donor and weak π -acceptor properties, is synthesized and tested for its application in complexation.

Synthesis of bidentate NHCP ligand

To synthesize a bisNHCP ligand, two different strategies are tested (Scheme 35). The first method is conducted analogue to the synthesis of bisNHI ligands. The parent or TMS substituted NHCP is treated with a triflate–substituted alkane, followed by deprotonation/TMS abstraction using a base. Commonly, bases such as NaHMDS, KHMDS, *n*BuLi, or KO*t*Bu are used. The second method is treating a bis(dichlorophosphine) with NHC followed by reductive dehalogenation. Reductive dehalogenation can be realized e.g., with KC₈ or sodium/potassium naphthalenide. In both methods the ligand bridge as well as the substituents on the NHC can be varied to yield different steric and electronic properties. For stabilization of a low–valent

and/or low–oxidation state central atom, bulky substituents are chosen in order to sterically hinder an attack at the central atom.



Scheme 35 Possible pathways to synthesize a bisNHCP ligand.

Synthesis and reactivity of bisNHCP-stabilized E(IV) and E(II) complexes

In order to test the capability of the new bisNHCP ligand to stabilize E(IV) and E(II) complexes, various precursors are tested (Scheme 36). As E(IV) precursors, different halosilanes and triflate–substituted silanes are tested to yield mono–, di–, or tricationic E(IV) complexes. To isolate tetryliumylidene ions, the bisNHCP ligand is treated with NHC–stabilized dihalosilylenes or EX_2 (with E = Ge, Sn and X = CI, Br, I, OTf).



Scheme 36 Synthesis of bisNHCP–stabilized E(IV) and E(II) complexes (with E = Si, Ge, Sn and X = CI, Br, I, OTf).

Reactivity of the formed complexes towards small molecules and application in catalysis is examined.

Reduction of bisNHCP-stabilized E(IV) and E(II) complexes to E(0) complexes

To get to the target complex of a tetrylone, either stepwise or direct reduction is investigated (Scheme 37). For the reduction a suitable reducing agent needs to be evaluated, e.g., KC_8 , sodium or potassium naphthalenide, (NacnacMg(I))₂, Mg^{*}, metallic lithium, sodium, or potassium, or their alloys.



Scheme 37 Stepwise reduction from Si(IV) to Si(0).

As for the E(IV) and E(II) complexes, the terylones will be tested for small molecule activation, application in catalysis and for oxidation towards monomeric 'SiO' and 'SiO₂' complexes.

5. N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application

5. *N*–Heterocyclic Carbene–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application

Title:	"N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of					
	Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application"					
Status:	Communication, published online September 2 nd , 2019					
Journal:	Journal of American Chemical Society					
Publisher:	American Chemical Society (ACS)					
DOI:	10.1021/jacs.9b08741					
Authors:	Vitaly Nesterov, <u>Ramona Baierl</u> , Franziska Hanusch, Arturo Espinosa Ferao, and Shigeyoshi Inoue ^a					

Reprinted with permission from the American Chemical Society. ® 2022 American Chemical Society

^aV. Nesterov and R. Baierl planned and executed all experiments to synthesize compounds **1–4**. A. Espinosa Ferao performed the theoretical calculation. V. Nesterov performed the catalytic experiments and wrote the manuscript. F. Hanusch conducted SC–XRD measurements and processed the respective data. All work was done under the supervision of S. Inoue.

Content: The synthesis of a stable heavier nitrile analogue was achieved by coordination of a NHC to a low–valent phosphorus center and the use of a sterically demanding terphenyl substituent protecting the Ge(II)/Sn(II) center. Both compounds display [2+2] cycloaddition reaction with diphenylketene and demonstrated potential in catalytic hydroboration of carbonyl compounds.

Towards the synthesis of heavier analogues of alkenes, alkynes, or nitriles considerable effort has already been made, however, it remains challenging. In contrast to carbon, in the heavier analogues the stability of multiple bonds decreases. Aiming the isolation of a heavier nitrile

5. N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application

derivative, different strategies have been explored, for instance, attachment of electronegative groups at the group 14 element or the use of sterically demanding amido groups. This publication further explores the synthetic pathway to introduce a Lewis base at the phosphorus center. Treating NHCP–TMS with germylene or stannylene *m*TerECI (E = Ge, Sn) at 75 °C resulted in the formation of a tetrylene–phosphinidene. SC–XRD analysis as well as theoretical calculations revealed a E–P double bond character. While the tetrylene–phosphinidenes are unreactive towards several small molecules, a formation of a [2+2] cycloaddition product occurs with diphenylketene. NMR–spectroscopically a reversible reaction at elevated temperature could be proved. Additionally, both tetrylenes exhibit ability to catalyze hydroboration of aromatic aldehydes and ketones with pinacolborane.

5. N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application



N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles: Synthesis, Reactivity, and Catalytic Application

Vitaly Nesterov,[†] Ramona Baierl,[†] Franziska Hanusch,[†][©] Arturo Espinosa Ferao,[§][©] and Shigeyoshi Inoue*,^{†©}

[†]Department of Chemistry, WACKER-Institute of Silicon Chemistry and Catalysis Research Center, Technische Universität München, Lichtenbergstraße 4, 85748 Garching bei München, Germany

[§]Departamento de Química Orgánica, Facultad de Química, Universidad de Murcia, Campus de Espinardo, 30100 Murcia, Spain

Supporting Information

ABSTRACT: The synthesis of stable heavier analogues of nitriles as monomeric tetrylene-phosphinidenes ^{Mes}TerEP(IDipp) (E = Ge, Sn; ^{Mes}Ter = 2,6-Mes₂C₆H₃, IDipp = $C([N-(2,6-iPr_2C_6H_4)CH]_2)$ was achieved by taking advantage of NHC (N-heterocyclic carbene, here IDipp) coordination to the low-valent phosphorus center. Multiple bonding character of the E-P bonds was examined experimentally and computationally. Both germanium and tin compounds undergo [2+2] cycloaddition with diphenylketene, whereas reaction of the tin derivative with tris(pentafluorophenyl)borane provided unique "push-pull" phosphastannene (^{Mes}Ter)(Ar)Sn = P(IDipp) (Ar = $C_6F_4[B(F)(C_6F_5)_2])$. Going further, we demonstrated the potential of tetrylene-phosphinidene complexes in catalytic hydroboration of carbonyl compounds.

 ${\displaystyle S}$ table heavier main group alkene, alkyne, nitrile analogues and their derivatives continuously attract increased research attention due to unique synthetic potential and growing application in catalysis.^{1,2} Among these compounds, heavier nitrile analogues RE≡P IA (E = Si, Ge, Sn, Pb; Chart 1A) still remain very challenging synthetic targets due to low

Chart 1. (A) Heavier Nitrile (I) and Isocyanide (II) Analogues; (B) Dimers III–VII, and Germylene VIII



thermodynamic stability and tendency to oligomerize. Theoretical calculations³ on model compounds with small substituents suggest higher stability of the linear form RE≡P (IA) over the isomeric bent structure RP=E: (II) only for silicon derivatives (E = Si) with electronegative groups.^{3a} For the silicon compounds with electropositive substituents^{3a} and tin analogues independent from the substitution pattern,^{3b} the isomer II is energetically more favored.⁴ Low thermodynamic stability of heavier nitriles is attributed to drastically decreased ability of heavier elements to form multiple covalent bonds. This can be viewed as increased contribution of the valence isomer tetrylene-phosphinidene resonance structure IB into the ground state of the molecule descending the group 14. Although sufficiently bulky aryl substituents were predicted to stabilize the heavier nitrile form IA (E = Si, Sn),^{3b,c} reported experimental attempts to access these compounds using this strategy alone were not successful so far.⁵ Most recently, an approach using very sterically demanding amido ligands resulted in tetrylene-phosphinidenes dimers, diphosphenes III (Chart 1B).⁵

Alternative approach, implying coordination of a Lewis base to a heavier low-coordinate group 14 element, have also been explored. Several groups independently reported isolation of [LSiP]₂ cyclobutadiene analogue IV (Chart 1B)⁶ considered as a phosphasilyne dimer. Related heterocyclic system [LGeP]₂ V (Chart 1B),⁷ as well as cationic derivatives VI and VII (Chart 1B)⁸ were obtained after UV irradiation of the corresponding L[Ge]PCO phosphaketenes. Cyclic germylene VIII was synthesized using similar synthetic approach.

NHCs are widely recognized as excellent ligands for stabilization of low-valent main group elements.¹⁰ Herein, we describe the synthesis and isolation of NHC-stabilized tetrylene-phosphinidenes, as well as first insights into the structure, bonding, and reactivity of these heavier nitrile analogues, including application in catalysis.

Recently, we developed a number of synthetic methods to stabilize low-coordinate group 14 element compounds using N-heterocylic imines (NHIs) as supporting ligands.¹¹ To expand this chemistry, we approached the problem exploring synthetic potential of their heavier analogues, NHC-phosphinidene (NHCP) adducts.^{10,12} Aiming at target

Received: August 13, 2019 Published: September 3, 2019

ACS Publications © 2019 American Chemical Society

14576

DOI: 10.1021/jacs.9b08741 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 14576-14580

compounds with aryl substituents, which would provide some "pull" effect and steric protection, we reacted germylene and stannylene chloride dimers $[^{\rm Mes}{\rm TerECl}]_2^{13}$ with trimethylsilyl phosphinidene complex (IDipp)PSiMe3^{14} (Scheme 1). At

Scheme 1. Synthesis of Germylene, and Stannylene, Phosphinidene NHC Complexes 1 and 2



elevated temperature, the reaction led to elimination of trimethylsilyl chloride and selective formation of stable tetrylene–phosphinidenes **1** and **2** isolated in good yields as red and orange crystals, respectively. Their signals in the ³¹P NMR spectra (C₆D₆) appeared at 216.8 ppm (1) and 176.4 ppm (¹J(¹¹⁹Sn,P) = 1648 Hz) (**2**) lying downfield related to the starting material (δ (³¹P) = -129.5 ppm)¹⁴ and within the range reported for phosphagermenes (175–416 ppm) and phosphastannenes (170–204 ppm).¹ The ¹¹⁹Sn NMR spectrum of **2** showed a doublet at 1689.8 ppm (¹J(¹¹⁹Sn,P) = 1648 Hz), which falls into the region reported for *bis*(aryl)stannylenes (980–2323 ppm)¹⁵ and significantly downfield shifted related to phosphastannenes signals (499–658 ppm)² indicating pronounced tetrylene character of this compound. The ¹J(¹¹⁹Sn,P) coupling constant lies between the typical values for Sn–P single (ca. 1000 Hz) and double (2208–2295 Hz) bonds.²

Single crystal X-ray diffraction analysis revealed similar structural features of 1 and 2 (Figure 1). The bond angles



Figure 1. Molecular Structures of 1 (left) and 2 (right). Thermal ellipsoids are shown with 50% probability; hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity.

around the group 14 metals are very acute $(89.56(5)^{\circ}$ at Ge, and $86.69(6)^{\circ}$ at Sn) and close to those reported for (amido)tetrylenes (^{Mes}Ter)(NHDipp)Ge: $(88.6(2)^{\circ})^{16a}$ and (^{Mes}TerNH)₂E: $(88.6(2)^{\circ}$ at Ge, and $87.07(8)^{\circ}$ at Sn).^{16b}

The E–P bond distances in 1 (2.2364(6) Å) and 2 (2.4562(7) Å) are shorter than those in (aryl)(phosphido)-tetrylenes (^{Tipp}Ter)[(Me₃Si)₂P]E: (Ge–P: 2.291(4) Å, Sn–P: 2.527(1) Å; ^{Tipp}Ter = 2,4-(2,4,6-iPr₃C₆H₂)₂C₆H₃),^{5c} but very close to the bond lengths between a planar phosphorus of one of the phosphido ligands and a tetrylene atom in *bis*(phosphido)tetrylenes [(Dipp)₂P]₂E: (Ge–P_{(planar}): 2.2337(11) Å, Sn–P_{(planar}): 2.4458(8) Å).¹⁷ The Ge–P bond distance in 1 is also shorter than that in cyclic germylene VIII (2.247(2) Å),⁹ but longer than those in phosphagermenes R₂Ge=PR' (2.138(3)–2.1748(14) Å).² Altogether, this strongly suggests multiple bond character of the E–P bonds

Communication

in 1 and 2 due to the lone pair delocalization from the monovalent phosphorus into the vacant *p*-orbitals of the divalent germanium or tin atoms. It should be noted that so far reported related tetrylenes supported by P-donor ligands with two-coordinate phosphorus (except III and VIII) are limited to the examples with three-coordinate group 14 elements and intrinsic single E–P bonds (E = Si-Pb).¹⁸

To understand the bonding nature in 1 and 2 better, quantum chemical calculations were carried out using simplified model compounds 1a and 2a (2,6-Me₂C₆H₄ groups at N atoms). The optimized geometries at B3LYP-D3/def2-TZVP(ecp) level of theory showed good agreement with the experimental structural data. The highest occupied molecular orbitals (HOMOs) in both germanium and tin model compounds correspond to the respective σ (Ge–P) and σ (Sn–P) bonds, unlike to cyclic germylene VIII, where the HOMO is the π (Ge–P) orbital. The HOMO–1 of the germanium derivative 1a displays a π (E–P) symmetry and mainly located at the more electronegative phosphorus, while in the heavier analogue 2a it is mostly a phosphorus' p orbital (Figure 2A). Relatively low singlet-triplet gaps of 34.9 and



Figure 2. (A) HOMO and HOMO-1 in 1a and 2a; (B) resonance Lewis structures of 1 and 2.

34.2 kcal/mol were found for 1a and 2a, respectively at B3LYP-D3/def2-TZVPP(ecp) level of theory. The HOMO–LUMO separation of the germanium derivative is slightly higher than that of its tin congener (3.49 vs 3.34 eV). Wiberg bond indices (WBIs) of the E–P (1a: 1.300 2a: 1.063) and $C_{\rm NHC}$ –P bonds (1a: 1.122; 2a: 1.194) indicate a presence of partial double bond character.

Natural bond orbital (NBO) analysis of **1a** revealed the absence of a formal (natural) π (Ge–P) orbital, while secondorder perturbation theory (SOPT) unveiled strong electron donation from *s*-type lone pair at P (1.915e), as well as from the π and π^* (C_{NHC}–P) MOs (occupancies 1.672e and 0.398e, respectively) to a scarcely filled *p*-type orbital at Ge (0.398e), amounting altogether to 82.0 kcal/mol. Natural population analysis (NPA) indicates substantial net electron transfer from the NHC moiety to the phosphorus atoms (0.27e and 0.21e in **1a** and **2a**, respectively) suggesting significant dative bond character of the C_{NHC}–P bonds. Thus, the calculations suggest essential contribution of the resonance structure **B** into the ground state of these molecules, whereas the contribution of the structure **C** is not negligible and higher for the lighter germanium analogue (Figure 2B).

DOI: 10.1021/jacs.9b08741 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 14576-14580

Evidence for dative nature of the C_{NHC} –P bonds in 1 and 2 was also obtained from the analysis of the bond dissociation energies and using Bader's quantum theory of atoms in molecules (QTAIM).¹⁹

Further experimental study revealed inertness of complexes 1 and 2 toward small molecules (H_{2}, CO, CO_2) and equimolecular amounts of 1,3-dimethyl-1,3-butadiene, benzaldehyde, and pinacolborane. Surprisingly, reactions with diphenylketene Ph₂C=C=O afforded selectively the formal [2+2] cycloaddition products, heterocycles 3 and 4 (Scheme 2).

Scheme 2. Synthesis of Heterocycles 3 and 4



Spectroscopic evidence for reversible retro-cycloaddition was obtained after consecutive heating and cooling of the C_6D_6 solutions of 3 and 4. Similar reactivity is known for compounds with genuine Ge–P and Sn–P double bonds.²⁰ The mechanism for the formation of 3 and 4 was confirmed as concerted [2+2] cycloaddition by quantum chemical calculations using model compounds.¹⁹

Heterocycles 3 and 4 were isolated as pale yellow solids in good yields. They displayed very similar chemical shifts in the ³¹P NMR spectra (3: 18.2 ppm; 4: 20.2 ppm). The signal of 4 in the ¹¹⁹Sn NMR spectrum was observed as a doublet at 344.2 ppm (${}^{1}J({}^{119}\text{Sn},\text{P}) = 253 \text{ Hz}$).

Molecular structures of **3** and **4** were confirmed using single crystal X-ray diffraction analysis (Figure 3). The four-



Figure 3. Molecular Structures of 3 (left) and 4 (right). Thermal ellipsoids are shown with 50% probability; hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity).

membered rings in 3 and 4 are nonplanar, the bulky aryl and NHC ligands are *trans*-oriented. Both compounds contain elongated single E–P (Ge–P: 2.5319(14) Å; Sn–P: 2.7299(10) Å) and E–O (Ge–O: 1.946(4) Å; Sn–O: 2.126(2) Å) bonds exceeding the sum of covalent radii of the corresponding atoms.^{21,22}

Catalytic application of low-valent group 14 element compounds is an emerging field of main group chemistry.¹ Only few examples of catalytic hydroboration of carbonyl compounds using tetrylenes (neutral species) are reported to date.^{23,24} Our preliminary study on catalytic application of complexes 1 and 2 revealed high activity of the latter in hydroboration of aromatic aldehydes and ketones with pinacolborane (Table 1).

Communication

Table 1. Hydroboration of Aldehydes or Ketones RC(O)R' with Pinacolborane, Catalyzed by 2 or 1^a

R	R'	Cat.	Loading, mol %	Time, h	Conv., %
Ph	н	2	0.05	< 0.3	50 ^b
Ph	н	2	0.1	< 0.25	>99
4-MeOPh	н	2	0.1	5	75 ^c
Ph	Me	2	0.05	0.3	>99
Ph	Ph	2	0.5	2.5	>99
Ph	Н	1	4	3	67 ^c
Ph	Н	(IDipp)PH	5	3	47 ^c

^aReaction conditions: RC(O)R' (0.5 mmol), HBpin (0.55 mmol), C_6D_6 (0.4 mL), ambient temperature. Catalyst loading relative to a carbonyl substrate. ^bNo further conversion was observed. ^cFull reaction time was not estimated.

Benzaldehyde reduction in the presence of 0.1 mol % of 2 was completed in 15 min and in a few minutes using 2 mol % of the catalyst. Reduction of acetophenone in the presence of only 0.05 mol % of 2 led to full conversion within 30 min. All reductions in the presence of 2 are selective and clean. Catalytic activity of the germanium analogue 1 appeared to be significantly lower than that of 2 (Table 1). Interestingly, comparable acceleration of the benzaldehyde reduction was also observed in the presence of 5 mol % of (IDipp)PH.

Finally, we attempted to remove the NHC from 1 and 2 using *tris*(pentafluorophenyl)borane (BCF) as a strong Lewis acid, but no formation of (IDipp)B(C₆F₅)₃ adduct was observed for both reactions after heating at 65 °C. Instead, reaction of 1 gave an unstable product (δ (³¹P) = -111.5 ppm, δ (¹¹B) = -15.2 ppm, C₆D₆), while providing a stable adduct 5 in the case of 2 (Scheme 3).^{25,26}

Scheme 3. Synthesis of Phosphastannene 5



Structural analysis of the single crystals revealed phosphastannene 5 (Figure 4) showing a planar geometry at the tin atom (sum of the bond angles is 359.9°). Compared to 2, the



Figure 4. Molecular structure of 5 (thermal ellipsoids are shown with 50% probability; hydrogen atoms are omitted for clarity).

DOI: 10.1021/jacs.9b08741 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 14576–14580

14578

 $C_{\rm NHC}$ –P bond in 5 (1.816 (3) Å) is elongated, while the Sn–P bond distance (2.3450(10) Å) is substantially shorter (4.5%) indicating a double bonding character. To the best of our knowledge, this is the shortest Sn–P bond distance reported to date.

Due to the unique "push–pull" zwitterionic structure, phosphorus and tin nuclei in **5** are significantly shielded compared to those in the starting material and known aryl phosphastannenes. Unusual high-field resonances at $\delta^{(31}P) = -93.05 \text{ ppm } ({}^{1}J_{\text{Sat}}({}^{119}\text{Sn},\text{P}) = 3046 \text{ Hz}, {}^{1}J_{\text{Sat}}({}^{117}\text{Sn},\text{P}) = 2919 \text{ Hz}$) and $\delta^{(119}\text{Sn}) = 152.2 \text{ ppm } ({}^{1}J^{(119}\text{Sn},\text{P}) = 3069 \text{ Hz})$ were observed in the ${}^{31}P$ and ${}^{119}\text{Sn}$ NMR spectra (tetrahydrofuran- d_8). The ${}^{1}J({}^{119/117}\text{Sn},\text{P})$ coupling constants are significantly greater than those reported for two known phosphastannenes (2295/2191 and 2208/2110 \text{ Hz}).²

The density functional theory calculations at the B3LYP-D3/def2-TZVPP(ecp) level support a presence of a weak Sn=P double bond in **5a** with WBI = 1.170. The HOMO is located at fluorinated aromatic rings, while the HOMO-1 and LUMO are essentially p_z atomic orbitals at phosphorus and tin atoms, respectively.

In conclusion, we described the synthesis and electronic structure of germylene, and stannylene–phosphinidenes stabilized by NHC at the phosphorus atom. These compounds contain reactive P-E bonds (E = Ge, Sn), and open an access to zwitterionic heavier imine analogues, as was demonstrated for the tin derivative. Notably, the latter showed high catalytic activity in the hydroboration of aromatic aldehydes and ketones, drastically different to that of the germanium congener. Further coordination chemistry and catalytic applications are currently under investigation.

ASSOCIATED CONTENT

S Supporting Information

The Supporting Information is available free of charge on the ACS Publications website at DOI: 10.1021/jacs.9b08741.

Full synthetic and characterizing data for new compounds, representative NMR spectra, details of computational studies (PDF)

Crystallographic data (CCDC Compound 1: 1946724, Compound 2: 1946725, Compound 3: 1946726, Compound 4: 1946727, Compound 5: 1946728) (CIF)

AUTHOR INFORMATION

Corresponding Author

*s.inoue@tum.de

ORCID 6

Franziska Hanusch: 0000-0002-9509-194X Arturo Espinosa Ferao: 0000-0003-4452-0430 Shigeyoshi Inoue: 0000-0001-6685-6352

Notes

The authors declare no competing financial interest.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We gratefully acknowledge financial support from the European Research Council (SILION 637394) and WACKER Chemie AG. We thank Dr. Philipp Altmann for SC-XRD analysis of $\mathbf{2}$, and Debotra Sarkar M. Sc. for providing $[^{\text{Mes}}\text{TerGeCl}]_2$.

REFERENCES

(1) (a) Power, P. P. Main-Group Elements as Transition Metals. Nature 2010, 463, 171. (b) Chu, T.; Nikonov, G. I. Oxidative Addition and Reductive Elimination at Main-Group Element Centers. Chem. Rev. 2018, 118, 3608–3680. (c) Hadlington, T. J.; Driess, M.; Jones, C. Low-valent group 14 element hydride chemistry: towards catalysis. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2018, 47, 4176–4197. (d) Weetman, C.; Inoue, S. The Road Travelled: After Main-Group Elements as

Communication

Transition Metals. ChemCatChem 2018, 10, 4213-4228. (2) Lee, V. Y., Sekiguchi, A. Organometallic Compounds of Low-Coordinate Si, Ge, Sn and Pb: From Phantom Species to Stable Compounds; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: Chichester, 2010.

(3) (a) Lai, C.-H.; Su, M.-D.; Chu, S.-Y. Effects of First-Row Substituents on Silicon-Phosphorus Triple Bonds. *Inorg. Chem.* 2002, 41, 1320-1322. (b) Hu, Y.-H.; Su, M.-D. Substituent effect on relative stabilities of the phosphorus and tin multiple bonds. *Chem. Phys. Lett.* 2003, 378, 289-298. (c) Chen, C.-H.; Su, M.-D. Theoretical Design of Silicon-Phosphorus Triple Bonds: A Density Functional Study. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* 2008, 2008, 1241-1247. (d) Devarajan, D.; Frenking, G. Are They Linear, Bent, or Cyclic? Quantum Chemical Investigation of the Heavier Group 14 and Group 15 Homologues of HCN and HNC. *Chem. - Asian J.* 2012, 7, 1296-1311.

(4) Parent phosphasilenylidene HP = Si:, as well as Mes*P = Si(IDipp), an aryl derivative stabilized at silicon, are reported, see: (a) Lattanzi, V.; Thorwirth, S.; Halfen, D. T.; Mück, L. A.; Ziurys, L. M.; Thaddeus, P.; Gauss, J.; McCarthy, M. C. Bonding in the Heavy Analogue of Hydrogen Cyanide: The Curious Case of Bridged HPSi. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2010**, 49, 5661–5664. (b) Geiß, D.; Arz, M. I.; Straßmann, M.; Schnakenburg, G.; Filippou, A. C. Si = P Double Bonds: Experimental and Theoretical Study of an NHC-Stabilized Phosphasilenylidene. *Angew. Chem.* **2015**, *127*, 2777–2782. (c) Nesterov, V.; Breit, N. C.; Inoue, S. Advances in Phosphasilene Chemistry. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2017**, *23*, 12014–12039.

(5) (a) Ionkin, A. S.; Marshall, W. J. Synthesis and Unusual Thermal Behavior of (Lithium phosphino/amino) Difluorosilanes. Organometallics 2003, 22, 4136–4144. (b) Pietschnig, R.; Orthaber, A. Towards Heteronuclear Triple Bonds Involving Silicon or Germanium. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem. 2011, 186, 1361–1363.
(c) Johnson, B. P.; Almstätter, S.; Dielmann, F.; Bodensteiner, M.; Scheer, M. Synthesis and Reactivity of Low-Valent Group 14 Element Compounds Z. Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2010, 636, 1275–1285.
(d) Hinz, A.; Goicoechea, J. M. Limitations of Steric Bulk: Towards Phospha-germynes and Phospha-stannynes. Chem. - Eur. J. 2018, 24, 7358–7363.

(6) (a) Inoue, S.; Wang, W.; Präsang, C.; Asay, M.; Irran, E.; Driess, M. An Ylide-like Phosphasilene and Striking Formation of a 4π -Electron, Resonance-Stabilized 2,4-Disila-1,3-diphosphacyclobutadiene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2011, 133, 2868–2871. (b) Sen, S. S.; Khan, S.; Roesky, H. W.; Kratzert, D.; Meindl, K.; Henn, J.; Stalke, D.; Demers, J.-P.; Lange, A. Zwitterionic Si-C-Si-P and Si-P-Si-P Four-Membered Rings with Two-Coordinate Phosphorus Atoms. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 2322–2325. (c) Seitz, A. E.; Eckhardt, M.; Erlebach, A.; Peresypkina, E. V.; Sierka, M.; Scheer, M. Pnictogen– Silicon Analogues of Benzene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2016, 138, 10433–10436.

(7) (a) Yao, S.; Xiong, Y.; Szilvási, T.; Grützmacher, H.; Driess, M. From a Phosphaketenyl-Functionalized Germylene to 1,3-Digerma-2,4-diphosphacyclobutadiene. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2016**, *55*, 4781– 4785. (b) Wu, Y.; Liu, L.; Su, J.; Zhu, J.; Ji, Z.; Zhao, Y. Isolation of a Heavier Cyclobutadiene Analogue: 2,4-Digerma-1,3-diphosphacyclobutadiene. *Organometallics* **2016**, *35*, 1593–1596.

(8) Xiong, Y.; Yao, S.; Szilvási, T.; Ballestero-Martínez, E.; Grützmacher, H.; Driess, M. Unexpected Photodegradation of a Phosphaketenyl-Substituted Germyliumylidene Borate Complex. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 4333–4336.

(9) (a) Del Rio, N.; Baceiredo, A.; Saffon-Merceron, N.; Hashizume,
 D.; Lutters, D.; Müller, T.; Kato, T. A Stable Heterocyclic

14579

DOI: 10.1021/jacs.9b08741 J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 14576--14580

Amino(phosphanylidene- σ 4-phosphorane) Germylene. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2016, 55, 4753–4758.

(10) Nesterov, V.; Reiter, D.; Bag, P.; Frisch, P.; Holzner, R.; Porzelt, A.; Inoue, S. NHCs in Main Group Chemistry. *Chem. Rev.* **2018**, *118*, 9678–9842.

(11) Wendel, D.; Reiter, D.; Porzelt, A.; Altmann, P. J.; Inoue, S.; Rieger, B. Silicon and Oxygen's Bond of Affection: An Acyclic Three-Coordinate Silanone and Its Transformation to an Iminosiloxysilylene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2017, 139, 17193–17198. (b) Wendel, D.; Szilvási, T.; Henschel, D.; Altmann, P. J.; Jandl, C.; Inoue, S.; Rieger, B. Precise Activation of Ammonia and Carbon Dioxide by an Iminodisilene. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. 2018, 57, 14575–14579 and references therein; . (c) Ochiai, T.; Franz, D.; Inoue, S. Applications of N-heterocyclic imines in main group chemistry. Chem. Soc. Rev. 2016, 45, 6327–6344.

(12) (a) Krachko, T.; Slootweg, J. C. N-Heterocyclic Carbene– Phosphinidene Adducts: Synthesis, Properties, and Applications. *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2018**, 2734–2754. (b) Doddi, A.; Peters, M.; Tamm, M. N-Heterocyclic Carbene Adducts of Main Group Elements and Their Use as Ligands in Transition Metal Chemistry. *Chem. Rev.* **2019**, *119*, 6994–7112.

(13) Simons, R. S.; Pu, L.; Olmstead, M. M.; Power, P. P. Synthesis and Characterization of the Monomeric Diaryls $M\{C_6H_3-2,6-Mes_2\}_2$ (M = Ge, Sn, or Pb; Mes = 2,4,6-Me₃C₆H₂-) and Dimeric Aryl–Metal Chlorides $[M(Cl)\{C_6H_3-2,6-Mes_2\}]_2$ (M = Ge or Sn). Organometallics **1997**, *16*, 1920–1925.

(14) Doddi, A.; Bockfeld, D.; Bannenberg, T.; Jones, P. G.; Tamm, M. N-Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidyne Transition Metal Complexes. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 13568–13572.

(15) Mizuhata, Y.; Sasamori, T.; Tokitoh, N. Stable Heavier Carbene Analogues. *Chem. Rev.* **2009**, *109*, 3479–3511.

(16) (a) Usher, M.; Protchenko, A. V.; Rit, A.; Campos, J.; Kolychev, E. L.; Tirfoin, R.; Aldridge, S. A Systematic Study of Structure and E–H Bond Activation Chemistry by Sterically Encumbered Germylene Complexes. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 11685–11698. (b) Merrill, W. A.; Wright, R. J.; Stanciu, C. S.; Olmstead, M. M.; Fettinger, J. C.; Power, P. P. Synthesis and Structural Characterization of a Series of Dimeric Metal(II) Imido Complexes { $M(\mu$ -NAr[#])}₂ [M = Ge, Sn, Pb; Ar[#] = C₆H₃-2,6-(C₆H₂-2,4,6-Me₃)₂] and the Related Monomeric Primary Amido Derivatives $M{N(H)Ar^{#}_{2} (M = Ge, Sn, Pb): Spectroscopic Manifestations of$ Secondary Metal–Ligand Interactions.*Inorg. Chem.***2010**,*49*, 7097–7105.

(17) (a) Izod, K.; Rayner, D. G.; El-Hamruni, S. M.; Harrington, R. W.; Baisch, U. Stabilization of a Diphosphagermylene through $p\pi - p\pi$ Interactions with a Trigonal-Planar Phosphorus Center. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2014**, 53, 3636–3640. (b) Izod, K.; Evans, P.; Waddell, P. G.; Probert, M. R. Remote Substituent Effects on the Structures and Stabilities of P = E π -Stabilized Diphosphatetrylenes (R₂P)₂E (E = Ge, Sn). *Inorg. Chem.* **2016**, 55, 10510–10522.

(18) (a) Kundu, S.; Sinhababu, S.; Siddiqui, M. M.; Luebben, A. V.; Dittrich, B.; Yang, T.; Frenking, G.; Roesky, H. W. Comparison of Two Phosphinidenes Binding to Silicon(IV)dichloride as well as to Silylene. J. Am. Chem. Soc. **2018**, 140, 9409–9412. (b) Kundu, S.; Li, B.; Kretsch, J.; Herbst-Irmer, R.; Andrada, D. M.; Frenking, G.; Stalke, D.; Roesky, H. W. An Electrophilic Carbene-Anchored Silylene– Phosphinidene. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. **2017**, 56, 4219–4223. (c) Yao, S.; Block, S.; Brym, M.; Driess, M. A new type of heteroleptic complex of divalent lead and synthesis of the P-plumbyleniophosphasilene, R₂Si = P-Pb(L): (L = β -diketiminate). Chem. Commun. **2007**, 3844– 3846. (d) Balmer, M.; Weigend, F.; von Hänisch, C. Low-Valent Group 14 NHC-Stabilized Phosphinidenide ate Complexes and NHC-Stabilized K/P-Clusters. Chem. - Eur, J. **2019**, 25, 4914–4919. (19) For detailed discussion, see the Supporting Information.

(12) For declared discussion, see the Supporting Information.
(20) (a) Ranaivonjatovo, H.; Escudie, J.; Couret, C.; Rodi, A. K.;
Satge, J. Synthesis and Reactivity of New Germa- and Stannaphosphenes. *Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.* 1993, *76*, 61–64.
(b) Rodi, A. K.; Anselme, G.; Ranaivonjatovo, H.; Escudié, J. Reaction of Stannenes and Phosphastannenes with Aldehydes and Ketones:

New Tin Four-Membered Ring Derivatives. Chem. Heterocycl. Compd. 1999, 35, 965–972.

(21) Pyykkö, P.; Atsumi, M. Molecular Double-Bond Covalent Radii for Elements Li–E112. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2009**, *15*, 12770–12779.

(22) These bond distances are comparable to those in fourmembered C_2PE heterocycles (E = Ge, Sn) with four-coordinate phosphorus regarded as intramolecular FLPs: (a) Schneider, J.; Krebs, K. M.; Freitag, S.; Eichele, K.; Schubert, H.; Wesemann, L. Intramolecular Tetrylene Lewis Adducts: Synthesis and Reactivity. *Chem. - Eur. J.* **2016**, *22*, 9812–9826. (b) Freitag, S.; Krebs, K. M.; Henning, J.; Hirdler, J.; Schubert, H.; Wesemann, L. Stanylene-Based Lewis Pairs. *Organometallics* **2013**, *32*, 6785–6791.

(23) (a) Hadlington, T. J.; Hermann, M.; Frenking, G.; Jones, C. Low Coordinate Germanium(II) and Tin(II) Hydride Complexes: Efficient Catalysts for the Hydroboration of Carbonyl Compounds. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2014, 136, 3028–3031. (b) Hadlington, T. J.; Kefalidis, C. E.; Maron, L.; Jones, C. Efficient Reduction of Carbon Dioxide to Methanol Equivalents Catalyzed by Two-Coordinate Amido–Germanium(II) and – Tin(II) Hydride Complexes. ACS Catal. 2017, 7, 1853–1859.

(24) (a) Wu, Y.; Shan, C.; Sun, Y.; Chen, P.; Ying, J.; Zhu, J.; Liu, L.; Zhao, Y. Main group metal-ligand cooperation of N-heterocyclic germylene: an efficient catalyst for hydroboration of carbonyl compounds. *Chem. Commun.* **2016**, *52*, 13799–13802. (b) Dasgupta, R.; Das, S.; Hiwase, S.; Pati, S. K.; Khan, S. N-Heterocyclic Germylene and Stannylene Catalyzed Cyanosilylation and Hydroboration of Aldehydes. *Organometallics* **2019**, *38*, 1429–1435.

(25) Addition of BCF to germylene **VIII**: Del Rio, N.; Lopez-Reyes, M.; Baceiredo, A.; Saffon-Merceron, N.; Lutters, D.; Müller, T.; Kato, T. N,P-Heterocyclic Germylene/ $B(C_6F_5)_3$ Adducts: A Lewis Pair with Multi-reactive Sites. *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.* **2017**, *56*, 1365–1370.

(26) Similar type of nucleophilic aromatic substitution: (a) Stephan, D. W. Discovery of Frustrated Lewis Pairs: Intermolecular FLPs for Activation of Small Molecules. In *Frustrated Lewis Pairs 1: Uncovering* and Understanding; Erker, G., Stephan, D. W., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013; pp 1–44. (b) Kolychev, E. L.; Theuergarten, E.; Tamm, M. N-Heterocyclic Carbenes in FLP Chemistry. In *Frustrated Lewis Pairs II: Expanding the Scope*; Erker, G., Stephan, D. W., Eds.; Springer: Berlin, Heidelberg, 2013; pp 121–155.

6. Application of ferrocene-bridged *N*-heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis-phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation

Title:	"Application of ferrocene-bridged <i>N</i> -heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis- phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation" ^[141]				
Status:	Article, published online: September 27 th , 2021				
Journal:	Dalton Transactions 2021, 50, 14842–14848.				
Publisher:	Royal Society of Chemistry				
DOI:	10.1039/d1dt03016g				
Authors:	Ramona Baierl, Arseni Kostenko, Franziska Hanusch, and Shigeyoshi Inoue ^a				

Reprinted with permission of the Royal Society of Chemistry. ® 2022 Royal Society of Chemistry

^aR. Baierl planned and executed all experiments and wrote the manuscript. A. Kostenko performed the theoretical calculation and wrote the theoretical part of the manuscript. F. Hanusch conducted SC–XRD measurements and processed the respective data. All work was done under the supervision of S. Inoue.

Content: Newly synthesized bidentate NHCP ligands proved to successfully stabilize various Sn(II) halides as well as Sn(II) bistriflate. The stannyliumylidenes showed reactivity in transmetallation to a CuCl complex as well as Sn(II) transfer to a bisNHI ligand.

Despite the discovery of *N*–heterocyclic carbene–phosphinidenes in 1997 by Arduengo, this compound class has only lately found broad application in transition metal as well as main group chemistry. Until recently only monodentate NHCP ligands have been known. This paper presents the second example of a bisNHCP ligand using a ferrocene backbone, synthesized from treatment of 1,1'–bis(dichloro–phosphine)ferrocene and NHC (IMes or ^{Me}IMes) followed by reductive dehalogenation with sodium naphthanenide. SC–XRD analysis of the two ligands revealed a shortened P–C bond accounting for a double bond character, which was verified by theoretical calculations. NBO analysis shows a σ – and a π –bond between the phosphorus atom and the NHC with a Wiberg bond index (WBI) of 1.29. Treatment of the bisNHCP ligands

6. Application of ferrocene–bridged N–heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis–phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation

with different SnX₂ (with X = Cl, Br, I, OTf) compounds shows successful complexation and stabilization of the Sn(II) moieties. All complexes are analyzed *via* multinuclear NMR spectroscopy as well as mass spectrometry. The SnI₂ complex bearing a methylated backbone bisNHCP ligand was successfully crystallized and analyzed *via* SC–XRD. The complex shows elongated P–C bonds compared to the free ligand. Reactivity investigations demonstrated a transmetallation from the SnI₂ complex to the CuCl complex. Additionally, Sn(II) transfer from the bisNHCP ligand to a bisNHI ligand is possible.

6. Application of ferrocene–bridged N–heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis–phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation

Dalton Transactions

PAPER



Cite this: Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842

Application of ferrocene-bridged N-heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis-phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation†

Ramona Baierl, Arseni Kostenko, 💿 Franziska Hanusch 💿 and Shigeyoshi Inoue 💿 *

Received 6th September 2021, Accepted 27th September 2021 DOI: 10.1039/d1dt03016g rsc.li/dalton Two new bidentate ferrocene-bridged bis(N-heterocyclic carbene-phospinidenes) (bisNHCPs) were successfully isolated by treating 1,1'-bis-(dichlorophosphine)ferrocene with N-heterocyclic carbenes, followed by dechlorination using sodium naphthalenide. The bisNHCPs were used in complexation of various Sn(II) halides and Sn(II) bistriflate (SnX₂ with X = Cl, Br, I, OTf). Transmetalation to a CuCl complex and Sn(III) transfer to a bisimine was performed to investigate the stannyliumylidenes' reactivity.

Introduction

Phosphinidenes (R-P:) are low valent phosphorus compounds, which can be considered as the phosphorus analogues of carbenes (R₂C:).¹ Free phosphinidenes are highly reactive species, even in comparison to carbenes, and isolation of the first stable phosphinidene was only accomplished in 2016 by Bertrand and coworkers.² Before that their isolation needed stabilisation via additional donor molecules e.g. N-heterocyclic carbenes (NHCs) forming N-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidene adducts (NHCPs).³⁻⁶ Since their discovery by Arduengo et al. in 1997 NHCPs have found broad application in transition metal and main group chemistry.^{5,7-13} NHCPs can be considered as inversely polarised phosphaalkenes featuring two electron pairs at the phosphorus centre, demonstrated by the canonical forms A and A' (Chart 1). Treatment of IMes-PPh (A for R = Mes, R' = Ph) with 2 eq. of BH_3 ·THF resulted in the P-bonded bis(borane) adduct, indicating the dominance of canonical forms A and A'.6,14 Recently, the first bis(NHCP) compound, featuring a xanthene backbone (XantPP), was isolated and its coordination ability as a bidentate ligand was demonstrated on element dihalides, forming stannyliumylidene H (Chart 3), beyond others.¹⁵

In this work we set out to study the more flexible ferrocene backbone, which can lead to reduced distance between the NHCP moieties and enhance the chelating properties of the bis(NHCP). In general, ferrocene allows for synthetically straight forward introduction of various substituents. The flexi-

Department of Chemistry, Catalysis Research Center and Institute of Silicon Chemistry, Technische Universität München, Lichtenbergstraße 4,

14842 | Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848

bility of the resulting chelating ligands and the ability of the ferrocene bridge to undergo one-electron oxidation, renders this backbone an attractive option for coordination and redox chemistry.16-18 While group 15 substituted ferrocenes are well established ligands in catalysis,19-24 the first bis(silylenyl) and bis(germylenyl)-substituted ferrocenes B were introduced by Driess in 2012 (Chart 2).25 The corresponding bis(silylene)-CpCo complex was demonstrated to catalyse [2 + 2 + 2] cycloaddition reactions. Using bis(silylenyl)-substituted ferrocenes B, the same group additionally isolated a bis(NHSi)-stabilised η^6 (arene) Fe⁰ complex and showed its application in catalytic hydrogenation of ketones.²⁶ Going towards the heavier tetrels, the groups of Tokitoh and Sasamori isolated, among other ferrocenyl-substituted group 14 compounds,²⁷⁻²⁹ the redox-active bis(ferrocenyl)germylene C stabilised by a bulky ferrocene derivative (Chart 2).30 Further examples of ferrocenebased tetrylenes are the redox active complexes D isolated by Siemeling et al. (Chart 2)³¹⁻³⁴ and a stannylene reported by Wesemann et al.35 In all these cases, ferrocene-based complexes have shown to successfully stabilise low valent compounds kinetically as well as electronically. Diaconescu et al. additionally proved stabilization of different ferrocene diamide metal complexes via iron-metal donor-acceptor interaction.36,37 However, tetryliumylidene complexes featuring a ferrocene-based ligand remained unknown up to our knowledge.

ROYAL SOCIETY OF CHEMISTRY

View Article Online



Chart 1 Canonical forms of N-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidenes.

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

⁸⁵⁷⁴⁸ Garching bei München, Germany. E-mail: s.inoue@tum.de

 $[\]dagger$ Electronic supplementary information (ESI) available. CCDC 2105598–2105600 for 3a, 3b, and 5c. For ESI and crystallographic data in CIF or other electronic format see DOI: 10.1039/d1dt03016g

Dalton Transactions



Chart 2 Selected examples of ferrocene-based tetrylenes B-D (Dip = 2,6-diisopropylphenyl, Mes = 2,4,6-trimethylphenyl, Dtp = 3,5-di-*tert*-butylphenyl).

Tetryliumylidenes feature a unique structure with a positive charge and a free electron pair and can be considered to be related to tetrylenes as well as tetrylium ions.^{38,39} The chemistry of stannyliumylidene ions commenced with the initial isolation of $[(\eta^5-C_5Me_5)Sn]^+[BF_4]^-$ in 1980.⁴⁰ Later different stannylium-ylidenes and chloro-stannyliumylidenes like **E–H** were synthesised (Chart 3).^{41–48} Chloro-substituted stannylium-ylidenes [:SnCl]⁺ have attracted attention, since they are easily functionalised by either halide abstraction and substitution to yield modified stannyliumylidene derivatives [R'Sn:]⁺ or reduction to Sn(0).^{49–51}

Herein we report the synthesis of a new bidentate bisNHCP ligand bridged by a flexible and redox-active ferrocene backbone. The ligand was applied in stabilisation of stannyliumylidene ions and their potential in transmetalation and Sn(n) transfer reaction was explored.

Results and discussion

Synthesis of BisNHCPs

The ferrocene-bridged bisNHCP was synthesised by an approach analogous to the one described by Bertrand and co-workers.⁵² 1,1'-Bis(dichloro-phosphine)ferrocene (1) was



Chart 3 Selected examples of halogen-substituted stannyliumylidenes.

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

treated with 2 eq. NHC forming intermediate 2, followed by direct reductive dechlorination using 4 eq. sodium naph-thalenide (NaNaph). Using either 1,3-bis(2,4,6-trimethyl-phenyl)imidazol-2-ylidene (IMes) or 1,3-bis(2,4,6-trimethyl-phenyl)-[4,5dimethylimidazol]-2-ylidene (MeIMes), two diff-erent sterically demanding bisNHCPs (3a and 3b) were isolated in 25% and 47% yield, respectively (Scheme 1). Compounds 3a and 3b were characterised by multinuclear NMR, single-crystal X-ray diffraction (SC-XRD) analysis, and LIFDI-MS (liquid injection field desorption ionization mass spectrometry) (see ESI Fig. S1-8 and S59, 60[†]). 3a shows a ³¹P NMR shift of -56.98 ppm while 3b has a slightly upfield shifted signal at -59.76 ppm accounting for the electronical impact of the methylated backbone. These ³¹P NMR signals are high-field shifted in comparison to typical, non-polarised phosphaalkenes ($\delta = 230-420$ ppm)⁵³ but show similar shifts compared to NHC stabilised phosphinidenes ((NHC)PPh: $\delta = -10.2$ to -61.2 ppm; XantPP: $\delta = -77.2$ ppm).^{15,54}

Compounds **3a** and **3b** were crystallised from a concentrated Et₂O solution at -35 °C forming orange-yellow crystals. SC-XRD analysis confirmed the molecular structure of both bisNHCPs (Fig. 1). The P–C_{Carbene} bond lengths of **3a** are slightly shorter compared to **3b** indicating a more pronounced double bond character. In comparison to XantPP (P–C_{Carbene} bond lengths.¹⁵

In order to get an insight into the electronic and structural properties of the bisNHCPs **3a** and **3b**, calculations at the B3PW91-D3 level of theory were carried out. Details about basis sets and the employed computational methods are given in the ESI.† In **3a**, the nearly degenerate HOMO and HOMO–1 correspond to the π -type lone pairs of the phosphinidene moieties, and the almost degenerate HOMO–5 and HOMO–6 correspond to the σ -type lone pairs at the phosphorus atoms that are conjugated with the π system of the cyclopentadienyl



Scheme 1 Synthesis of 3a and 3b in a two-step procedure from 1,1'-bis-(dichloro-phosphine)ferrocene (1).

Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848 | 14843

View Article Online

Paper

Paper



Fig. 1 Molecular structure of bisNHCP **3a** (left) and **3b** (right). Translational ellipsoids are plotted at the 50% probability level. For reasons of clarity, hydrogens are omitted and mesityl groups are depicted in wireframe models. Selected bond lengths (Å) and angles (°): **3a** P1-C1 1.731(10), P2-C4 1.808(10), P1-C43 1.863(10), P2-C53 1.803 (10), C1-N1/2 1.410(12)/1.390(13), C4-N3/4 1.366(12)/1.357(12), C1-P1-C43 102.6(4), C4-P2-C53 103.6(4); **3b** P1-C1 1.7696(18), P2-C4 1.7704 (19), P1-C43 1.8319(16), P2-C48 1.8220(17), C1-N1/2 1.3766(19)/1.372 (2), C4-N3/4 1.375(2)/1.377(2), C1-P1-C43 103.33(8), C4-P2-C48 102.92(8).

rings (Fig. 2). According to the NBO analysis, this is due to weak donor–acceptor interactions between the σ -type lone pairs of phosphorus atoms (LP(P¹) and LP(P²)) and the $\pi^*(C-C)$ orbitals of the adjacent carbons of the cyclopentadienyl rings (Fig. 3). NBO analysis shows that the σ -type lone pairs retain occupancy of 1.94 el., while the phosphinidene–carbene interactions are interpreted as σ and π bonds between the phosphorus atom and the NHC that total to Wiberg bond index (WBI) of 1.29 accounting for a predominance of canonical structure **A**". For consistency, in this article in all complexes the C–P bond is depicted according to **A**". The interpretation of the π -type lone pairs as π (P–C) bonds with occupancy of 1.95 el. is attributed to the strong interactions between the phosphinidene π -type lone pairs and the empty p orbitals of the carbene carbons.

Both SC-XRD and DFT optimised structures of 3a, show alignment of the mesityl substituents of the NHCs and the



Fig. 2 Selected molecular orbitals of 3a.

14844 | Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848



View Article Online

Fig. 3 Selected NBO of 3a showing the σ -type lone pairs of the phosphinidene centres and the σ (C–P) and π (C–P) orbitals.

cyclopentadienyl rings of the ferrocene, indicating the presence of sandwich π - π stacking interactions. In fact, quantum theory of atom in molecules (QTAIM) molecular graph (Fig. 4) displays interactions between the mesityls and the cyclopentadienyl rings, showing four (3, -1) critical points with electron density ρ of 0.005, 0.011, 0.006, 0.011 e Bohr⁻³ and Laplacian of electron density $\nabla^2 \rho$ 0.015, 0.033, 0.018, 0.033 e Bohr⁻⁵ respectively.

Application of the novel bisNHCPs in the synthesis of SnX_2 complexes (with X = Cl, Br, I, OTf) resulted in the direct formation of the air-sensitive stannyliumylidenes **4a–d** and **5a–d** (Scheme 2). In contrast to SnX_2 with X = Br, I, and OTf, treatment with $SnCl_2$ ·dioxane afforded full conversion of the bisNHCP adding 2 eq. $SnCl_2$ ·dioxane, due to the preferred autoionization forming the trichlorostannate anion $SnCl_3^-$. All



Fig. 4 QTAIM molecular graph of 3a.

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

Dalton Transactions



complexes were characterised by multinuclear NMR and LIFDI-MS (see ESI Fig. S9 and 50^{+}).

The complexes 4a-d and 5a-d show an expected downfield shift in the ³¹P NMR (Table 1) in comparison to the free bisNHCPs 3a and 3b indicating an electron donation from the phosphorus to the electron deficient Sn(II) centre. The ¹¹⁹Sn NMR shows a triplet resulting from the coupling of the tin centre to the two phosphorus atoms with a coupling constant of ${}^{1}J_{Sn,P}$ = 1249 to 1301 Hz, being in the range of Sn–P single bonds.55 Compared to previous reported stannylium-ylidenes (¹¹⁹Sn NMR E: δ = -445.2 ppm (R = H) and -435.1 ppm (R = Me), F: $\delta = -330.4$ ppm, G: $\delta = -240.42$ ppm) a pronounced downfield shift is observed in the ¹¹⁹Sn NMR. Since no ¹¹⁹Sn NMR shift is given for the only reported bisphosphinidene stabilised stannyliumylidene H, a comparison as well as related discussion is not possible here. However, examination of ${}^{1}J_{Sn,P}$ coupling constants in the ${}^{31}P$ NMR of **H** and herein reported stannyliumylidenes revealed a similar range with higher values in our reported stannyliumylidenes (H: ${}^{1}J^{119}{}_{\mathrm{Sn,P}}$ = 860 Hz, ${}^{1}J^{117}{}_{\text{Sn,P}}$ = 1038 Hz; **4c,d**/**5c,d**: ${}^{1}J^{119}{}_{\text{Sn,P}}$ = 1189–1211 Hz, ${}^{1}J^{117}{}_{\text{Sn,P}}$ = 1252–1268 Hz).

View Article Online

Paper

Crystallisation from a concentrated THF solution at -35 °C gave crystals of **5c**, suitable for SC-XRD analysis (Fig. 5). **5c** crystallises in the monoclinic space group *P*21/*c*. The structure shows a trigonal pyramidal coordinated Sn(II) cation with Sn–P bond lengths of 2.645(5)/2.659(4) Å. In comparison to the bisNHCP **3b**, the P–C_{Carbene} bond lengths are elongated (**3b**: P1–C1 1.7696(18), P2–C4 1.7704(19), **5c**: P1–C1 1.824(4), P2–C4 1.828(4)), accounting for predominant canonical structures **4**/5 and **4**/5'.

The calculated free energy for complexation of SnI_2 by **3b** to form **5c**, using the CPCM solvation model, is -48.5 kcal mol⁻¹. Calculations show that the relative affinity of the ferrocenebridged bisNHCP **3b** toward SnI^+ is by 7.5 kcal mol⁻¹ higher than that of xanthene-bridged bisNHCP **H**. The optimised structure and the molecular orbitals of **5c** are presented in Fig. 6. The HOMO corresponds mainly to the lone pair of the Sn centre. The bonding HOMO–1 corresponds to the bonding interaction between the phosphinidene moieties and the tin centre (WBI for Sn–P1 and Sn–P2 is 0.77 and 0.78, respectively). According to the NBO analysis the phosphinidene centres retain their σ -lone pairs and HOMO–4 corresponds to the σ -lone pairs interacting with the empty 5p orbitals of Sn.



Fig. 5 Molecular structure of Snl₂ complex 5c. Translational ellipsoids are set to 50% probability level. For reasons of clarity, hydrogens and the counter ion are omitted and mesityl groups are depicted in wireframe models. Selected bond lengths [Å] and angles [°]: P1–Sn1 2.645(5), P2–Sn1 2.659(4), P1–C1 1.824(4), P2–C4 1.828(4), P1–C43 1.809(4), P2–C48 1.817(4), C1–N1/2 1.374(6)/1.354(6), C4–N3/4 1.358(6)/1.357(6), I1–Sn1–P1 104.68(18), I1–Sn1–P2 102.25(14), P1–Sn1–P2 78.73(13).

	IMes			^{Me} IMes		
		31 P δ [ppm]	119 Sn δ [ppm]		31 P δ [ppm]	119 Sn δ [ppm]
bisNHCP	3a	-56.98	_	3b	-59.76	-
SnCl ₂ ·dioxane	4a	-46.85	236.45 (SnCl), -21.11 (SnCl ₃)	5a	-49.27	243.75 (SnCl), -27.39 (SnCl ₃)
SnBr ₂	4b	-47.91	168.99	5b	-49.57	170.47
SnI ₂	4c	-49.89	$174.43 (t, J^{Sn,P} = 1301 \text{ Hz})$	5c	-52.12	$262.20 (t, J^{Sn,P} = 1254 \text{ Hz})$
$Sn(OTf)_2$	4d	-29.76	$432.78 (t, J^{\text{Sn,P}} = 1249 \text{ Hz})$	5d	-30.56	$465.20 (t, J^{Sn,P} = 1270 \text{ Hz})$

Table 1 ³¹P and ¹¹⁹Sn NMR shifts in THF-d₈ of different stannyliumylidenes 4a-d and 5a-d

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848 | 14845

Paper



NBO analysis of the discussed interactions is presented in the ESI (Fig. S61[†]).

Transmetalation reaction

Treatment of the Sn(π) complex **5a** with CuCl resulted in the formation of transmetalation product **6** (Scheme 3). For comparison, complex **6** was directly prepared in a reaction of bisphosphinidene **3b** and CuCl in THF and characterised by ¹H, ¹³C and ³¹P NMR as well as LIDFI-MS (see ESI Fig. S55–58†). Using the CPCM solvation model, the free energy for this reaction is calculated to be -9.0 kcal mol⁻¹.

Sn(II) transfer reaction

After successful transmetalation using stannyliumylidene **5c**, the ability to transfer the central Sn(n) atom was examined for **5a**. Recently, our group established the nitrogen analogue of bisNHCP for the synthesis of tetryliumylidenes,^{48,56} thus we hypothesised this bisNHI^{57–59} to be an ideal candidate for Sn (n) acceptance. The addition of bisNHI to a solution of **5a** in THF-d₈ resulted in a quantitative formation of free bisNHCP **3b** (Scheme 4). The formed precipitate showed the reported ¹H and ¹¹⁹Sn NMR shifts in CD₃CN, confirming the Sn(n) transfer from the bisNHCP to the bisNHI system. Interestingly, calculations in the gas phase show that the affinity of the bisNHCP ligand toward SnCl⁺ is by 7.6 kcal mol⁻¹ higher than that of



Scheme 3 Transmetalation from bisNHCP Sn(11) complex 5c to bisNHCP CuCl complex 6.

14846 | Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848



View Article Online

Scheme 4 Sn(II) transfer reaction between bisNHCP and bisNHI.

the bisNHI. However, in THF and acetonitrile the affinity of bisNHI toward SnCl^+ is higher by 0.6 and 2.2 kcal mol⁻¹, respectively. Additionally, calculations show that the full reaction presented in Scheme 4 is exergonic by 1.1 and 2.5 kcal mol⁻¹ in THF and acetonitrile, respectively. Therefore it is reasonable to suggest that the described reactivity is not due to better stabilisation of the electron deficient Sn(n) centre by the bisNHI ligand, but rather caused by solvation effects, the relative solubility of the bisNHCP and bisNHI ligands, and the stannyliumylidenes **5a** and 7 in THF and acetonitrile.

While stannyliumylidene 7 is reported to be stable in CD_3CN solution under air for over 14 days,⁴⁸ stannyliumylidenes 4 and 5 decompose rapidly under air. Since phosphorus has a high affinity towards oxygen, the bisNHCP is supposedly oxidised rapidly.

Conclusions

In conclusion we were able to synthesise the second examples of bidentate *N*-heterocyclic carbene–phosphinidenes **3a** and **3b**. Both compounds show sandwich π - π stacking interactions between the mesityl substituents of the NHCs and the cyclopentadienyl rings of the ferrocene in the SC-XRD structure, which could additionally be confirmed by theoretical calculations. These bisNHCPs were utilised to synthesise various stannyliumylidenes **4a–d** and **5a–d**. Treatment of stannyliumylidene **5c** with CuCl resulted in formation of the transmetalation product **6**. Furthermore, stannyliumylidene **5a** was used to transfer the Sn(n) synthon from the bisphosphinidene to a bisimine, forming **7** and **3b**.

Conflicts of interest

There are no conflicts to declare.

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the WACKER Chemie AG for financial as well as scientific support. We thank Maximilian Muhr for the LIFDI-MS measurement. The authors gratefully acknowledge the Leibniz Supercomputing Centre for funding this project by providing computing time on its Linux-Cluster.

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

6. Application of ferrocene–bridged N–heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis–phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation

Dalton Transactions

Notes and references

- 1 H. Aktaş, J. C. Slootweg and K. Lammertsma, *Angew. Chem.*, *Int. Ed.*, 2010, **49**, 2102–2113.
- 2 L. Liu, D. A. Ruiz, D. Munz and G. Bertrand, *Chem*, 2016, 1, 147–153.
- 3 M. Bispinghoff, A. M. Tondreau, H. Grützmacher, C. A. Faradji and P. G. Pringle, *Dalton Trans.*, 2016, 45, 5999–6003.
- 4 A. J. Arduengo, J. C. Calabrese, A. H. Cowley, H. V. R. Dias, J. R. Goerlich, W. J. Marshall and B. Riegel, *Inorg. Chem.*, 1997, 36, 2151–2158.
- 5 A. J. Arduengo, H. V. R. Dias and J. C. Calabrese, *Chem. Lett.*, 1997, 26, 143-144.
- 6 A. J. Arduengo, C. J. Carmalt, J. A. C. Clyburne, A. H. Cowley and R. Pyati, *Chem. Commun.*, 1997, 981–982.
- 7 A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, A. Nasr, T. Bannenberg, P. G. Jones and M. Tamm, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2015, **21**, 16178–16189.
- 8 M. Peters, A. Doddi, T. Bannenberg, M. Freytag, P. G. Jones and M. Tamm, *Inorg. Chem.*, 2017, 56, 10785–10793.
- 9 T. Krachko and J. C. Slootweg, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem., 2018, 2018, 2734–2754.
- 10 V. Nesterov, R. Baierl, F. Hanusch, A. E. Ferao and S. Inoue, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2019, 141, 14576–14580.
- 11 J. Bhattacharjee, M. Peters, D. Bockfeld and M. Tamm, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2021, 27, 5913–5918.
- 12 A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, T. Bannenberg and M. Tamm, *Chem. – Eur. J.*, 2020, **26**, 14878–14887.
- 13 A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld and M. Tamm, Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 2019, 645, 44-49.
- 14 V. A. K. Adiraju, M. Yousufuddin and H. V. R. Dias, *Dalton Trans.*, 2015, 44, 4449–4454.
- 15 T. J. Hadlington, A. Kostenko and M. Driess, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2021, 27, 2476–2482.
- 16 T. J. Kealy and P. L. Pauson, Nature, 1951, 168, 1039-1040.
- 17 W. R. Cullen and J. D. Woollins, *Coord. Chem. Rev.*, 1981, 39, 1–30.
- 18 K. Heinze and H. Lang, Organometallics, 2013, 32, 5623-5625.
- 19 R. C. J. Atkinson, V. C. Gibson and N. J. Long, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2004, 33, 313–328.
- 20 R. G. Arrayás, J. Adrio and J. C. Carretero, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2006, 45, 7674–7715.
- 21 L. Cunningham, A. Benson and P. J. Guiry, Org. Biomol. Chem., 2020, 18, 9329–9370.
- 22 P. Vosáhlo, L. Radal, M. Labonde, I. Císařová, J. Roger, N. Pirio, J.-C. Hierso and P. Štěpnička, *Organometallics*, 2021, 40, 1934–1944.
- 23 O. Bárta, I. Císařová, J. Schulz and P. Štěpnička, New J. Chem., 2019, 43, 11258–11262.
- 24 O. Bárta, I. Císařová, E. Mieczyńska, A. M. Trzeciak and P. Štěpnička, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.*, 2019, 2019, 4846–4854.
- 25 W. Wang, S. Inoue, S. Enthaler and M. Driess, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2012, 51, 6167–6171.
- 26 M.-P. Luecke, D. Porwal, A. Kostenko, Y.-P. Zhou, S. Yao, M. Keck, C. Limberg, M. Oestreich and M. Driess, *Dalton Trans.*, 2017, 46, 16412–16418.

- 27 T. Sasamori, Dalton Trans., 2020, 49, 8029-8035.
- 28 Y. Pan, S. Morisako, S. Aoyagi and T. Sasamori, *Molecules*, 2020, 25, 5917.

View Article Online

Paper

- 29 T. Sasamori, Y. Suzuki, K. Sugamata, T. Sugahara and N. Tokitoh, *Inorganics*, 2018, **6**, 68.
- 30 Y. Suzuki, T. Sasamori, J.-D. Guo and N. Tokitoh, *Chem. Eur. J.*, 2018, 24, 364–368.
- 31 J. Oetzel, N. Weyer, C. Bruhn, M. Leibold, B. Gerke, R. Pöttgen, M. Maier, R. F. Winter, M. C. Holthausen and U. Siemeling, *Chem. – Eur. J.*, 2017, 23, 1187–1199.
- 32 N. Weyer, R. Guthardt, B. A. Correia Bicho, J. Oetzel, C. Bruhn and U. Siemeling, Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem., 2019, 645, 188–197.
- 33 N. Weyer, M. Heinz, J. I. Schweizer, C. Bruhn, M. C. Holthausen and U. Siemeling, *Angew. Chem.*, 2021, 60, 2624–2628.
- 34 R. Guthardt, J. Oetzel, J. I. Schweizer, C. Bruhn, R. Langer, M. Maurer, J. Vícha, P. Shestakova, M. C. Holthausen and U. Siemeling, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2019, **58**, 1387–1391.
- 35 J. Henoch, A. Auch, F. Diab, K. Eichele, H. Schubert, P. Sirsch, T. Block, R. Pöttgen and L. Wesemann, *Inorg. Chem.*, 2018, 57, 4135–4145.
- 36 P. L. Diaconescu, Acc. Chem. Res., 2010, 43, 1352-1363.
- 37 A. G. Green, M. D. Kiesz, J. V. Oria, A. G. Elliott, A. K. Buechler, J. Hohenberger, K. Meyer, J. I. Zink and P. L. Diaconescu, *Inorg. Chem.*, 2013, **52**, 5603–5610.
- 38 S. L. Powley and S. Inoue, Chem. Rec., 2019, 19, 2179-2188.
- 39 V. S. V. S. N. Swamy, S. Pal, S. Khan and S. S. Sen, *Dalton Trans.*, 2015, 44, 12903–12923.
- 40 P. Jutzi, F. Kohl, P. Hofmann, C. Krüger and Y. H. Tsay, *Chem. Ber.*, 1980, **113**, 757–769.
- 41 A. Hinz, Chem. Eur. J., 2019, 25, 3267-3271.
- 42 M. J. Taylor, A. J. Saunders, M. P. Coles and J. R. Fulton, Organometallics, 2011, 30, 1334–1339.
- 43 C. P. Sindlinger, F. S. W. Aicher and L. Wesemann, *Inorg. Chem.*, 2017, 56, 548–560.
- 44 J. Li, C. Schenk, F. Winter, H. Scherer, N. Trapp, A. Higelin, S. Keller, R. Pöttgen, I. Krossing and C. Jones, *Angew. Chem.*, Int. Ed., 2012, 51, 9557–9561.
- 45 A. P. Singh, H. W. Roesky, E. Carl, D. Stalke, J.-P. Demers and A. Lange, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2012, 134, 4998–5003.
- 46 J. Flock, A. Suljanovic, A. Torvisco, W. Schoefberger, B. Gerke, R. Pöttgen, R. C. Fischer and M. Flock, *Chem. – Eur. J.*, 2013, **19**, 15504–15517.
- 47 M. Bouška, L. Dostál, A. Růžička and R. Jambor, Organometallics, 2013, 32, 1995–1999.
- 48 F. S. Tschernuth, F. Hanusch, T. Szilvási and S. Inoue, Organometallics, 2020, 39, 4265–4272.
- 49 Y. Xiong, S. Yao, S. Inoue, J. D. Epping and M. Driess, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2013, 52, 7147–7150.
- 50 Y. Xiong, S. Yao, G. Tan, S. Inoue and M. Driess, J. Am. Chem. Soc., 2013, 135, 5004–5007.
- 51 Y. Xiong, S. Yao, S. Inoue, E. Irran and M. Driess, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2012, **51**, 10074–10077.
- 52 O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C. D. Martin, D. Martin and G. Bertrand, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2013, 52, 2939–2943.

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848 | 14847

6. Application of ferrocene–bridged N–heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis–phosphinidenes in Sn(II) complexation

View Article Online

Dalton Transactions

53 M. Regitz, O. J. Scherer and R. Appel, *Multiple bonds and low coordination in phosphorus chemistry*, G. Thieme Verlag, Thieme Medical Publishers, Stuttgart; New York; New York, 1990.

Paper

- 54 O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C. D. Martin, D. Martin and G. Bertrand, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2013, 52, 2939–2943.
- 55 V. Y. Lee and A. Sekiguchi, Organometallic compounds of low-coordinate Si, Ge, Sn and Pb: from phantom species to stable compounds, John Wiley & Sons, 2011.
- 56 F. Hanusch, D. Munz, J. Sutter, K. Meyer and S. Inoue, *Angew. Chem., Int. Ed.*, 2021, DOI: 10.1002/anie. 202108146.
- 57 D. Franz, E. Irran and S. Inoue, Angew. Chem., Int. Ed., 2014, 53, 14264-14268.
- 58 D. Franz, T. Szilvási, A. Pöthig, F. Deiser and S. Inoue, *Chem. - Eur. J.*, 2018, **24**, 4283–4288.
- 59 T. Ochiai, D. Franz and S. Inoue, *Chem. Soc. Rev.*, 2016, 45, 6327–6344.

14848 | Dalton Trans., 2021, 50, 14842-14848

This journal is © The Royal Society of Chemistry 2021

7. Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate *N*–Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dications

Title:	"Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate N-Heterocyclic Carbene-				
	Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes"				
Status:	Research Article, published online: December 6 th , 2022				
Journal:	European Journal of Organic Chemistry				
Publisher:	Wiley-VCH Verlag				
DOI:	10.1002/ejoc.202201072				
Authors:	Ramona Baierl, Arseni Kostenko, Franziska Hanusch, Alexander David				
	Beck, and Shigeyoshi Inoue ^a				

Reprinted with permission of Wiley-VCH Verlag. ® 2022 Wiley-VCH Verlag

^aR. Baierl planned and executed all experiments and wrote the manuscript. A. Kostenko performed the theoretical calculation and wrote the theoretical part of the manuscript. F. Hanusch conducted SC–XRD measurements and processed the respective data. A. D. Beck performed the CV measurements and processed the data. All work was done under the supervision of S. Inoue.

Content: This paper expands the complexation abilities of the recently published bidentate N-heterocyclic carbene–phosphinidene ligand towards the stabilization of Si(IV) dications. Two complexes are synthesized from R₂Si(OTf)₂ (R = H, Ph) and their electronic properties as well as reactivity is investigated.

In previous publications the properties of NHCPs in transition metal, as well as main group chemistry has been explored. However, until now NHCP–stabilized silicon compounds remained unknown. Herein we want to report the first example of a NHCP–stabilized Si(IV) dication. Treatment of the bisNHCP ligand with bistriflate silanes $R_2Si(OTf)_2(R = H, Ph)$ readily forms the dications. The dicationic structure was confirmed *via* SC–XRD analysis. Computational investigations revealed that the +2 charge is mainly located in the imidazolium ring of the NHCP. This observation is in accordance with the high thermal stability of the

7. Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dications

compounds (stable up to 80 °C for R = H and 100 °C for R = Ph in CD₃CN). No reactivity is observed towards ethylene, acetylene, phenyl– and diphenylacetylene. In contrast, treatment of the $[SiH_2]^{2+}$ complex with diphenylketene leads to an insertion into the Si–P bond. The optimized structure exhibits a C_2 symmetrical geometry.

7. Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate N–Heterocyclic Carbene–Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dications

E Eu	urjoc ropean Journal of Organic Chemistry	Research Article doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.2	202201072		Check for updates Europe	
				www	v.eurjoc.org	
ecial ection	Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate <i>N</i> -Heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes					
	Ramona Baierl, ^[a] Arseni Kost Shigeyoshi Inoue ^{*[a]}	enko, ^[a] Franziska H	lanusch, ^[a] Alexander	D. Beck, ^[b] and	direthrary wiley com/doi/10	
	Herein, we report the synthesis and iso stabilized by a bidentate <i>N</i> -heterocyclic (NHCP). Treatment of the bis(NHCP) $R_2Si(OTf)_2$ (with R=H, Ph) resulted in t Si(IV) dicationic complexes [2a] and [2]	dinated silicon centre. The d acidity. The bis(NHCP)-stabili presents the first isolable ex addition, dication [2 a] is ab insertion into the Si-P bond.	lications show expected ized parent silyl dicatior cample of a parent SiH_2 le to react with diphen	I high Lewis $2a$ (SiH ₂ ²⁺) dication. In ylketene by $3a$		
	Introduction Development of ligand systems for as intermediates is of paramount import chemistry. The prototypical <i>N</i> -heteroor discovered by Arduengo in 1991, offer as π -acceptor properties. Those charact efficient ligands in stabilization of electr and paramagnetic species, and thus the isolation of low-valent/dww. oxidation	chemistry has been exemple polarized phosphaalkenes w and I", out of which I and phosphorus atom. This was BH ₃ -THF forming the bis(bo metal halides (<i>e.g.</i> CuCl, bis(group 11 metal) complex	lified. ^[14-16,18-23] NHCPs a vith the mesomeric stru l' exhibit two electron demonstrated by the re vrane) adduct II or trea AgCl, AuCl, CuBr) fo (es III (Scheme 1). ^[15,24]	re inversely uctures I, I', pairs at the eaction with them with the triment with priming the		
	species. ^[1-7] From the perspective oxidatio species. ^[1-7] From the perspective of si work in the stabilization of halosilan halosilylenes by NHCs opened the way to numerous novel organosilicon compou- tronic properties and bonding situations	n state main group licon chemistry, pivotal es and highly reactive cowards the synthesis of nds with unusual elec-	$\begin{bmatrix} N \\ N \\ N \\ R \\ R \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{R'} R'$	$\begin{array}{cccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccccc$	rms and Conditions (https://solinefi	

Related classes of compounds, *e.g.* the *N*-heterocyclic imines (NHIs) and their heavier analogues *N*-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidenes (NHCPs), are also gradually finding their way into main group chemistry.⁽¹³⁻¹⁴⁾ NHCPs have already been discovered in 1997 by Arduengo *et al.*,⁽¹⁵⁻¹⁷⁾ nevertheless, only in the last few years they attracted attention, as their potential as ligands in main group and transition metal

Lichtenbergstraße 4, 85748 Garching bei München, Germany E-mail: s.inoue@tum.de

E-mail: S.inoue@tum.ae [b] A. D. Beck Consortium für elektrochemische Industrie Wacker Chemie AG

Sp Coll

Zielstattstraße 20, 81379 München, Germany

Supporting information for this article is available on the WWW under https://doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.202201072

Part of the "Silicon Chemistry in Organic Synthesis" Special Collection.

© 2022 The Authors. European Journal of Organic Chemistry published by Wiley-VCH GmbH. This is an open access article under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution Non-Commercial License, which permits use, distribution and reproduction in any medium, provided the original work is properly cited and is not used for commercial purposes.

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2022, e202201072 (1 of 6)





Scheme 1. Canonical forms of monodentate and bidentate *N*-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidenes I and IV and reactivity towards borane and group 11 metal halides forming bisadducts II and III (with Mes=2,4,6-trimethylphenyl).

© 2022 The Authors. European Journal of Organic Chemistry published by Wiley-VCH GmbH

[[]a] R. Baierl, Dr. A. Kostenko, Dr. F. Hanusch, Prof. Dr. S. Inoue Department of Chemistry, Catalysis Research Center and Institute of Silicon Chemistry Technische Universität München
EurJOC	Research Article	
European Journal of Organic Chemistry	doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.202201072	



Recently, the first two examples of bis(N-heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidene) (bis(NHCP)) ligands have been reported.^[25-26] Their coordination capabilities have been demonstrated by formation of stable Ge(II), Sn(II), and transition metal halide (CuCl, Znl₂, FeCl₂) complexes. According to the resonance structures of bis(NHCP)s (Scheme 1, **IV**–**IV**"), they additionally appear to be an ideal ligand for stabilization of di- or polycationic main group complexes. For instance, free silicon(IV) dications (R₂Si²⁺) are only known in the gas phase, however, not in condensed phase.^[27–28] To be able to isolate an uncommon Si(IV) dication, stabilization *via* neutral Lewis bases is necessary. Up to date, NHC ligands with their σ -donor properties emerged to be suitable.

The groups of Filippou and Driess succeeded in the isolation of the four-coordinated dicationic Si(IV) complexes V and VI both using NHCs for stabilization (Figure 1).^[29-30] NHC stabilization was also used in the isolation of dication VII, recently published by the Inoue group.[31] Additionally, in 2020 the group of Driess reported several examples of five-coordinated Si(II) dications VIII stabilized by a terpyridine ligand system, adding to the sparse examples of isolated Si(IV) dications.^[32] To the best of our knowledge, however, an isolable example of a dicationic complex containing the parent [SiH₂]²⁺ moiety has not been reported. Additionally, the use of NHCPs for stabilization of silicon compounds is unexplored. In this work we present the expansion of the NHCP chemistry towards the stabilization of tetra-valent silicon compounds and present the first examples of bis(NHCP)-stabilized Si(IV) dications [2 a] and [2b] and their reactivity.

Results and Discussion

Treatment of the recently published ferrocene bridged bis(NHCP) 1 with bis(triflate)silanes (R_2Si(OTf)_{2^{\prime}} R = H, Ph) in



Figure 1. Selected examples of Si(IV) dicationic complexes from the literature.

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2022, e202201072 (2 of 6)

benzene at room temperature resulted in the instant formation and precipitation of complexes [2a][OTf], and [2b][OTf], in 70% and 88% yield respectively (Scheme 2).[26] Both complexes dissolve well in acetonitrile and 1,2-difluorobenzene. The products were characterized by multinuclear NMR spectroscopy, mass spectrometry, and elemental analysis. The ³¹P NMR signals in CD_3CN are shifted upfield in comparison to the free bis(NHCP) ($-56.98 \text{ ppm}^{[26]}$) with a shift of -96.68 ppm for the parent silyl dication [2a] and -66.01 ppm for the phenylsubstituted silyl dication [2b] (Table 1). In comparison to the reported bis(NHCP)-stabilized stannyliumylidenes (^{31}P $\delta \!=\!$ 30.56 to -59.76 ppm), the ³¹P NMR signals are upfield shifted.^[26] The recorded ²⁹Si NMR spectra of [2a][OTf]₂ and $\left[\textbf{2\,b} \right] \left[\text{OTf} \right]_2$ show the respective triplet signals at -44.09 ppm $({}^{1}J_{P,Si} = 24.8 \text{ Hz})$ and -10.74 ppm $({}^{1}J_{P,Si} = 65.7 \text{ Hz})$, whereby the coupling constants are in the range of ¹J_{P.Si} Si-P couplings (256-16 Hz).[33] In comparison, the fourfold coordinated Si(IV) dications V, VI and VII (^{29}Si $\delta\!=\!-29.2,$ -36.7, and -63.4 ppm)resonate in a similar region.^[29-31]

Despite numerous attempts, [2a] could not be crystallized successfully. However, the bis(triflate) complex of dication [2b] could be crystallized from a concentrated fluorobenzene solution at -35 °C forming yellow needles suitable for single crystal X-ray diffraction (SC-XRD). The molecular structure of [2b][OTf]₂, which crystalizes in P21/n space group, reveals a distorted tetrahedral coordinated Si(IV) center with elongated Si-P single bonds (2.3137(16) Å, 2.3128(16) Å) (Figure 2). The P-C_{Carbene} bond length of 1.849(4) Å and 1.851(4) Å are elongated in comparison to the free ligand (1.731(10) Å, 1.808(19) Å). Additionally, the $C_{\mbox{\tiny Carbene}} - N$ bonds of 1.354 Å to 1.357 Å (free ligand: 1.372 to 1.377 Å) are shortened, speaking for predominant canonical forms IV and IV'. The positive charge is delocalized, hence stabilized in the NHC ring system. Analogue bond elongation/shortening has been reported in the bis(NHCP)-stabilized Sn(II) complex.^[26] The sum of bond angles around P1 and P2 are 319.76° and 320.96° respectively, accounting for a trigonal pyramidal coordination of the phosphorus atoms. Similarly to the free bis(NHCP) as well as the reported bis(NHCP)-supported stannyliumylidene complex, the mesityl substituents show a sandwich π - π stacking interaction



Scheme 2. Synthesis of bis(NHCP)-supported Si(IV) dications [2a] and [2b].

Table 1. ³¹ P and ²⁹ Si NMR shifts of Si(IV) dications in CD ₃ CN.			
	Silane	³¹ P [ppm]	²⁹ Si [ppm]
[2a][OTf]2	H ₂ Si(OTf) ₂	-96.24	-44.09 (t, ¹ $J_{P,Si} = 24.8$ Hz)
[2b][OTf]2	Ph ₂ Si(OTf) ₂	-66.06	-10.74 (t, ${}^{1}J_{P,Si} = 65.7$ Hz

European Journal of Organic Chemistry	Research Article doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.202201072	Chemistry European Chamical Societies Publishing	10990690, 202
N4 C4	showing be bonding int moieties. Th	oth phosphorus lone pairs, phosphorus silicon teraction, as well as the π orbitals of the NHC he LUMO is also dispersed over the NHC–P ² –Si-	, 45, Downloaded from htt



Figure 2. SC-XRD structure of [2 b]. Translational ellipsoids are plotted at the 50% probability level. For reasons of clarity, hydrogens and triflate counter ions are omitted and messityl groups are depicted in wireframe models. Selected bond lengths (Å) and angles (°): P1–Si1 2.3137(16), P2–Si1 2.3128(16), Si1–C53 1.807(19), Si1–C59 1.891(15), P1–C1 1.849(4), P2–C4 1.851(4), P1–C43 1.793(4), P2–C48 1.791(4), C1–N1 1.356(6), C1–N2 1.357(6), C4–N4 1.354(6), P1–Si1–P2 108.17(6), C53–Si1–C59 111.65.

with the Cp ring of the ferrocene visible in the SC-XRD structure.^[26] Furthermore, the molecular structure of dication [**2b**] displays a sandwich π - π stacking interaction between the second mesityl substituent and the Si-bonded phenyl rings.

Since ferrocene is highly redox active, the free ligand 1 and both complexes $[2a][OTf]_2$ and $[2b][OTf]_2$ were examined with cyclic voltammograms recorded in 0.1 M Bu₄NClO₄/THF and all potentials (V) were referenced against ferrocene/ferrocenium (FcH/FcH⁺) as internal standard (Figure S22–27). The free ligand 1 shows oxidation signals on a glassy carbon electrode at -0.63 V, -0.35 V, and 0.64 V vs. FcH/FcH⁺ while only the potential at -0.63 V vs. FcH/FcH⁺ shows a slight reversibility with a reduction potential of -1.20 V vs. FcH/FcH⁺ followed by a chemical reaction preventing reversibility (Figure S23). The dication [2a][OTf]2 shows an oxidation signal on a platinum electrode with a potential of 0.66 V vs. FcH/FcH^+ with the reduction potential of 0.22 V vs. FcH/FcH⁺ and further reduction potentials at -0.84 V, -1.61 V, -2.33 V, and -2.61 V vs. FcH/ FcH⁺ (Figure S24 and S25). All reduction potentials are irreversible. Dication [2b][OTf]2 shows an oxidation signal on a platinum electrode with a potential of 0.55 V vs. FcH/FcH⁺ with the reduction potential of 0.22 V vs. FcH/FcH+. A second oxidation potential at -0.42 V vs. FcH/FcH $^+$ only occurs when the substrate is reduced to over -2.37 V vs. FcH/FcH+ (Figure S26 and S27). Further reduction potentials are at -0.71 V, -1.30 V, -2.15 V, and -2.64 V vs. FcH/FcH⁺. All reduction potentials are non-reversible.

In order to investigate the electronic structure and properties of compounds [2a] and [2b], quantum chemical calculations at the B3PW91 level of theory were carried out (for details regarding the computational methods see Supporting Information). In [2a], the five highest occupied molecular orbitals (*i.e.* HOMO-5 – HOMO) do not correspond to bonding interactions involving the NHCPs and the Si center, but rather to the d orbitals of iron, bonding interactions within the ferrocene backbone and π -systems of the mesityl substituents. HOMO-6 is dispersed over the entire NHC-P²-Si(H)₂-P¹-NHC fragment,

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2022, e202201072 (3 of 6)

showing both phosphorus lone pairs, phosphorus silicon bonding interaction, as well as the π orbitals of the NHC moieties. The LUMO is also dispersed over the NHC–P²–Si-(H)₂–P¹–NHC fragment, predominantly corresponding to the Si–H antibonding orbitals, and the π^* orbitals of the NHCs. To get a more intuitive picture regarding the bonding situation [bis(NHCP)–SiH₂]²⁺, natural bond orbital (NBO) analysis was carried out. Since [2a] is C_2 symmetrical, the interactions between the two NHCP moieties with SiH₂ as well as the internal interactions are identical, therefore only the NHCP¹ moiety will be discussed.

NBO analysis shows a Wiberg bond index (WBI) (Figure 3) of 0.91 between Si¹–P¹, which arises from a single almost non-polarized bond (Si(sp^{3.2}) 41.7%, P(sp^{5.7}) 58.3%), while P¹ retains a localized lone pair (Figure 4, top left). Second order perturbation theory analysis shows that this σ -type lone pair (s 51.4%, p 48.6%) with occupancy of 1.87 el. exhibits only minor donoracceptor interactions (DAI) with σ^* (Si¹–H¹) and σ^* (Si¹–H²) summing up to 3.8 kcalmol⁻¹. Additionally, the P¹ lone pair interacts with a σ^* (C⁻–C) orbital of the ferrocene moiety (DAI=5.4 kcalmol⁻¹), σ^* (C¹–N¹) (DAI=3.2 kcalmol⁻¹) and π^* (C¹–N¹)



Figure 3. Lewis structure, atom labels (superscript), and Wiberg bond indices (WBI, numbers in blue) of 2 a.



Figure 4. Selected NBOs of 2a, their occupancy and composition.

EurJOC European Journal of Organic Chemistry	Research Article doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.202201072	Chemistry European European Chemical Societies Publishing
---	--	--

(DAI = 11.2 kcal mol⁻¹). WBI between P¹ and C¹ of 0.94 indicates a single bond, stemming from a somewhat polarized $\sigma(P^1-C^1)$ (P(sp^{6.0}) 34.0%, C(sp^{1.6}) 66.0%). The bonding situation within the carbene moiety is typical $-C^1$ and N¹ form a double bond and N² possess a lone pair, which is strongly delocalized to $\pi^*(C^1-N^1)$ (DAI = 78.4 kcal mol⁻¹), resulting in N¹-C¹-N² 3-center-4-electron hyperbond, and to $\pi^*(C^2-N^2)$ (DAI = 34.2 kcal mol⁻¹). The corresponding natural localized molecular orbitals NLMOs are presented in Figure S28.

Inspection of the NPA charges of [2 a] reveals that the +2 charge of the molecule is located mainly on the atoms, which constitute the NHCP moieties with $\Sigma q(\text{NHCP}^1, \text{ NHCP}^2) = +2.18$ el. The SiH₂ moiety accommodates only +0.27 el. (+0.46 el. on Si and -0.10 el. on each hydrogen), while the ferrocene backbone is negatively charged with $\Sigma q(\text{Fc}) = -0.45$ el. The calculated ^{29}Si NMR chemical shifts of [2 a] and [2 b] $\delta = -49.8$ ppm and $\delta = -13.2$ ppm are in good agreement with the respective experimentally observed signals at -44.1 ppm and -10.7 ppm.

In order to quantify the Lewis acidity of the isolated dicationic complexes, the Gutmann Beckett method was applied.[34-35] After addition of one equivalent triethylphosphine oxide to a 1,2-difluorobenzene solution of complexes [2 a][OTf]2 and $[\textbf{2}\,\textbf{b}][\text{OTf}]_{2^{\prime}}$ the difference in $^{31}\text{P}\,\text{NMR}$ chemical shifts ($\Delta\delta$ ³¹P) between the free (³¹P δ = 47.37 ppm) and the coordinated triethylphosphine oxide were measured. A larger difference in the shifts corresponds to a higher Lewis acidity. Adduct $[2a][OTf]_2(OPEt_3)$ shows a chemical shift of 81.67 ppm and a $\Delta\delta$ ³¹P of 34.30 ppm accounting for high Lewis acidity. However, the complex $[{\bf 2\,a}][OTf]_2(OPEt_3)$ is not stable and fully decomposes within 20 h, therefore it eluded further investigation. While dications VIII demonstrated lower ΔP shifts (R=Ph: $\!\Delta\delta$ ^{31}P 23.5 ppm, R=C_{12}H_8: $\Delta\delta$ ^{31}P 28.6 ppm) compared with $[2a][OTf]_2$ and therefore lower Lewis acidity, aryl silylium ions are even more Lewis acidic with $\Delta\delta$ ^{31}P of 39.2–44.9 ppm (Figure 5).^[32,36] Addition of triethylphosphine oxide to a 1,2difluorobenzene solution of complex $[\textbf{2}\,\textbf{b}][\text{OTf}]_2$ yielded a $\Delta\delta$ ^{31}P of 53.22 ppm and 5.14 ppm. As observed in other Si(IV) dications a coordination of two equivalents triethylphosphine oxide is possible and could account for the $\Delta\delta$ ³¹P of 5.14 ppm, while $\Delta \delta^{31}$ P of 53.22 ppm shows the shift of a single triethylphosphine oxide coordination.^[32] Since the tendency to form the bisadduct seems to be very high, the monoadduct is only visible when 0.5 eq OPEt₃ are added. Calculations predicts the coordination of triethylphosphine to [2a] to be exergonic



Figure 5. Lewis acidity assessment of different silyl cations and BCF via Gutmann Beckett method.

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2022, e202201072 (4 of 6)

by 6.8 kcalmol⁻¹. The computational predictions of the Gutmann–Beckett method have been previously attempted, giving poor correlations between the experimental and calculated $\Delta\delta$ ³¹P values.^[37] In the case of [**2**a] the calculated $\Delta\delta$ ³¹P accounts for 20.4 ppm.

To investigate the thermal stability as well as the reactivity of $[2a][OTf]_2$ and $[2b][OTf]_2$, CD₃CN solutions were heated for several days. While [2 a][OTf]2 already shows very slow decomposition at 80 °C, [2b][OTf]₂ is stable at 80 °C but slowly starts to decompose at 100°C. The ¹H NMR shows only signals of the imidazolium salt after heating overnight. The other decomposition products could not be identified. Both complexes are unreactive towards ethylene, acetylene, phenyl-, and diphenylacetylene in CD₂CN even at elevated temperature (heating up to 80 °C for 1-2 days). However, addition of excess diphenylketene to the dication [2a] in 1,2-difluorobenzene shows full conversion at 80 °C after 20 h, while [2b] is unreactive. Multinuclear NMR analysis as well as LIFDI-MS indicate the formation of the compound [3] (Scheme 3). The ³¹P NMR and the ²⁹Si NMR signal are downfield shifted in comparison to the starting material at -23.08 ppm and -53.81 ppm. Both signals do not show J(Si-P) indicating the Si-P bond cleavage via C-O insertion into the Si-P bonds. Additionally, LIFDI-MS measurement shows the mass for $[2a+2eq Ph_2CCO]^{2+}$. Similar reactivity is observed by Appel as well as by Weber and coworkers.[38-39] Treatment of PhP(SiMe₃)₂ with an equimolar amount of diphenylketene afforded the adduct Ph(Me₃Si)P-C(OSiMe₃)=CPh₂. The same reactivity was observed for [Fe]-P(SiMe₃)₂. According to the measured data and literature comparison, the structure of [3] was proposed.

To support the proposed structure, an optimized structure was calculated (Figure 6). DFT calculations show that [3] adopts a nearly ideal C_2 symmetry. The calculated ²⁹Si NMR and ³¹P NMR chemical shifts of the optimized geometry at -50.2 ppm and -31.2 ppm are in a good agreement with the experiment (-53.8 ppm and -23.1 ppm). Further theoretical considerations predict the reaction of [2 a] with two equivalents of diphenylketene to form [3] to be exergonic by 57.7 kcal mol⁻¹.







Figure 6. Optimized structure of [3]

Conclusion

In conclusion, we were able to isolate the first examples of bis(NHCP)-supported Si(IV) dications presenting an unique electronic nature. The dications [2a] and [2b] reveal high Lewis acidity being confirmed via Gutmann Beckett method. While the dications show high thermal stability in CD₃CN solution, [2 a] readily reacts with diphenvlketene at elevated temperature to yield a heterocyclic complex. These results further demonstrate the coordination abilities of bis(NHCP)s in main group chemistry and open the way for further investigations such as small molecule activation.

Experimental Section

Synthesis of [2a][OTf]2 and [2b][OTf]2: To a stirred solution of FcPIMes (1) (87 mg, 101.8 μ mol, 1.0 eq) in benzene (1.5 mL) the silane (122.2 μ mol, 1.2 eq) dissolved in benzene (0.5 mL) was added dropwise. The complex formed immediately as red oil. The solution was decanted and after washing the residue with benzene (2.2 mL), the product was dried under vacuum to yield an orange solid

 $[\textbf{2}\,\textbf{a}][\text{OTf}]_2\!\!:\,{}^1\text{H}\,\text{NMR}$ (400 MHz, CD_3CN, 300 K): $\delta[\text{ppm}]\!=\!7.64$ (s, 4H, NCH), 7.11 (s, 4H, C_{Mes}H), 7.07 (s, 4H, C_{Mes}H), 4.34 (s, 2H, C_{cp}H), 4.29 (s, 2H, SiH), 4.19 (s, 2H, C_{cp}H), 3.77 (s, 2H, C_{cp}H), 3.72 (s, 2H, C_{cp}H), 2.38 (s, 24H, o-C_{Mes}CH₃), 1.83 (s, 12H, p-C_{Mes}CH₃). ¹⁹F NMR (376 Hz, -96.24.

6.69 (s, 8H, C_{Mes}H), 4.28 (s, 4H, C_{Cp}H), 3.94 (s, 4H, C_{Cp}H), 2.28 (s, 12H, $\rho - C_{MeS}$ CH₃), 1.52 (s, 24H, $\rho - C_{MeS}$ CH₃). ¹⁹F NMR (376 Hz, CD₃CN): δ [ppm] = -78.88. ²⁹Si-IG NMR (79.51 Hz, CD₃CN): δ [ppm] = -10.74 $(t, {}^{1}J_{Si,P} = 65.7 \text{ Hz}). {}^{31}P \text{ NMR} (162 \text{ Hz}, \text{CD}_{3}\text{CN}): \delta[\text{ppm}] = -66.06.$

Synthesis of [3][OTf]₂: To a solution of [2 a][OTf]₂ (38.0 mg, 32.12 µmol, 1.0 eq) in 1,2-difluorobenzene (0.4 mL) diphenylketene (62.4 mg, 321.20 µmol, 10.0 eg) was added. The solution was heated to 60°C for 3 d to observe full conversion in the ³¹P NMR. The solvent was removed and the residue washed with benzene (4 \cdot 1 mL) and pentane (2 \cdot 1.5 mL) to yield the diphenylketene adduct [3][OTf]₂ as yellow powder (44.0 mg, 28.0 μ mol, 87%). ¹H NMR (400 MHz, CD₃CN): δ [ppm] = 7.43 (m, 8H, C_{Ph}H), 7.35 (s, 4H, NCH) 7.24 (m, 8H, C_{Ph}H), 7.03 (s, 4H, C_{Mes}H), 6.90 (s, 4H, C_{Mes}H), 6.64 (dd, 4H, $^1\!J_{\text{H,H}}\!=\!7.6$ Hz, 2.0 Hz, C_{Ph}H), 4.57 (m, 2H, C_{Cp}H), 4.28 (m, 2H, $C_{cp}H$), 3.90 (m, 2H, $C_{cp}H$), 3.81 (s, 2H, SiH), 3.75 (m, 2H, $C_{cp}H$), 2.36 (s,

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2022, e202201072 (5 of 6)

Acknowledgements

We are grateful to the WACKER Chemie AG for financial as well as scientific support. We thank Maximilian Muhr for the LIFDI-MS measurement. The authors gratefully acknowledge the Leibniz Supercomputing Center for funding this project by providing computing time on its Linux-Cluster. Open Access funding enabled and organized by Projekt DEAL.

Conflict of Interest

The authors declare no conflict of interest.

Data Availability Statement

The data that support the findings of this study are available in the supplementary material of this article.

Keywords: Coordination chemistry \cdot Main group elements \cdot N-Heterocyclic carbene-phosphinidene · Si(IV) Dications · Silanes

- [1] A. J. Arduengo, R. L. Harlow, M. Kline, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 361-
- [2] C. J. Carmalt, A. H. Cowley, in Advances in Inorganic Chemistry, Vol. 50, Academic Press, 2000, pp. 1–32.
- [3] N. Kuhn, A. Al-Sheikh, Coord. Chem. Rev. 2005, 249, 829-857.
- C. E. Willans, in Non-transition metal N-heterocyclic carbene complexes, Vol. 36, Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge, 2010.
- [5] L. J. Murphy, K. N. Robertson, J. D. Masuda, J. A. C. Clyburne, in N-Heterocyclic Carbenes, 2014, pp. 427–498.
- [6] T. Hudnall, R. Ugarte, T. Perera, in The Royal Society of Chemistry, UK,
- V. Nesterov, D. Reiter, P. Bag, P. Frisch, R. Holzner, A. Porzelt, S. Inoue, *Chem. Rev.* 2018, *118*, 9678–9842.
 N. Kuhn, T. Kratz, D. Bläser, R. Boese, *Chem. Ber.* 1995, *128*, 245–250.
- K. Kulli, T. Natz, D. Blaser, A. Boese, Chem. Def. 1995, 126, 245–250.
 R. S. Ghadwal, H. W. Roesky, S. Merkel, J. Henn, D. Stalke, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5683–5686; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 5793–5796.
 K. C. Mondal, H. W. Roesky, M. C. Schwarzer, G. Frenking, B. Niepötter, H. Wolf, R. Herbst-Irmer, D. Stalke, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 2963–
- Wolf, K. Herost-Immer, D. Statke, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 2963–2967; Angew. Chem. 2013, 125, 3036–3040.
 Y. Xiong, S. Yao, S. Inoue, J. D. Epping, M. Driess, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 7147–7150; Angew. Chem. 2013, 125, 7287–7291.
 A. C. Filippou, O. Chernov, G. Schnakenburg, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5687–5690; Angew. Chem. 2009, 121, 5797–5800.
- [13] T. Ochiai, D. Franz, S. Inoue, Chem. Soc. Rev. 2016, 45, 6327–6344.
 [14] T. Krachko, J. C. Slootweg, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2018, 2018, 2734–2754.
- [15] A. J. Arduengo, C. J. Carmalt, J. A. C. Clyburne, A. H. Cowley, R. Pyati, *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 981–982.
- [16] A. J. Arduengo, D. H. V. Rasika, Chem. Lett. 1997, 26, 143-144.

European Journal of Organic Chemistry	Research Article doi.org/10.1002/ejoc.2	202201072	European Chemical Societies Publishing
 A. J. Arduengo, J. C. Calabrese, A. H. Cowle W. J. Marshall, B. Riegel, <i>Inorg. Chem.</i> 1997, [18] A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, A. Nasr, T. Banner <i>Chem. Eur. J.</i> 2015, <i>21</i>, 16178–16189. M. Peters, A. Doddi, T. Bannenberg, M. Fr <i>Inorg. Chem.</i> 2017, <i>56</i>, 10785–10793. V. Nesterov, R. Baierl, F. Hanusch, A. E. Ferz 2019, <i>141</i>, 14576–14580. J. Bhattacharjee, M. Peters, D. Bockfeld, M. 5913–5918. A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, T. Bannenberg, M. T 14878–14887. A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, M. Tamm, <i>Z. Anorg.</i> V. A. K. Adiraju, M. Yousufuddin, H. V. Ras <i>44</i>, 4449–4454. T. J. Hadlington, A. Kostenko, M. Driess, C 2482. R. Baierl, A. Kostenko, F. Hanusch, S. Int 14842–14848. M. H. Sayyad, E. T. Kennedy, L. Kiernan, J <i>Phys. B</i> 1995, <i>28</i>, 1715–1722. R. A. Komara, M. A. Gearba, C. W. Fehrenb 2005, <i>38</i>, 87–595. Y. N. Lebedev, U. Das, O. Chernov, G. S <i>Chem. Eur. J.</i> 2014, <i>20</i>, 9280–9289. 	y, H. V. R. Dias, J. R. Goerlich, 36, 2151–2158. berg, P. G. Jones, M. Tamm, eytag, P. G. Jones, M. Tamm, o, S. Inoue, J. Am. Chem. Soc. Tamm, Chem. Eur. J. 2021 , 27, amm, Chem. Eur. J. 2020 , 26, Allg. Chem. 2019 , 645, 44–49. ika Dias, Dalton Trans. 2015 , hem. Eur. J. 2021 , 27, 2476– oue, Dalton Trans. 2021 , 50, .P. Mosnier, J. T. Costello, J. ach, S. R. Lundeen, J. Phys. B chnakenburg, A. C. Filippou,	 [30] A. Hermannsdorfer, D. W. Stephan, M. Driess, Chem. Commu. 13523–13526. [31] S. Stigler, M. Park, A. Porzelt, A. Kostenko, D. Hensche Organometallics 2022, 41, 2088–2094. [32] A. Hermannsdorfer, M. Driess, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 23136; Angew. Chem. 2020, 132, 23332–23336. [33] F. Uhlig, H. C. Marsmann, Gelest Catalog 2008, 208–222. [34] M. A. Beckett, G. C. Strickland, J. R. Holland, K. Sukumar Var 1996, 37, 4629–4631. [35] U. Mayer, V. Gutmann, W. Gerger, Monatsh. Chem. 1975, 1257. [36] H. Großekappenberg, M. Reißmann, M. Schmidtmann, T. Mü metallics 2015, 34, 4952–4958. [37] P. Erdmann, L. Greb, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2022, 61, e202114 [38] R. Appel, V. Winkhaus, F. Knoch, Chem. Ber. 1986, 119, 2466- [39] L. Weber, S. Uthmann, S. Kleinebekel, HG. Stammler, A. S. Neumann, Z. Anorg. Allg. Chem. 2000, 626, 1831–1836. 	<i>In.</i> 2018 , <i>54</i> , I, S. Inoue, . <i>59</i> , 23132– ma, <i>Polymer</i> <i>106</i> , 1235– Iler, <i>Organo</i> - 4550. -2472. Stammler, B.

Eur. J. Org. Chem. 2022, e202201072 (6 of 6)

 $\ensuremath{\textcircled{O}}$ 2022 The Authors. European Journal of Organic Chemistry published by Wiley-VCH GmbH

8. Summary and Outlook

Since the discovery of NHCPs by Arduengo in 1997,^[23] this compound class has only found scarce applications especially in main group chemistry.^[24, 31, 36-39] With the isolation of the NHCP–supported germylene and stannylene, the application of phosphinidenide ligands in group 14 chemistry could be demonstrated expanding the properties of NHCP ligands.^[142] At the start of this project, only monodentate NHCP ligands were known. Owning the successfully applied bisNHI ligands in our group for stabilization of group 13 and 14 elements,^[94-96, 143-144] the synthesis of the heavier analogue bisNHCP was aimed for. This thesis describes the successful isolation of bisNHCP ligands and the application in Sn(II) an Si(IV) coordination.

8.1 Synthesis of NHC–Stabilized Germanium and Tin Analogues of Heavier Nitriles

In the first part of this thesis the synthesis of NHC–stabilized germanium and tin analogues of heavier nitriles **III** is presented (Scheme 38).^[142] To isolate the heavier nitriles **III**, the literature known terphenyl–substituted chlorogermylene and –stannylene **I** were treated with the TMS– substituted NHCP **II** at elevated temperature reaching high yields of 82% and 72%. The products were characterized with multinuclear NMR, FT–IR, UV–Vis, EA, and SC–XRD. The SC–XRD analysis suggests an E–P (E = Ge, Sn) multiple bond character due to the short bond lengths of 2.2364(6) Å and 2.4562(7) Å. To support the experimental data, theoretical calculations were carried out. A Wiberg bond index (WBI) of 1.300 for germylene and 1.063 for the stannylene E–P bond was calculated. Therefore, especially for the germanium congener a partial double bond character was proposed.

Catalytic applications showed activity of both phosphinidene–tetrylenes in the hydroboration of aromatic carbonyls with pinacolborane. Best results of over 99% conversion were observed using the phosphinidene–stannylene as catalyst at a loading of 0.05 mol% in 0.3 h with acetophenone as substrate. The activity of the germanium analogue turned out to be notably lower. At a catalyst loading of 4 mol% in 3 h only 67% conversion of benzaldehyde was achieved.

Reactivity tests revealed both compounds to be inert towards H₂, CO, CO₂, and stoichiometric amounts of 1,3–dimethyl–1,3–butadiene, benzaldehyde, and pinacolborane. Surprisingly,

treatment with diphenylketene resulted in the selective formation of the formal [2+2] cycloaddition products **IV** in 93% (E = Ge) and 77% (E = Sn) yield. Both products display an upfield shift in the ³¹P NMR (Ge: 18.2 ppm, Sn: 20.2 ppm) in comparison to the starting material (Ge: 216.8 ppm, Sn: 176.4 ppm). The product structure was confirmed with SC–XRD analysis. *Via* NMR spectroscopy a reversible retro–cycloaddition reaction was observed at 80 °C for E = Ge and 100 °C for E = Sn.

Aiming for the removal of the NHC in order to enhance the E–P multiple bond character, **IIIa** and **IIIb** were treated with the strong Lewis acid BCF. Interestingly, the NHC–BCF adduct was not formed but reactivity of the tetrylenes towards BCF was observed. In contrast to the formation of an unstable product from the germylene, a stable product was observed for the stannylene resulting in the isolation of the phosphastannene **V**. The ³¹P NMR exhibits a significantly highfield shifted signal at –93.05 ppm. SC–XRD analysis showed a planar coordinated tin center with a sum of bond angles of 359.9° and a shortened Sn–P bond in comparison to the starting material. A WBI of 1.170 for the Sn–P bond was calculated suggesting a double bond character.



Scheme 38 Synthesis and reactivity of NHC-stabilized germanium and tin analogues of heavier nitriles.

8.2 Synthesis of Novel Bidentate NHCP Ligands and Coordination Chemistry

This thesis succeeded in the synthesis of a novel bisNHCP ligand (Scheme 39) and the application in coordination of a variety of halogen–substituted stannyliumylidene ions and Si(IV) dications.^[141, 145] Until today only one other example of a bidentate NHCP ligand is known.^[42] Using a ferrocene backbone and sterically demanding mesityl substituents on the NHC wingtips, different steric as well as electronic properties to the literature known bisNHCP was achieved. Treating 1,1'–bis(dichlorophosphino)ferrocene (VI) with NHC followed by reductive dichlorination using sodium naphthalenide resulted in the formation of the bisNHCP ligands **VIIIa** and **VIIIb**. The two new ligands differ in the NHC backbone by a methyl substituent. Full characterization with multinuclear NMR spectroscopy, LIDFI–MS, and SC–XRD analysis was performed. Both ligands revealed a P–C_{Carbene} double bond character confirmed by SC–XRD analysis (P–C_{Carbene} bond lengths **VIIIa**: 1.731(10)/1.808(10) Å, **VIIIb**: 1.7696(18)/1.7704(19) Å) and theoretical calculations (WBI of 1.29 for **VIIIa**). The SC–XRD structure and the DFT optimized structure show a sandwich π – π –stacking of the mesityl substituents of the NHC and the cyclopentadienyl rings of the ferrocene.



Scheme 39 Synthesis of bisNHCP ligands and SC–XRD structures.

To examine the ability of the ligands **VIIIa** and **VIIIb** to support low–valent group 14 elements, they were treated with Sn(II) precursors (SnX₂ with X = Cl, Br, I, OTf) to yield stannyliumylidene complexes **IX** (Scheme 40). Upon coordination, the P–C_{Carbene} bonds (1.824(4)/1.828(4) Å) are elongated compared to the free ligand **VIIIb**. As discussed in chapter 2, the NHCPs display different resonance structures, which are shown in Scheme 40 for the stannyliumylidene ions. The elongated P–C_{Carbene} bond lengths account for single bond character, as depicted in the mesomeric structure **IX'**. The positive charge is delocalized in the NHC rings, stabilizing the cationic complex.



Scheme 40 Reactivity of bisNHCP ligands VIIIa and VIIIb towards Sn(II) precursors and SC-XRD structures.

These stannyliumylidene ions can be used in transmetallation as well as Sn(II) transfer. On the one hand, treatment of stannyliumylidene **IX** with CuCl in THF yields the bisNHCP CuCl complex **X**. On the other hand, addition of a bisNHI ligand to the stannyliumylidene **IX** fully transfers the Sn(II) center to form a bisNHI–supported stannyliumylidene ion **XI** (Scheme 41). Interestingly, theoretical investigations in the gas phase calculated a higher affinity of the bisNHCP ligand towards SnCl⁺ by 7.6 kcal mol⁻¹. Therefore, it is concluded that the observed reaction takes place due to solvation effects and not due to better stabilization of SnCl⁺ by the bisNHI ligand.



Scheme 41 Reactivity of stannyliumylidenes IX towards transmetallation and Sn(II) transfer.

Furthermore, the expansion of the NHCP stabilization properties towards Si(IV) dications was demonstrated. Treatment of the bisNHCP ligand with bistriflate silanes $R_2Si(OTf)_2$ (R = H, Ph) instantly resulted in the formation of dications **XIIa** and **XIIb** (Scheme 42). All compounds were characterized with multinuclear NMR spectroscopy, LIFDI–MS, and in case of $[SiH_2]^{2+}$ additionally with SC–XRD analysis. The SC–XRD structure revealed Si–P bond lengths of 2.3137(16)/2.3128(16) Å accounting for an elongated single bond character. Additionally, the C_{carbene}–P bonds are elongated in comparison to the free ligand. Therefore, a predominance of the mesomeric structure **XII**' was concluded. The bisNHCP ligand stabilizes the positive charge in the imidazolium ring resulting in mesomeric structure **XII**'.

To investigate the Lewis acidity of the isolated Si(IV) dications, the Gutman Beckett method was applied. To a solution of the dications in the non–coordinating solvent DFB, triethyl phosphine oxide is added and the difference in the ³¹P NMR shifts for free and coordinated triethyl phosphine oxide is measured. A high difference Δ^{31} P accounts for a high Lewis acidity. A Δ^{31} P of 34.30 ppm for **XIIa** suggests a high Lewis acidity, however, the adduct was not stable and decomposed over time making additional characterization impossible.

Since ferrocene is known to be highly redox active, analysis of the free ligand and the dications with cyclovoltammetry (CV) was conducted. Multiple oxidation and reduction potentials were revealed, all being irreversible.



Scheme 42 Synthesis of bisNHCP-stabilized Si(IV) dications and SC-XRD structure of XIIa and XIIb.

Nevertheless, a high thermal stability of the complexes of up to 80°C and 100°C in CD₃CN solution was observed. The dications are inert towards ethylene, acetylene, phenylacetylene and diphenylacetylene. Towards an excess of diphenylketene, the dication $[SiH_2]^{2+}$ showed reactivity at elevated temperatures. The product was characterized *via* multinuclear NMR, and LIDFI–MS. According to LIDFI–MS two equivalents diphenylketene were activated. The ²⁹Si NMR no longer exhibited a triplet signal as in the starting material, accounting for an insertion in the Si–P bond forming **XIII**. Since no SC–XRD could be achieved, theoretical investigations were carried out to calculate the optimized structure and confirm the proposed coordination (Scheme 43). The calculated optimized structure and the ²⁹Si and ³¹P NMR shifts agree with the proposed structure and the measured NMR data (calculated/measured: ²⁹Si $\delta = -50.2/-53.8$ ppm, ³¹P $\delta = -31.2/-23.1$ ppm).



Scheme 43 Reactivity of XIIa towards diphenylketene and DFT optimized product structure.

8.3 Outlook

Heavier nitriles

Since the catalytic application in hydroboration was successful, application in other catalytic processes like hydrosilylation could be tested as well. Furthermore, to yield a more pronounced E-P multiple bond character, different methods to abstract the NHC could be investigated. Additionally, theoretical calculations suggest a higher stability of a phosphasilyne $R-Si\equiv P$ using small electronegative R substituents.^[146] Therefore, a variety of, for instance, fluorinated substituents R could be applied.



Scheme 44 Resonance structures of heavier nitriles.

Despite the fact that the NHC provides stabilization, a free P=E triple bond is targeted. The coordinated NHC could be removed by treatment with a Lewis base like a borane to achieve the free triple bond compound **XIV**. Depending on the steric demand of the substituent on the tetrel, an oligomerization to form trimer **XVa** or cluster formation to form **XVb** is possible.



Scheme 45 Removal of the coordinated NHC and oligomerization/cluster formation.

Modification of the bisNHCP ligand

In the course of this thesis only the backbone of the NHC in the ligand was modified. However, several additional modifications are possible to vary the electronic as well as steric properties (Figure 15). For instance, a saturated NHC backbone could be introduced or different substituents on the NHC wingtips. Instead of mesityl, substituents like 2,6–diisopropylphenyl, *iso*–propyl, *tert*–butyl, methyl, or sterically more demanding groups like adamantyl or triphenylmethyl could be implemented. Additionally, different ligand backbones instead of ferrocene are possible (e.g., carborane, naphthalene). These modifications will change the steric and electronic properties and therefore could possibly give access to new structures.



Figure 15 Possible modifications of the bisNHCP ligand.

Expansion of bisNHCP Coordination Chemistry

The new bisNHCP ligands have already shown great potential in stabilizing Si(IV) as well as Sn(II) compounds. Preliminary results on expanding the chemistry towards Ge(II) revealed a complexation of Gel₂ while decomposition occurs with GeCl₂·dioxane and GeX₂ (X = Br, OTf) (Scheme 46). The germyliumylidene **XVI** was characterized by NMR and LIDFI–MS. The reactivity of this complex could, for instance, be examined towards small molecules, transmetallation, Ge(II) transfer, or catalytic applications.



Scheme 46 Reactivity of bisNHCP ligand towards Ge(II) precursors.

NHCPs have previously shown Lewis acidic properties. Therefore, the coordination to a Lewis acid like boranes or tricoordinate aluminum compounds seems possible (Scheme 47). These (frustrated) Lewis acid–base adducts could be used to activate small molecules like CO_2 and H_2 , or to catalyze polymerization as described for NHCP–AIMe₃ adducts.^[41, 147-148]



Scheme 47 Reactivity of bisNHCP towards boranes and aluminum substrates.

In the transmetalation reaction of stannyliumylidene **IX** the bisNHCP–supported CuCl complex **X** was synthesized. Motivated by the theoretical calculations proposing a possible coordination of two centers, the reactivity of the bisNHCP (with NHC = ^{Me}IMes) towards an excess of CuCl was investigated. First results revealed a broad upfield shifted ³¹P NMR signal at -85.57 ppm compared to the mono CuCl complex **X** (³¹P δ = -82.34 ppm). LIDFI–MS revealed the highest mass accounting for [**VIIIb**·Cu₅Cl₄]⁺ suggesting a cluster type compound formation. Additionally, different m/z values for various CuCl contents are shown in the LIFDI–MS spectra

(Figure 16) and compared to the calculated values (Table 2). Since a SC–XRD structure could not be measured, further research needs to be done to identify and characterize the product.



Figure 16 LIFDI-MS of excess CuCl product.

Table 2 Calculated and measured m/z for CuCl products.

	Calculated m/z	Measured m/z
[VIIIb·Cu₂Cl]⁺	1073.2218	1073.21084
[VIIIb·Cu ₂ Cl ₂]	1106.19247	1105.20628
[VIIIb·Cu ₃ Cl ₂]+	1171.12026	1171.1117
[VIIIb·Cu₄Cl ₃]+	1271.01576	1271.01292
[VIIIb ·Cu₅Cl₄]⁺	1368.91421	1368.90788

Apart from CuCl, the formation of different transition metal complexes can be attempted. Neutral monodentate NHCPs proofed to be suitable ligands in complexation of for instance two equivalents of AgCl, and AuCl, transition metal carbonyls (Cr(CO)₅, Mo(CO)₅, W(CO)₅, Fe(CO)₄), or ruthenium, osmium, iridium, and rhenium.^[31, 36, 39, 149-152] Analogue to the reactivity of the bisNHCP towards boranes and aluminum substrates in Scheme 47 a single or double/multiple coordination is possible. The different transition metal complexes could be examined for catalytic activity, small molecule activation or reduction.

To sum up, during this thesis the properties of the NHCP and bisNHCP ligands was investigated towards the coordination of group 14 elements. The potential of the ferrocene– bridged bisNHCP ligand has not yet been fully discovered and interesting follow–up chemistry could be performed.

9. Bibliography

- [1] R. P. Heaney, *Mayo Clin. Proc.* **2004**, 79, 91-97.
- [2] J. P. Bonjour, *J Am Coll Nutr* **2011**, *30*, 438s-448s.
- [3] M. E. Weeks, J. Chem. Educ. **1932**, 9, 11.
- [4] R. Beatty, *Phosphorus*, Marshall Cavendish, **2001**.
- [5] N. Mohamad Latiff, C. C. Mayorga-Martinez, Z. Sofer, A. C. Fisher, M. Pumera, *Appl. Mater. Today* **2018**, *13*, 310-319.
- [6] T. M. Trnka, R. H. Grubbs, Acc. Chem. Res. 2001, 34, 18-29.
- [7] R. Martin, S. L. Buchwald, Acc. Chem. Res. 2008, 41, 1461-1473.
- [8] J. A. Osborn, F. H. Jardine, J. F. Young, G. Wilkinson, J. Chem. Soc. A 1966, 1711-1732.
- [9] R. Noyori, T. Ohkuma, M. Kitamura, H. Takaya, N. Sayo, H. Kumobayashi, S. Akutagawa, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* **1987**, *109*, 5856-5858.
- [10] J. Bhattacharjee, D. Bockfeld, M. Tamm, J. Org. Chem. 2022, 87, 1098-1109.
- [11] W. A. Herrmann, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2002, 41, 1290-1309.
- [12] A. J. Arduengo, R. L. Harlow, M. Kline, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 361-363.
- [13] C. J. Carmalt, A. H. Cowley, **2000**.
- [14] N. Kuhn, A. Al-Sheikh, Coord. Chem. Rev. 2005, 249, 829-857.
- [15] C. E. Willans, *Non-transition metal N-heterocyclic carbene complexes, Vol. 36*, Royal Society of Chemistry: Cambridge, **2010**.
- [16] C. D. Martin, M. Soleilhavoup, G. Bertrand, *Chem. Sci*, **2013**, *4*, 3020-3030.
- [17] G. Prabusankar, A. Sathyanarayana, P. Suresh, C. N. Babu, K. Srinivas, B. P. R. Metla, *Coord. Chem. Rev.* **2014**, *269*, 96-133.
- [18] Y. Wang, G. H. Robinson, *Inorg. Chem.* **2014**, *53*, 11815-11832.
- [19] S. Würtemberger-Pietsch, U. Radius, T. B. Marder, *Dalton Trans.* **2016**, *45*, 5880-5895.
- [20] T. Hudnall, R. Ugarte, T. Perera, *N-Heterocyclic Carbenes: From Laboratory Curiosities to Efficient Synthetic Tools (2)*, The Royal Society of Chemistry, UK, **2017**.
- [21] V. Nesterov, D. Reiter, P. Bag, P. Frisch, R. Holzner, A. Porzelt, S. Inoue, *Chem. Rev.* 2018, *118*, 9678-9842.
- [22] I. A. J. Arduengo, D. H. V. Rasika, C. J. C., Chem. Lett. 1997, 26, 143-144.
- [23] A. J. Arduengo, J. C. Calabrese, A. H. Cowley, H. V. R. Dias, J. R. Goerlich, W. J. Marshall, B. Riegel, *Inorg. Chem.* **1997**, *36*, 2151-2158.
- [24] A. J. Arduengo lii, C. J. Carmalt, J. A. C. Clyburne, A. H. Cowley, R. Pyati, *Chem. Commun.* **1997**, 981-982.
- [25] T. Krachko, J. C. Slootweg, Eur. J. Inorg. Chem. 2018, 2018, 2734-2754.
- [26] G. Frison, A. Sevin, *Journal of the Chemical Society, Perkin Transactions 2* **2002**, 1692-1697.
- [27] K. Lammertsma, in New Aspects in Phosphorus Chemistry III (Ed.: J.-P. Majoral), Springer Berlin Heidelberg, Berlin, Heidelberg, 2003, pp. 95-119.
- [28] E. P. O. Fuchs, H. Heydt, M. Regitz, W. W. Schoeller, T. Busch, *Tetrahedron Lett.* 1989, *30*, 5111-5114.

- [29] J. E. Rodriguez Villanueva, M. A. Wiebe, G. G. Lavoie, *Organometallics* **2020**, *39*, 3260-3267.
- [30] O. Back, M. Henry-Ellinger, C. D. Martin, D. Martin, G. Bertrand, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 2939-2943.
- [31] V. A. K. Adiraju, M. Yousufuddin, H. V. Rasika Dias, *Dalton Trans.* **2015**, *44*, 4449-4454.
- [32] N. Hayakawa, K. Sadamori, S. Tsujimoto, M. Hatanaka, T. Wakabayashi, T. Matsuo, *Angew. Chem.* **2017**, *129*, 5859-5863.
- [33] H. Schneider, D. Schmidt, U. Radius, *Chem. Commun.* **2015**, *51*, 10138-10141.
- [34] M. Cicač-Hudi, J. Bender, S. H. Schlindwein, M. Bispinghoff, M. Nieger, H. Grützmacher, D. Gudat, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2016**, *2016*, 649-658.
- [35] A. M. Tondreau, Z. Benkő, J. R. Harmer, H. Grützmacher, Chem. Sci, 2014, 5, 1545-1554.
- [36] D. Bockfeld, A. Doddi, P. G. Jones, M. Tamm, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2016**, 2016, 3704-3713.
- [37] A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, T. Bannenberg, P. G. Jones, M. Tamm, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2014, 53, 13568-13572.
- [38] M. Bispinghoff, A. M. Tondreau, H. Grützmacher, C. A. Faradji, P. G. Pringle, *Dalton Trans.* **2016**, *45*, 5999-6003.
- [39] M. Peters, A. Doddi, T. Bannenberg, M. Freytag, P. G. Jones, M. Tamm, *Inorg. Chem.* 2017, 56, 10785-10793.
- [40] M. Peters, D. Bockfeld, M. Tamm, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **2022**, *2022*, e202200148.
- [41] J. Bhattacharjee, M. Peters, D. Bockfeld, M. Tamm, Chem. Eur. J. 2021, 27, 5913-5918.
- [42] T. J. Hadlington, A. Kostenko, M. Driess, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2021**, *27*, 2476-2482.
- [43] V. S. V. S. N. Swamy, S. Pal, S. Khan, S. S. Sen, *Dalton Trans.* 2015, 44, 12903-12923.
- [44] J. B. Lambert, S. Zhang, J. Chem. Soc, Chem. Commun. 1993, 383-384.
- [45] J. C. L. Walker, H. F. T. Klare, M. Oestreich, *Nature Rev. Chem.* **2020**, *4*, 54-62.
- [46] J. B. Lambert, S. Zhang, C. L. Stern, J. C. Huffman, *Science* **1993**, *260*, 1917-1918.
- [47] C. A. Reed, Z. Xie, R. Bau, A. Benesi, *Science* **1993**, *262*, 402-404.
- [48] J. Lambert, G. A. Olah, G. Rasul, X.-y. Li, H. A. Buchholz, G. Sandford, G. S. Prakash, *Science* **1994**, *263*, 983-984.
- [49] K.-C. Kim, C. A. Reed, D. W. Elliott, L. J. Mueller, F. Tham, L. Lin, J. B. Lambert, Science 2002, 297, 825-827.
- [50] A. Sekiguchi, T. Fukawa, V. Y. Lee, M. Nakamoto, M. Ichinohe, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2003**, *42*, 1143-1145.
- [51] J. B. Lambert, L. Lin, S. Keinan, T. Müller, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2003, 125, 6022-6023.
- [52] H. F. T. Klare, L. Albers, L. Süsse, S. Keess, T. Müller, M. Oestreich, *Chem. Rev.* 2021, 121, 5889-5985.
- [53] T. Müller, in *Functional Molecular Silicon Compounds I: Regular Oxidation States* (Ed.: D. Scheschkewitz), Springer International Publishing, Cham, **2014**, pp. 107-162.
- [54] A. Schulz, A. Villinger, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2012, 51, 4526-4528.

- [55] V. J. Scott, R. Çelenligil-Çetin, O. V. Ozerov, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2005, 127, 2852-2853.
- [56] C. Douvris, O. V. Ozerov, *Science* **2008**, *321*, 1188-1190.
- [57] Y. N. Lebedev, U. Das, O. Chernov, G. Schnakenburg, A. C. Filippou, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2014, *20*, 9280-9289.
- [58] A. Hermannsdorfer, D. W. Stephan, M. Driess, Chem. Commun. 2018, 54, 13523-13526.
- [59] S. Stigler, M. Park, A. Porzelt, A. Kostenko, D. Henschel, S. Inoue, *Organometallics* **2022**.
- [60] A. Hermannsdorfer, M. Driess, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2020, 59, 23132-23136.
- [61] U. Mayer, V. Gutmann, W. Gerger, *Monatshefte für Chemie / Chemical Monthly* **1975**, 106, 1235-1257.
- [62] M. A. Beckett, G. C. Strickland, J. R. Holland, K. Sukumar Varma, *Polymer* **1996**, *37*, 4629-4631.
- [63] Y. Mizuhata, T. Sasamori, N. Tokitoh, Chem. Rev. 2009, 109, 3479-3511.
- [64] G. Trinquier, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1990, 112, 2130-2137.
- [65] Michael F. Lappert, *Main Group Met. Chem.* **1994**, *17*, 183-208.
- [66] K. Izod, C. Wills, W. Clegg, R. W. Harrington, *Organometallics* **2009**, *28*, 5661-5668.
- [67] P. Jutzi, D. Kanne, C. Krüger, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 1986, 25, 164-164.
- [68] M. Denk, R. Lennon, R. Hayashi, R. West, A. V. Belyakov, H. P. Verne, A. Haaland, M. Wagner, N. Metzler, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1994, 116, 2691-2692.
- [69] B. D. Rekken, T. M. Brown, J. C. Fettinger, H. M. Tuononen, P. P. Power, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2012, 134, 6504-6507.
- [70] X.-X. Zhao, T. Szilvási, F. Hanusch, S. Inoue, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2021**, *27*, 15914-15917.
- [71] P. J. Davidson, M. F. Lappert, J. Chem. Soc, Chem. Commun. 1973, 317a-317a.
- [72] R. Holzner, D. Reiter, P. Frisch, S. Inoue, *RSC Advances* **2020**, *10*, 3402-3406.
- [73] W. A. Herrmann, M. Denk, J. Behm, W. Scherer, F.-R. Klingan, H. Bock, B. Solouki, M. Wagner, *Angew. Chem.* **1992**, *104*, 1489-1492.
- [74] C.-W. So, H. W. Roesky, J. Magull, R. B. Oswald, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2006, 45, 3948-3950.
- [75] M. Kira, S. Ishida, T. Iwamoto, C. Kabuto, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1999, 121, 9722-9723.
- [76] K. Mitsuo, I. Shintaro, I. Takeaki, I. Masaaki, K. Chizuko, I. Lubov, S. Hideki, *Chem. Lett.* **1999**, *28*, 263-264.
- [77] M. Kira, R. Yauchibara, R. Hirano, C. Kabuto, H. Sakurai, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1991, 113, 7785-7787.
- [78] S. P. Kolesnikov, I. S. Rogozhin, O. M. Nefedov, Bulletin of the Academy of Sciences of the USSR, Division of chemical science 1974, 23, 2297-2298.
- [79] R. S. Ghadwal, H. W. Roesky, S. Merkel, J. Henn, D. Stalke, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2009, 48, 5683-5686.
- [80] A. C. Filippou, O. Chernov, G. Schnakenburg, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2009, 48, 5687-5690.
- [81] A. C. Filippou, Y. N. Lebedev, O. Chernov, M. Straßmann, G. Schnakenburg, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2013**, *52*, 6974-6978.

- [82] D. Reiter, R. Holzner, A. Porzelt, P. Frisch, S. Inoue, *Nature Chem.* 2020, *12*, 1131-1135.
- [83] C. Ganesamoorthy, J. Schoening, C. Wölper, L. Song, P. R. Schreiner, S. Schulz, *Nature Chem.* **2020**, *12*, 608-614.
- [84] S. L. Powley, S. Inoue, *Chem. Rec.* **2019**, *19*, 2179-2188.
- [85] S. Biswas, N. Patel, R. Deb, M. Majumdar, *Chem. Rec.* **2022**, *22*, e202200003.
- [86] P. Jutzi, A. Mix, B. Rummel, W. W. Schoeller, B. Neumann, H.-G. Stammler, *Science* 2004, 305, 849-851.
- [87] P. Jutzi, F. Kohl, P. Hofmann, C. Krüger, Y. H. Tsay, *Chem. Ber.* **1980**, *113*, 757-769.
- [88] P. Jutzi, R. Dickbreder, H. Nöth, Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 865-870.
- [89] Y. Xiong, S. Yao, S. Inoue, E. Irran, M. Driess, *Angew. Chem.* **2012**, *124*, 10221-10224.
- [90] Y. Xiong, S. Yao, S. Inoue, A. Berkefeld, M. Driess, Chem. Commun. 2012, 48, 12198-12200.
- [91] M. Driess, S. Yao, M. Brym, C. van Wüllen, *Angew. Chem.* **2006**, *118*, 6882-6885.
- [92] M. J. Taylor, A. J. Saunders, M. P. Coles, J. R. Fulton, *Organometallics* **2011**, *30*, 1334-1339.
- [93] Y. Li, Y.-C. Chan, B.-X. Leong, Y. Li, E. Richards, I. Purushothaman, S. De, P. Parameswaran, C.-W. So, *Angew. Chem.* **2017**, *129*, 7681-7686.
- [94] F. Hanusch, D. Munz, J. Sutter, K. Meyer, S. Inoue, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2021**, *60*, 23274-23280.
- [95] F. S. Tschernuth, F. Hanusch, T. Szilvási, S. Inoue, *Organometallics* **2020**, *39*, 4265-4272.
- [96] S. V. Hirmer, F. S. Tschernuth, F. Hanusch, R. Baierl, M. Muhr, S. Inoue, *Mendeleev Commun.* **2022**, *32*, 16-18.
- [97] S. U. Ahmad, T. Szilvási, S. Inoue, *Chem. Commun.* **2014**, *50*, 12619-12622.
- [98] P. Frisch, S. Inoue, *Dalton Trans.* **2019**, *48*, 10403-10406.
- [99] N. Hayakawa, K. Sadamori, S. Mizutani, T. Agou, T. Sugahara, T. Sasamori, N. Tokitoh, D. Hashizume, T. Matsuo, *Inorganics* **2018**, *6*, 30.
- [100] D. Sarkar, C. Weetman, S. Dutta, E. Schubert, C. Jandl, D. Koley, S. Inoue, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2020, 142, 15403-15411.
- [101] C. P. Sindlinger, F. S. W. Aicher, L. Wesemann, Inorg. Chem. 2017, 56, 548-560.
- [102] Y. Xiong, S. Yao, S. Inoue, J. D. Epping, M. Driess, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 7147-7150.
- [103] Y. Xiong, S. Yao, G. Tan, S. Inoue, M. Driess, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2013, 135, 5004-5007.
- [104] H.-X. Yeong, H.-W. Xi, Y. Li, K. H. Lim, C.-W. So, Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 11786-11790.
- [105] P. Frisch, S. Inoue, *Dalton Trans.* **2020**, *49*, 6176-6182.
- [106] D. Sarkar, V. Nesterov, T. Szilvási, P. J. Altmann, S. Inoue, Chem. Eur. J. 2019, 25, 1198-1202.
- [107] A. Porzelt, J. I. Schweizer, R. Baierl, P. J. Altmann, M. C. Holthausen, S. Inoue, Inorganics 2018, 6, 54.
- [108] S. U. Ahmad, T. Szilvási, E. Irran, S. Inoue, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2015, 137, 5828-5836.

- [109] L. N. Lewis, J. Stein, Y. Gao, R. E. Colborn, G. Hutchins, *Platin. Met. Rev.* 1997, 41, 66-75.
- [110] K. Leszczyńska, A. Mix, R. J. F. Berger, B. Rummel, B. Neumann, H.-G. Stammler, P. Jutzi, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2011, 50, 6843-6846.
- [111] E. Fritz-Langhals, Org. Process Res. Dev. 2019, 23, 2369-2377.
- [112] A. Simonneau, M. Oestreich, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 11905-11907.
- [113] M. Rubin, T. Schwier, V. Gevorgyan, J. Org. Chem. 2002, 67, 1936-1940.
- [114] P. A. Rupar, V. N. Staroverov, P. J. Ragogna, K. M. Baines, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2007, 129, 15138-15139.
- [115] P. A. Rupar, V. N. Staroverov, K. M. Baines, Science 2008, 322, 1360-1363.
- [116] J. C. Avery, M. A. Hanson, R. H. Herber, K. J. Bladek, P. A. Rupar, I. Nowik, Y. Huang, K. M. Baines, *Inorg. Chem.* 2012, *51*, 7306-7316.
- [117] E. Hough, D. G. Nicholson, A. K. Vasudevan, J. Chem. Soc., Dalton Trans. 1989, 2155-2159.
- [118] M. G. Drew, D. G. Nicholson, I. Sylte, A. K. Vasudevan^o, Acta Chem. Scand. 1992, 46, 396-398.
- [119] P. A. Rupar, R. Bandyopadhyay, B. F. T. Cooper, M. R. Stinchcombe, P. J. Ragogna, C. L. B. Macdonald, K. M. Baines, *Angew. Chem.* 2009, *121*, 5257-5260.
- [120] R. Bandyopadhyay, B. F. T. Cooper, A. J. Rossini, R. W. Schurko, C. L. B. Macdonald, J. Organomet. Chem. 2010, 695, 1012-1018.
- [121] N. Takagi, T. Shimizu, G. Frenking, Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 8593-8604.
- [122] P. K. Majhi, T. Sasamori, Chem. Eur. J. 2018, 24, 9441-9455.
- [123] N. Wiberg, H.-W. Lerner, S.-K. Vasisht, S. Wagner, K. Karaghiosoff, H. Nöth, W. Ponikwar, *Eur. J. Inorg. Chem.* **1999**, 1999, 1211-1218.
- [124] S. Ishida, T. Iwamoto, C. Kabuto, M. Kira, *Nature* **2003**, *421*, 725-727.
- [125] T. Iwamoto, T. Abe, C. Kabuto, M. Kira, Chem. Commun. 2005, 5190-5192.
- [126] T. Iwamoto, H. Masuda, C. Kabuto, M. Kira, Organometallics 2005, 24, 197-199.
- [127] K. C. Mondal, H. W. Roesky, M. C. Schwarzer, G. Frenking, B. Niepötter, H. Wolf, R. Herbst-Irmer, D. Stalke, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2013, 52, 2963-2967.
- Y. Li, K. C. Mondal, H. W. Roesky, H. Zhu, P. Stollberg, R. Herbst-Irmer, D. Stalke, D. M. Andrada, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2013, *135*, 12422-12428.
- [129] T. Sugahara, T. Sasamori, N. Tokitoh, Angew. Chem. 2017, 129, 10052-10055.
- [130] T. Chu, L. Belding, A. van der Est, T. Dudding, I. Korobkov, G. I. Nikonov, *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* **2014**, *53*, 2711-2715.
- [131] J. Flock, A. Suljanovic, A. Torvisco, W. Schoefberger, B. Gerke, R. Pöttgen, R. C. Fischer, M. Flock, Chem. Eur. J. 2013, 19, 15504-15517.
- [132] Y. Wang, M. Karni, S. Yao, Y. Apeloig, M. Driess, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 1655-1664.
- [133] Y. Wang, M. Karni, S. Yao, A. Kaushansky, Y. Apeloig, M. Driess, *J. Am. Chem. Soc.* 2019, 141, 12916-12927.
- [134] J. Xu, C. Dai, S. Yao, J. Zhu, M. Driess, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2022, 61, e202114073.
- [135] J. Xu, S. Pan, S. Yao, G. Frenking, M. Driess, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2022, n/a.
- [136] N. Takagi, T. Shimizu, G. Frenking, Chem. Eur. J. 2009, 15, 3448-3456.

- [137] S. Sarmah, A. K. Guha, A. K. Phukan, A. Kumar, S. R. Gadre, *Dalton Trans.* 2013, 42, 13200-13209.
- [138] D. H. Harris, M. F. Lappert, J. Chem. Soc, Chem. Commun. 1974, 895-896.
- [139] T. Fjeldberg, P. B. Hitchcock, M. F. Lappert, S. J. Smith, A. J. Thorne, *J. Chem. Soc, Chem. Commun.* **1985**, 939-941.
- [140] T. Sakakura, J.-C. Choi, H. Yasuda, Chem. Rev. 2007, 107, 2365-2387.
- [141] R. Baierl, A. Kostenko, F. Hanusch, S. Inoue, *Dalton Trans.* 2021, 50, 14842-14848.
- [142] V. Nesterov, R. Baierl, F. Hanusch, A. E. Ferao, S. Inoue, J. Am. Chem. Soc. 2019, 141, 14576-14580.
- [143] D. Franz, E. Irran, S. Inoue, Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. 2014, 53, 14264-14268.
- [144] D. Franz, T. Szilvási, A. Pöthig, F. Deiser, S. Inoue, *Chem. Eur. J.* **2018**, *24*, 4283-4288.
- [145] R. Baierl, A. Kostenko, F. Hanusch, A. D. Beck, S. Inoue, *Eur. J. Org. Chem.*, *n*/a, e202201072.
- [146] C.-H. Lai, M.-D. Su, S.-Y. Chu, Inorg. Chem. 2002, 41, 1320-1322.
- [147] M. Pu, T. Privalov, Inorg. Chem. 2014, 53, 4598-4609.
- [148] R. C. Neu, E. Y. Ouyang, S. J. Geier, X. Zhao, A. Ramos, D. W. Stephan, *Dalton Trans.* 2010, 39, 4285-4294.
- [149] A. Doddi, D. Bockfeld, A. Nasr, T. Bannenberg, P. G. Jones, M. Tamm, *Chem. Eur. J.* 2015, *21*, 16178-16189.
- [150] M. Bispinghoff, H. Grützmacher, *CHIMIA International Journal for Chemistry* **2016**, *70*, 279-283.
- [151] O. Lemp, C. von Hänisch, *Phosphorus Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.* **2016**, *191*, 659-661.
- [152] L. L. Liu, D. A. Ruiz, F. Dahcheh, G. Bertrand, Chem. Commun. 2015, 51, 12732-12735.

10. Appendix

10.1 License for Chapter 5

Rightslink® by Copyright Clearance Center

https://s100.copyright.com/AppDispatchServlet

atsl ink	Home	r Help 🗸	Live Chat	Sign in	Create Account
	N-Heterocyclic Carbene-S Analogues of Heavier Nitr Application	tabilized iles: Synt	Germaniu hesis, Rea	m and Ti ctivity, a	n nd Catalytic
ACS Publications	Author: Vitaly Nesterov, Ramona E	Baierl, Franzi	iska Hanusch,	et al	
Most Trusted. Most Cited. Most Read.	Publication: Journal of the America	an Chemical	Society		
	Publisher: American Chemical Soc	iety			
	Date: Sep 1, 2019				
	Copyright © 2019. American Chemical S	ociety			
ERMISSION/LICENSE IS his type of permission/licen- harged for your order. Pleas Permission is granted for yo	GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT se, instead of the standard Terms an se note the following:	T NO CHAF nd Condition	RGE s, is sent to yo	ou because	no fee is being
ERMISSION/LICENSE IS his type of permission/licen- harged for your order. Pleas Permission is granted for you f figures and/or tables were please print this page for you appropriate credit for the re OMPLETE REFERENCE CITA ace of the capitalized word Dne-time permission is gran uch as derivative works or or	GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT se, instead of the standard Terms ar se note the following: bur request in both print and electroi e requested, they may be adapted or fur records and send a copy of it to y equested material should be given as TION}. Copyright {YEAR} American C s. ted only for the use specified in you other editions). For any uses, please	T NO CHAF nd Condition ric formats, r used in par our publish s follows: "R hemical Soc ur RightsLink submit a ne	RGE s, is sent to yo t. er/graduate si eprinted (adaj iety." Insert ap request. No a w request.	ou because ons. chool. pted) with p opropriate additional u	no fee is being permission from information in
ERMISSION/LICENSE IS is type of permission/licen- larged for your order. Pleas Permission is granted for you f figures and/or tables were Please print this page for you papropriate credit for the re OMPLETE REFERENCE CITA ace of the capitalized word Dne-time permission is gran uch as derivative works or or credit is given to another so om that source.	GRANTED FOR YOUR ORDER AT se, instead of the standard Terms ar se note the following: bur request in both print and electroi e requested, they may be adapted or fur records and send a copy of it to y equested material should be given as TION). Copyright (YEAR) American C s. ted only for the use specified in you other editions). For any uses, please bource for the material you requested	I NO CHAR ad Condition r used in par our publishs follows: "R hemical Soc ar RightsLink submit a net	RGE s, is sent to yo t. er/graduate si er/graduate si er/graduate si er/graduate si er/graduate si advantation er/graduate si iety." Insert ap request. No a w request. SLink, permiss	ou because ons. chool. pted) with p ppropriate additional u ion must b	no fee is being permission from information in uses are granted e obtained

© 2022 Copyright - All Rights Reserved | Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. | Privacy statement | Data Security and Privacy | For California Residents | Terms and ConditionsComments? We would like to hear from you. E-mail us at customercare@copyright.com

License for Chapter 6 10.2

Baierl, Ramona

Von:	CONTRACTS-COPYRIGHT (shared) <contracts-copyright@rsc.org></contracts-copyright@rsc.org>
Gesendet:	Donnerstag, 30. Juni 2022 16:37
An:	Baierl, Ramona
Betreff:	RE: Permission to use in dissertation/thesis
Anlagen:	ag-gc-permission-request-form-for-rsc-material.pdf

Application of ferrocene-bridged N-heterocyclic carbene stabilised bis-phosphinidenes in Sn(ii) complexation -Dalton Transactions (RSC Publishing) https://doi.org/10.1039/D1DT03016G

The Royal Society of Chemistry (RSC) hereby grants permission for the use of your paper(s) specified above in the printed and microfilm version of your thesis. You may also make available the PDF version of your paper(s) that the RSC sent to the corresponding author(s) of your paper(s) upon publication of the paper(s) in the following ways: in your thesis via any website that your university may have for the deposition of theses, via your university's Intranet or via your own personal website. We are however unable to grant you permission to include the PDF version of the paper(s) on its own in your institutional repository. The Royal Society of Chemistry is a signatory to the STM Guidelines on Permissions (available on request).

Please note that if the material specified below or any part of it appears with credit or acknowledgement to a third party then you must also secure permission from that third party before reproducing that material.

Please ensure that the thesis includes the correct acknowledgement (see http://rsc.li/permissions for details) and a link is included to the paper on the Royal Society of Chemistry's website.

Please also ensure that your co-authors are aware that you are including the paper in your thesis.

Kind regards,

Matthew

Matthew Bailey Licensing and Access Manager Royal Society of Chemistry Thomas Graham House Science Park, Milton Road Cambridge, CB4 0WF, UK www.rsc.org

10.3 License for Chapter 7

CC Marketplace

This is a License Agreement between Ramona Baierl ("User") and Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC") on behalf of the Rightsholder identified in the order details below. The license consists of the order details, the Marketplace Order General Terms and Conditions below, and any Rightsholder Terms and Conditions which are included below. All payments must be made in full to CCC in accordance with the Marketplace Order General Terms and Conditions below.

Order Date Order License ID ISSN	16-Nov-2022 1290484-1 1099-0690	Type of Use Publisher Portion	Republish in a thesis/dissertation WILEY - V C H VERLAG GMBH & CO. KGAA Chapter/article
LICENSED CONTENT			
Publication Title Article Title	European journal of organic chemistry Synthesis and Reactivity of	Country	United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland
	Bidentate N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene	Rightsholder Publication Type	John Wiley & Sons - Books e-lournal
	Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes	URL	http://www2.lib.udel.edu
Author/Editor	Gesellschaft Deutscher Chemiker., Koninklijke Nederlandse Chemische Vereniging., Koninklijke Vlaamse Chemische Vereniging., Société royale de chimie (Belgium), Società chimica italiana., Société française de chimie., ChemPubSoc Europe.		/Acq/terms/wileyintro.ntm
Date	01/01/1998		
Language	English		

REQUEST DETAILS

Portion Type	Chapter/article	Rights Requested	Main product
Page Range(s)	1-8	Distribution	Worldwide
Total Number of Pages	8	Translation	Original language of
Format (select all that	Print, Electronic		publication
apply)		Copies for the Disabled?	No
Who Will Republish the	Author of requested	Minor Editing Privileges?	No
Content?	content	Incidental Promotional	No
Duration of Use	Life of current edition	Use?	
Lifetime Unit Quantity	Up to 499	Currency	USD

NEW WORK DETAILS

Title	Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes	Institution Name Expected Presentation Date	TU Munich 2022-12-01
Instructor Name	Ramona Baierl		

ADDITIONAL DETAILS

The Requesting	Ramona Baierl
Person/Organization to	
Appear on the License	

REUSE CONTENT DETAILS

Title, Description or Numeric Reference of the Portion(s)	Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes	Title of the Article/Chapter the Portion Is From	Synthesis and Reactivity of Bidentate N-Heterocyclic Carbene-Phosphinidene Supported Si(IV) Dicationic Complexes
Editor of Portion(s)	Baierl, Ramona; Kostenko, Arseni; Hanusch, Franziska; Beck, Alexander D.; Inoue, Shigeyoshi	Author of Portion(s)	Baierl, Ramona; Kostenko, Arseni; Hanusch, Franziska; Beck, Alexander D.; Inoue, Shigeyoshi
Volume of Serial or Monograph	10.1002/ejoc.202201072	Publication Date of Portion	2022-11-03
Page or Page Range of Portion	1-8		

RIGHTSHOLDER TERMS AND CONDITIONS

No right, license or interest to any trademark, trade name, service mark or other branding ("Marks") of WILEY or its licensors is granted hereunder, and you agree that you shall not assert any such right, license or interest with respect thereto. You may not alter, remove or suppress in any manner any copyright, trademark or other notices displayed by the Wiley material. This Agreement will be void if the Type of Use, Format, Circulation, or Requestor Type was misrepresented during the licensing process. In no instance may the total amount of Wiley Materials used in any Main Product, Compilation or Collective work comprise more than 5% (if figures/tables) or 15% (if full articles/chapters) of the (entirety of the) Main Product, Compilation or Collective Work. Some titles may be available under an Open Access license. It is the Licensors' responsibility to identify the type of Open Access license on which the requested material was published, and comply fully with the terms of that license for the type of use specified Further details can be found on Wiley Online Library http://olabout.wiley.com/WileyCDA/Section/id-410895.html.

Marketplace Order General Terms and Conditions

The following terms and conditions ("General Terms"), together with any applicable Publisher Terms and Conditions, govern User's use of Works pursuant to the Licenses granted by Copyright Clearance Center, Inc. ("CCC") on behalf of the applicable Rightsholders of such Works through CCC's applicable Marketplace transactional licensing services (each, a "Service").

1) Definitions. For purposes of these General Terms, the following definitions apply:

"License" is the licensed use the User obtains via the Marketplace platform in a particular licensing transaction, as set forth in the Order Confirmation.

"Order Confirmation" is the confirmation CCC provides to the User at the conclusion of each Marketplace transaction. "Order Confirmation Terms" are additional terms set forth on specific Order Confirmations not set forth in the General Terms that can include terms applicable to a particular CCC transactional licensing service and/or any Rightsholder-specific terms.

"Rightsholder(s)" are the holders of copyright rights in the Works for which a User obtains licenses via the Marketplace platform, which are displayed on specific Order Confirmations.

"Terms" means the terms and conditions set forth in these General Terms and any additional Order Confirmation Terms collectively.

"User" or "you" is the person or entity making the use granted under the relevant License. Where the person accepting the Terms on behalf of a User is a freelancer or other third party who the User authorized to accept the General Terms on the User's behalf, such person shall be deemed jointly a User for purposes of such Terms.

"Work(s)" are the copyright protected works described in relevant Order Confirmations.

2) Description of Service. CCC's Marketplace enables Users to obtain Licenses to use one or more Works in accordance

with all relevant Terms. CCC grants Licenses as an agent on behalf of the copyright rightsholder identified in the relevant Order Confirmation.

3) **Applicability of Terms.** The Terms govern User's use of Works in connection with the relevant License. In the event of any conflict between General Terms and Order Confirmation Terms, the latter shall govern. User acknowledges that Rightsholders have complete discretion whether to grant any permission, and whether to place any limitations on any grant, and that CCC has no right to supersede or to modify any such discretionary act by a Rightsholder.

4) **Representations; Acceptance.** By using the Service, User represents and warrants that User has been duly authorized by the User to accept, and hereby does accept, all Terms.

5) Scope of License; Limitations and Obligations. All Works and all rights therein, including copyright rights, remain the sole and exclusive property of the Rightsholder. The License provides only those rights expressly set forth in the terms and conveys no other rights in any Works

6) General Payment Terms. User may pay at time of checkout by credit card or choose to be invoiced. If the User chooses to be invoiced, the User shall: (i) remit payments in the manner identified on specific invoices, (ii) unless otherwise specifically stated in an Order Confirmation or separate written agreement, Users shall remit payments upon receipt of the relevant invoice from CCC, either by delivery or notification of availability of the invoice via the Marketplace platform, and (iii) if the User does not pay the invoice within 30 days of receipt, the User may incur a service charge of 1.5% per month or the maximum rate allowed by applicable law, whichever is less. While User may exercise the rights in the License immediately upon receiving the Order Confirmation, the License is automatically revoked and is null and void, as if it had never been issued, if CCC does not receive complete payment on a timely basis.

7) General Limits on Use. Unless otherwise provided in the Order Confirmation, any grant of rights to User (i) involves only the rights set forth in the Terms and does not include subsequent or additional uses, (ii) is non-exclusive and non-transferable, and (iii) is subject to any and all limitations and restrictions (such as, but not limited to, limitations on duration of use or circulation) included in the Terms. Upon completion of the licensed use as set forth in the Order Confirmation, User shall either secure a new permission for further use of the Work(s) or immediately cease any new use of the Work(s) and shall render inaccessible (such as by deleting or by removing or severing links or other locators) any further copies of the Work. User may only make alterations to the Work if and as expressly set forth in the Order Confirmation. No Work may be used in any way that is defamatory, violates the rights of third parties (including such third parties' rights of copyright, privacy, publicity, or other tangible or intangible property), or is otherwise illegal, sexually explicit, or obscene. In addition, User may not conjoin a Work with any other material that may result in damage to the reputation of the Rightsholder. User agrees to inform CCC if it becomes aware of any infringement of any rights in a Work and to cooperate with any reasonable request of CCC or the Rightsholder in connection therewith.

8) Third Party Materials. In the event that the material for which a License is sought includes third party materials (such as photographs, illustrations, graphs, inserts and similar materials) that are identified in such material as having been used by permission (or a similar indicator), User is responsible for identifying, and seeking separate licenses (under this Service, if available, or otherwise) for any of such third party materials; without a separate license, User may not use such third party materials via the License.

9) **Copyright Notice**. Use of proper copyright notice for a Work is required as a condition of any License granted under the Service. Unless otherwise provided in the Order Confirmation, a proper copyright notice will read substantially as follows: "Used with permission of [Rightsholder's name], from [Work's title, author, volume, edition number and year of copyright]; permission conveyed through Copyright Clearance Center, Inc." Such notice must be provided in a reasonably legible font size and must be placed either on a cover page or in another location that any person, upon gaining access to the material which is the subject of a permission, shall see, or in the case of republication Licenses, immediately adjacent to the Work as used (for example, as part of a by-line or footnote) or in the place where substantially all other credits or notices for the new work containing the republished Work are located. Failure to include the required notice results in loss to the Rightsholder and CCC, and the User shall be liable to pay liquidated damages for each such failure equal to twice the use fee specified in the Order Confirmation, in addition to the use fee itself and any other fees and charges specified.

10) **Indemnity.** User hereby indemnifies and agrees to defend the Rightsholder and CCC, and their respective employees and directors, against all claims, liability, damages, costs, and expenses, including legal fees and expenses, arising out of any use of a Work beyond the scope of the rights granted herein and in the Order Confirmation, or any use of a Work which has been altered in any unauthorized way by User, including claims of defamation or infringement of rights of copyright, publicity, privacy, or other tangible or intangible property.

11) Limitation of Liability. UNDER NO CIRCUMSTANCES WILL CCC OR THE RIGHTSHOLDER BE LIABLE FOR ANY DIRECT, INDIRECT, CONSEQUENTIAL, OR INCIDENTAL DAMAGES (INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION DAMAGES FOR LOSS OF BUSINESS PROFITS OR INFORMATION, OR FOR BUSINESS INTERRUPTION) ARISING OUT OF THE USE OR INABILITY TO USE A WORK, EVEN IF ONE OR BOTH OF THEM HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. In any event, the total liability of the Rightsholder and CCC (including their respective employees and directors) shall not exceed the total amount actually paid by User for the relevant License. User assumes full liability for the actions and omissions of its principals, employees, agents, affiliates, successors, and assigns.

12) Limited Warranties. THE WORK(S) AND RIGHT(S) ARE PROVIDED "AS IS." CCC HAS THE RIGHT TO GRANT TO USER THE RIGHTS GRANTED IN THE ORDER CONFIRMATION DOCUMENT. CCC AND THE RIGHTSHOLDER DISCLAIM ALL OTHER WARRANTIES RELATING TO THE WORK(S) AND RIGHT(S), EITHER EXPRESS OR IMPLIED, INCLUDING WITHOUT LIMITATION IMPLIED WARRANTIES OF MERCHANTABILITY OR FITNESS FOR A PARTICULAR PURPOSE. ADDITIONAL RIGHTS MAY BE REQUIRED TO USE ILLUSTRATIONS, GRAPHS, PHOTOGRAPHS, ABSTRACTS, INSERTS, OR OTHER PORTIONS OF THE WORK (AS OPPOSED TO THE ENTIRE WORK) IN A MANNER CONTEMPLATED BY USER; USER UNDERSTANDS AND AGREES THAT NEITHER CCC NOR THE RIGHTSHOLDER MAY HAVE SUCH ADDITIONAL RIGHTS TO GRANT.

13) Effect of Breach. Any failure by User to pay any amount when due, or any use by User of a Work beyond the scope of the License set forth in the Order Confirmation and/or the Terms, shall be a material breach of such License. Any breach not cured within 10 days of written notice thereof shall result in immediate termination of such License without further notice. Any unauthorized (but licensable) use of a Work that is terminated immediately upon notice thereof may be liquidated by payment of the Rightsholder's ordinary license price therefor; any unauthorized (and unlicensable) use that is not terminated immediately for any reason (including, for example, because materials containing the Work cannot reasonably be recalled) will be subject to all remedies available at law or in equity, but in no event to a payment of less than three times the Rightsholder's ordinary license price for the most closely analogous licensable use plus Rightsholder's and/or CCC's costs and expenses incurred in collecting such payment.

14) Additional Terms for Specific Products and Services. If a User is making one of the uses described in this Section 14, the additional terms and conditions apply:

a) *Print Uses of Academic Course Content and Materials (photocopies for academic coursepacks or classroom handouts)*. For photocopies for academic coursepacks or classroom handouts the following additional terms apply:

i) The copies and anthologies created under this License may be made and assembled by faculty members individually or at their request by on-campus bookstores or copy centers, or by off-campus copy shops and other similar entities.

ii) No License granted shall in any way: (i) include any right by User to create a substantively non-identical copy of the Work or to edit or in any other way modify the Work (except by means of deleting material immediately preceding or following the entire portion of the Work copied) (ii) permit "publishing ventures" where any particular anthology would be systematically marketed at multiple institutions.

iii) Subject to any Publisher Terms (and notwithstanding any apparent contradiction in the Order Confirmation arising from data provided by User), any use authorized under the academic pay-per-use service is limited as follows:

A) any License granted shall apply to only one class (bearing a unique identifier as assigned by the institution, and thereby including all sections or other subparts of the class) at one institution;

B) use is limited to not more than 25% of the text of a book or of the items in a published collection of essays, poems or articles;

C) use is limited to no more than the greater of (a) 25% of the text of an issue of a journal or other periodical or (b) two articles from such an issue;

D) no User may sell or distribute any particular anthology, whether photocopied or electronic, at more than one institution of learning;

E) in the case of a photocopy permission, no materials may be entered into electronic memory by User except in order to produce an identical copy of a Work before or during the academic term (or analogous period) as to which any particular permission is granted. In the event that User shall choose to retain materials that are the subject of a photocopy permission in electronic memory for purposes of producing identical copies more than one day after such retention (but still within the scope of any permission granted), User must notify CCC of such fact in the applicable permission request and such retention shall constitute one copy actually sold for purposes of calculating permission fees due; and

F) any permission granted shall expire at the end of the class. No permission granted shall in any way include any right by User to create a substantively non-identical copy of the Work or to edit or in any other way modify the Work (except by means of deleting material immediately preceding or following the entire portion of the Work copied).

iv) Books and Records; Right to Audit. As to each permission granted under the academic pay-per-use Service, User shall maintain for at least four full calendar years books and records sufficient for CCC to determine the numbers of copies made by User under such permission. CCC and any representatives it may designate shall have the right to audit such books and records at any time during User's ordinary business hours, upon two days' prior notice. If any such audit shall determine that User shall have underpaid for, or underreported, any photocopies sold or by three percent (3%) or more, then User shall bear all the costs of any such audit; otherwise, CCC shall bear the costs

of any such audit. Any amount determined by such audit to have been underpaid by User shall immediately be paid to CCC by User, together with interest thereon at the rate of 10% per annum from the date such amount was originally due. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the termination of this License for any reason.

b) *Digital Pay-Per-Uses of Academic Course Content and Materials (e-coursepacks, electronic reserves, learning management systems, academic institution intranets).* For uses in e-coursepacks, posts in electronic reserves, posts in learning management systems, or posts on academic institution intranets, the following additional terms apply:

i) The pay-per-uses subject to this Section 14(b) include:

A) **Posting e-reserves, course management systems, e-coursepacks for text-based content**, which grants authorizations to import requested material in electronic format, and allows electronic access to this material to members of a designated college or university class, under the direction of an instructor designated by the college or university, accessible only under appropriate electronic controls (e.g., password);

B) Posting e-reserves, course management systems, e-coursepacks for material consisting of photographs or other still images not embedded in text, which grants not only the authorizations described in Section 14(b)(i)(A) above, but also the following authorization: to include the requested material in course materials for use consistent with Section 14(b)(i)(A) above, including any necessary resizing, reformatting or modification of the resolution of such requested material (provided that such modification does not alter the underlying editorial content or meaning of the requested material, and provided that the resulting modified content is used solely within the scope of, and in a manner consistent with, the particular authorization described in the Order Confirmation and the Terms), but not including any other form of manipulation, alteration or editing of the requested material;

C) Posting e-reserves, course management systems, e-coursepacks or other academic distribution for audiovisual content, which grants not only the authorizations described in Section 14(b)(i)(A) above, but also the following authorizations: (i) to include the requested material in course materials for use consistent with Section 14(b)(i)(A) above; (ii) to display and perform the requested material to such members of such class in the physical classroom or remotely by means of streaming media or other video formats; and (iii) to "clip" or reformat the requested material for purposes of time or content management or ease of delivery, provided that such "clipping" or reformatting does not alter the underlying editorial content or meaning of the requested material and that the resulting material is used solely within the scope of, and in a manner consistent with, the particular authorization described in the Order Confirmation and the Terms. Unless expressly set forth in the relevant Order Conformation, the License does not authorize any other form of manipulation, alteration or editing of the requested material.

ii) Unless expressly set forth in the relevant Order Confirmation, no License granted shall in any way: (i) include any right by User to create a substantively non-identical copy of the Work or to edit or in any other way modify the Work (except by means of deleting material immediately preceding or following the entire portion of the Work copied or, in the case of Works subject to Sections 14(b)(1)(B) or (C) above, as described in such Sections) (ii) permit "publishing ventures" where any particular course materials would be systematically marketed at multiple institutions.

iii) Subject to any further limitations determined in the Rightsholder Terms (and notwithstanding any apparent contradiction in the Order Confirmation arising from data provided by User), any use authorized under the electronic course content pay-per-use service is limited as follows:

A) any License granted shall apply to only one class (bearing a unique identifier as assigned by the institution, and thereby including all sections or other subparts of the class) at one institution;

B) use is limited to not more than 25% of the text of a book or of the items in a published collection of essays, poems or articles;

C) use is limited to not more than the greater of (a) 25% of the text of an issue of a journal or other periodical or (b) two articles from such an issue;

D) no User may sell or distribute any particular materials, whether photocopied or electronic, at more than one institution of learning;

E) electronic access to material which is the subject of an electronic-use permission must be limited by means of electronic password, student identification or other control permitting access solely to students and instructors in the class;

F) User must ensure (through use of an electronic cover page or other appropriate means) that any person, upon gaining electronic access to the material, which is the subject of a permission, shall see:

• a proper copyright notice, identifying the Rightsholder in whose name CCC has granted permission,

- $\circ\,$ a statement to the effect that such copy was made pursuant to permission,
- a statement identifying the class to which the material applies and notifying the reader that the material has been made available electronically solely for use in the class, and
- a statement to the effect that the material may not be further distributed to any person outside the class, whether by copying or by transmission and whether electronically or in paper form, and User must also ensure that such cover page or other means will print out in the event that the person accessing the material chooses to print out the material or any part thereof.

G) any permission granted shall expire at the end of the class and, absent some other form of authorization, User is thereupon required to delete the applicable material from any electronic storage or to block electronic access to the applicable material.

iv) Uses of separate portions of a Work, even if they are to be included in the same course material or the same university or college class, require separate permissions under the electronic course content pay-per-use Service. Unless otherwise provided in the Order Confirmation, any grant of rights to User is limited to use completed no later than the end of the academic term (or analogous period) as to which any particular permission is granted.

v) Books and Records; Right to Audit. As to each permission granted under the electronic course content Service, User shall maintain for at least four full calendar years books and records sufficient for CCC to determine the numbers of copies made by User under such permission. CCC and any representatives it may designate shall have the right to audit such books and records at any time during User's ordinary business hours, upon two days' prior notice. If any such audit shall determine that User shall have underpaid for, or underreported, any electronic copies used by three percent (3%) or more, then User shall bear all the costs of any such audit; otherwise, CCC shall bear the costs of any such audit. Any amount determined by such audit to have been underpaid by User shall immediately be paid to CCC by User, together with interest thereon at the rate of 10% per annum from the date such amount was originally due. The provisions of this paragraph shall survive the termination of this license for any reason.

c) Pay-Per-Use Permissions for Certain Reproductions (Academic photocopies for library reserves and interlibrary loan reporting) (Non-academic internal/external business uses and commercial document delivery). The License expressly excludes the uses listed in Section (c)(i)-(v) below (which must be subject to separate license from the applicable Rightsholder) for: academic photocopies for library reserves and interlibrary loan reporting; and non-academic internal/external business uses and commercial document delivery.

i) electronic storage of any reproduction (whether in plain-text, PDF, or any other format) other than on a transitory basis;

ii) the input of Works or reproductions thereof into any computerized database;

iii) reproduction of an entire Work (cover-to-cover copying) except where the Work is a single article;

iv) reproduction for resale to anyone other than a specific customer of User;

v) republication in any different form. Please obtain authorizations for these uses through other CCC services or directly from the rightsholder.

Any license granted is further limited as set forth in any restrictions included in the Order Confirmation and/or in these Terms.

d) *Electronic Reproductions in Online Environments (Non-Academic-email, intranet, internet and extranet).* For "electronic reproductions", which generally includes e-mail use (including instant messaging or other electronic transmission to a defined group of recipients) or posting on an intranet, extranet or Intranet site (including any display or performance incidental thereto), the following additional terms apply:

i) Unless otherwise set forth in the Order Confirmation, the License is limited to use completed within 30 days for any use on the Internet, 60 days for any use on an intranet or extranet and one year for any other use, all as measured from the "republication date" as identified in the Order Confirmation, if any, and otherwise from the date of the Order Confirmation.

ii) User may not make or permit any alterations to the Work, unless expressly set forth in the Order Confirmation (after request by User and approval by Rightsholder); provided, however, that a Work consisting of photographs or other still images not embedded in text may, if necessary, be resized, reformatted or have its resolution modified without additional express permission, and a Work consisting of audiovisual content may, if necessary, be "clipped" or reformatted for purposes of time or content management or ease of delivery (provided that any such resizing, reformatting, resolution modification or "clipping" does not alter the underlying editorial content or meaning of the Work used, and that the resulting material is used solely within the scope of, and in a manner consistent with, the particular License described in the Order Confirmation and the Terms.

15) Miscellaneous.

a) User acknowledges that CCC may, from time to time, make changes or additions to the Service or to the Terms, and that Rightsholder may make changes or additions to the Rightsholder Terms. Such updated Terms will replace the prior terms and conditions in the order workflow and shall be effective as to any subsequent Licenses but shall not apply to Licenses already granted and paid for under a prior set of terms.

b) Use of User-related information collected through the Service is governed by CCC's privacy policy, available online at www.copyright.com/about/privacy-policy/.

c) The License is personal to User. Therefore, User may not assign or transfer to any other person (whether a natural person or an organization of any kind) the License or any rights granted thereunder; provided, however, that, where applicable, User may assign such License in its entirety on written notice to CCC in the event of a transfer of all or substantially all of User's rights in any new material which includes the Work(s) licensed under this Service.

d) No amendment or waiver of any Terms is binding unless set forth in writing and signed by the appropriate parties, including, where applicable, the Rightsholder. The Rightsholder and CCC hereby object to any terms contained in any writing prepared by or on behalf of the User or its principals, employees, agents or affiliates and purporting to govern or otherwise relate to the License described in the Order Confirmation, which terms are in any way inconsistent with any Terms set forth in the Order Confirmation, and/or in CCC's standard operating procedures, whether such writing is prepared prior to, simultaneously with or subsequent to the Order Confirmation, and whether such writing appears on a copy of the Order Confirmation or in a separate instrument.

e) The License described in the Order Confirmation shall be governed by and construed under the law of the State of New York, USA, without regard to the principles thereof of conflicts of law. Any case, controversy, suit, action, or proceeding arising out of, in connection with, or related to such License shall be brought, at CCC's sole discretion, in any federal or state court located in the County of New York, State of New York, USA, or in any federal or state court whose geographical jurisdiction covers the location of the Rightsholder set forth in the Order Confirmation. The parties expressly submit to the personal jurisdiction and venue of each such federal or state court.